UP2YOUTH Youth - actor of social change

Project no. 028317

Project acronym: UP2YOUTH

Project title: Youth – Actor of Social Change Coordinated Action, Priority: Citizens and Governance in a Knowledge-Based Society



D32: Final Report

Due date of deliverable: 15 July 2009

Actual submission date: 15 July 2009

Duration: 36 months Start date of project: 1 May 2006

Organisation name of lead contractor for this deliverable: IRIS e.V.

Authors of the report: Andreas Walther, Barbara Stauber and Axel Pohl

Proj	Project co-funded by the European Commission within the Sixth Framework Programme (2002-2006)							
	Dissemination Level							
PU	Public	X						
PP	Restricted to other programme participants (including the Commission Services)							
RE	Restricted to a group specified by the consortium (including the Commission Services)							
СО	Confidential, only for members of the consortium (including the Commission Services)							



Contents

1.	Introduction	5
	1.1 Objectives	5
	1.2 Methodological procedure of UP2YOUTH	12
	Overview over the report	14
2.	The comparative perspective: the model of transition regimes	15
	Transitions into parenthood in comparative perspective	21
	Transitions to work of young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background	28
	Youth participation in comparative perspective	35
3.	Youth and social change	42
4.	Agency in a biographical perspective	49
	Theoretical dimensions of agency	52
	The meaning of agency	52
	Intentionality of agency	56
	Temporality, routine, reflexivity and creativity:	59
	Structure and agency: power and resources, contextualisation and structuration	61
5.	Young people's agency and changes in family, work and citizenship	67
	5.1 Agency in transitions into parenthood	68
	Range of different actions and activities	68
	Influence of social contexts	70
	De-standardised transitions and their influence on young people's agency?	72
	Development of young people's agency in temporal perspective	73
	Meaning-making in transitions to parenthood	74
	Learning and agency in transitions to parenthood	75



How can transitions into parenthood be regarded as agency?	5
Agency and structuration with regard to parenthood	7
5.2 Agency in young people's participation	8
Range of different actions and activities with regard to participation7	9
Influence of social contexts on participatory actions and choices	1
Interdependency of transitions	5
The emergence of participatory action as temporal structure of decision-making 8	6
How do young people give meaning to situations?	7
Young people's learning processes with regard to participation	8
How can participation be regarded as agency?9	0
How can agency influence structure? 9	1
5.3 Agency in transitions to work of migrant and ethnic minority youth9	2
Range of actions9	3
Structural influence on actions and choices	5
Interdependence of transitions	7
Temporality of agency9	8
How do young people give meaning to situations?9	9
Young people's learning processes with regard to their transitions to work	0
How can transitions to work be regarded as agency and how can agency influence structure?	
6. Conclusions	2
6.1 Summary: young people's agency revisited	2
6.2 Agency and changes in family, work and citizenship – or: doing social integration differently?	
6.3 A paradigmatic turn towards agentic youth and transition research – or from freeze frames to moving pictures	
6.4 Implications of 'doing social integration' for youth and transition policies	9



	6.5 Break-down to the three UP2YOUTH sub-themes	121
	Transitions to Parenthood	121
	Quality criteria in transitions to work policies	123
	Quality criteria in participation policies	125
	References	129
6.	Annex: Dissemination and use	150



1. Introduction

1.1 Objectives

In fact, I didn't have any choice ... and at a certain point you do not see any sense in continuing applying for training or jobs. (Male, 19, Germany)¹

Abstention is a way of voting, it is understood as a vote for something else; this is to show that nobody interests us. (anonymous, France)²

Even if I don't do anything else in my life, I've got this one thing [a baby] that I'm gonna have for the rest of my life and I brought it into the world. I could stay on the dole for the rest of my life but I've still got something that I've done. (Female, 19, UK)³

In a nutshell, these quotes express very well the objective of the project "Youth – Actor of Social Change" (in the following referred to as UP2YOUTH) to understand more deeply the ambivalences and dynamics of young people's agency in the context of social change. They document young people's choices for actions or non-actions which are contextualised with regard to social inequality and disadvantage, uncertainty and precariousness.

A key issue in late modern youth research and youth policy discourses is the question of social integration understood as the relation between social structure and individual agency. Agency in this case is defined as the principal ability of persons to act intentionally. In youth research the structure and agency debate includes questions such as:

- Are young people victims of social change which narrows their scope of agency, choice
 and influence or are they actors of social change in the sense that individualised values
 and choices depart from institutionalised ways of being a member of society, especially
 with regard to work, family and citizenship?
- Can decisions taken under conditions of constraint and uncertainty be interpreted as subjective choice or should they be referred to as reactions to structural force?

¹ Quoted in: Pohl & Stauber 2004, p. 25

² Quoted in: Spannring 2008, p. 65

Quoted in: Spannring 2008, p. 65 Quoted from Knight, Chase & Aggleton (2006), p. 395

³ Quoted from Knight, Chase & Aggleton (2006), p. 395 National statistics, no OECD data available.

⁵ Sources: Sainsbury, 2006; European Commission, 2007; Heckmann, 2008; Niessen et al., 2006



While these questions are of a high theoretical relevance for youth research, they also have policy implications inasmuch as policies rely on assumptions regarding the relation between individual and society – either addressing young people as victims of social inequality or as profiteers who take decisions according to an economic rational choice model; explaining individual choices in terms of individual assessment of means-ends-relations, which in turn can lead to social change. Actually many policy measures ascribe problems such as youth unemployment, early school leaving or teenage pregnancy to uninformed or irresponsible decision-making of young people. Consequently, they aim to influence young people's choices. Most obvious current examples are labour market policies which are intended to enhance individual job search activities by setting (mostly negative) incentives such as sanctions for 'passivity' or family policies that increase child care allowances in order to raise young women's birth rates. Even in research contexts, such assumptions are rarely made explicit. In this regard, UP2YOUTH follows a double objective:

- Improving the *theoretical understanding* of young people's agency: What does agency mean, how does it evolve? How is it related to structural factors on the one side and subjective factors on the other? What is the impact of social change on young people's choices; and does young people's agency influence social change; and if so how?
- Exploring the conditions of policies aimed at empowering young people's agency in terms
 of providing them with power and resources to make reflexive choices, allowing for
 reconciling subjective interest and societal demands; while also contributing to social
 integration.

Starting from the assumption that *youth* as a life phase is a social and cultural construction connected to the formation of an institutionalised life course in modern societies, the UP2YOUTH project refers to social change primarily in terms of the *de-standardisation of the life course* in general and the youth phase in particular. Thereby, growing up has become a more and more individualised process in which young people can no longer rely on traditional collective patterns, but in a reflexive way have to develop individual trajectories based on individual choices and decisions. Some researchers argue that more agency is needed in order to cope with individualised transitions towards adulthood. Others say that individualisation just makes agency more visible while agency is and has always been an integral part of social integration; and all social structure depends on being reproduced by social action. However, there are also researchers rejecting an agency perspective referring to the determining power of social structures over individual choices. These different



perspectives do not only stand for different interpretations of the relation between individual and society but also for different concepts of agency. In order to develop a more differentiated perspective towards individual agency under conditions of individualisation, the UP2YOUTH project has introduced the dimensions of culture and learning; *culture* because it is a key to the understanding of the meanings of different choices and practices, *learning* because developing new practices always implies learning, yet not in terms of formal learning but in terms of non-formal and especially of experiential and explorative learning in informal contexts (e.g. Coffield, 2000; du Bois-Reymond, 2004).

Informed by a cultural and learning perspective the underlying concept of agency adopted by UP2YOUTH is a *biographical* one which means to focus on young people's subjective views on their life courses, their individual strategies of coping with the respective demands, and their attempts of shaping their lives in a subjectively meaningful way (Alheit, 2005).

The quotations in the beginning of this introduction have been drawn from other qualitative studies as the UP2YOUTH project did not carry out empirical research itself. It was primarily concerned with secondary analysis in a comparative perspective. While this secondary analysis included a literature review on theoretical reflections as well as empirical findings – primarily from biographical studies on young people's decision-making in transitions to adulthood – focus was laid upon three topics: *young parenthood, transitions to work of immigrant and ethnic minority youth* and *youth participation*.

Firstly, the three topics serve to specify the reflections on young people's agency inasmuch as human agency and action are never abstract and cannot be researched except in relation to specific goals and embedded in specific social situations and fields of action. Secondly, they refer to three cornerstones of modern societies and the institutionalisation of mechanisms of social integration within individual life courses: work, family and citizenship, which traditionally have been markers of a successfully completed transition from youth to adulthood. Thirdly, these topics refer to societal institutions and life spheres which are subject to fundamental change and their analysis contributes to understanding social change in general. Fourthly, these changes present major challenges for policy, reflected by the powerful discourses on the causes and implications of these changes – either in terms of individualised ascriptions of failure or of victimisation of youth. These discourses in turn contribute to social change as a result of changed everyday practice of policy reform – or of both.



Broken down to the three topics the objective of developing a reflexive understanding of young people's agency in relation to social change can be formulated in the following ways:

The topic of *young parenthood* and of young women's and men's transitions into parenthood relates to the general changes of family relationships and family dynamics (Biggart 2005). Relevant indicators for changes in family formation are the postponement of parenthood, the subsequent decline of families with children, and the diversification of family forms including persisting phenomena of teenage pregnancy. This raises the following questions:

- What decisions and strategies do young people develop in terms of family formation? What family forms and practices of family life emerge from their choices?
- What role does social context play regarding family formation? How do educational level, career opportunities, child care, gender relationships, informal (peer and intergenerational) support influence individual decision-making in this regard?
- How are transitions to parenthood interrelated with other transitions and how do young people experience the possibilities of reconciling them?
- How do decision-making processes regarding family formation evolve?
- What does family and parenthood actually mean for young people and how is it linked with identity-related processes of meaning-making?
- What do young people learn about family and parenthood where and from whom? How have intergenerational relationships changed in this regard?
- What kind of parent cultures are young mothers and fathers developing?
- To what extent and how do decisions and strategies contribute to the change of family in general and family policies in particular?
- What is the meaning of agency with regard to becoming a parent (or not) in terms of reflexive decision-making, negotiating gender roles and the balance between autonomy and dependency?

The topic of transition to work of immigrant and ethnic minority youth relates to both the changes in the relationship between education and employment and its influence on the destandardisation of life courses and also to the trend towards migration societies, characterised



by (ethnic) diversity. In many European societies, children and youth from ethnic minorities and migrant communities have reached significant shares of the population, while their life chances often remain limited in terms of qualification, occupational status and income. Changes refer to the disadvantage of immigrant and ethnic minority youth, which – at least in some contexts – seems to increase while their trajectories and coping strategies reflect ascriptions of difference from the majority population. Research questions in this regard are:

- How do young people with ethnic minority and migration backgrounds cope with transitions to work? What experiences do they make? What different strategies and trajectories can be discerned?
- What are the structural conditions they face in their transitions integration policies,
 labour market condition, inequalities, social policies and education systems and how do
 these influence their coping strategies?
- How are their transitions structured by reversibility and fragmentation and how do they reconcile their identities with the dominant demand of assimilation?
- How do they develop coping strategies and how are past experiences rooted in their home countries, cultures of origin and migration histories related to individualised futures?
- What identities are they longing for and how are respective processes of meaning-making reflected by the coping strategies in transitions to work?
- How do they experience learning in terms of formal learning as well as informal learning? Where do they learn coping strategies and to what extent do these contain intercultural competences?
- How do their coping strategies influence the transitions systems and integration policies of their immigration countries?
- To what extent does their integration process reflect agency in terms of intercultural negotiation, cultural and social reflexivity?

The topic of *young people's participation* relates to changes in the citizenship status. While formally unchanged, its meaning and relevance has changed due to the de-standardisation of life courses. Conceptualised with regard to the possibility of full-time employment and linear life courses in the era of Fordism, nowadays citizenship is no longer self-evident and guaranteed in terms of a link between civil, political and social rights (cf. Marshall 1950).



Young people distance themselves from the assets of formal citizenship such as voting – especially those whose life chances are limited – while opting for short-term and ad-hoc forms of engagement which are compatible with youth cultural life styles. A variety of programmes are implemented to enhance young people's participation especially at local levels. Yet, many of them fail in reaching their target because young people do not see them as relevant for their lives. Questions that arise are:

- What different forms and meanings of participation can be found among young people –
 both acknowledged and neglected ones?
- How do social contexts both structural and interactive influence the form and content of young people's participatory expressions?
- How do young people develop (self-)concepts of (active) citizenship under conditions of de-standardised transitions and uncertainty?
- How does young people's agency evolve in terms of participatory action and how does it relate to and connect biographical past, present and future?
- How do young people experience existing forms of participation? What does participation mean for them subjectively and biographically? What political, public and collective moments can be identified in youth cultural activities?
- Where and what do young people learn about participation, formally and informally?
- How do young people's forms of (non-)participation affect the institutional system and the citizenship status?
- To what extent do young people's participatory acts reveal key aspects of agency such as autonomy, negotiation and reflexivity?

Analysing young people's agency and social change in the context of a European research project implies a *comparative perspective*. This means to take different socio-economic, institutional and cultural contexts into consideration which filter social change and which frame young people's agency in terms of different contexts of normality – which can be enabling and/or limiting.

Young people's agency is often referred to in terms of *empowerment*. Official policy discourses tend to interpret empowerment by including young people into the systems of



education, training, welfare or employment in order to facilitate their social integration. This however, often implies that young people have to adapt to pre-defined concepts and implications of integration and to down-grade subjective aspirations. The original meaning of the concept developed in the context of community psychology implied the opposite: rather than blaming the individual and demanding compensatory adaptation to unequal living conditions, it implied increasing the legal, economic and/or political power of individuals to actively shape their living conditions – individually and collectively (Rappaport, 1981).

This discrepancy emerges also from *European youth policy development*. In 2001 it was the White Paper on Youth "New Impetus for European Youth" (European Commission 2001) through which youth was put on the European policy agenda. The European youth policy approach can be characterised by promoting the shift from addressing "youth as a problem" towards "youth as a resource", which was celebrated as a way of empowering young people and enhancing their active citizenship. In 2005, this was not only confirmed but extended through the European Youth Pact which aimed at mainstreaming youth across different policy fields, namely education, labour market, social and gender policies:

Empowering young people and creating favourable conditions for them to develop their skills, to work and to participate actively in society is essential for the sound economic and social development of the European Union, particularly in the context of globalisation, knowledge-based economies and ageing societies where it is crucial that every young person is given the possibility to fulfil his or her potential (European Commission, 2007, p. 1).

This quote reveals that on the one hand the European youth policy approach is a serious attempt of "addressing the concern of young people" (European Commission 2005) inasmuch as attention has been raised and also resources have been redirected so that young people would benefit more from EU policies. On the other hand, the quote reveals that both the objectives of young people's agency and its requirements are predefined from an economic and policy perspective. The reference to empowerment as well as the definition of what "his or her potential" is, are instrumentalised for a given direction and goal of (European) society.

A critical approach implies distinguishing an agency perspective which analyses, understands and explains young people's choices from an activation perspective which has gained dominance in European policy discourses, especially with regard to the social integration of disadvantaged youth. While agency means to ask for the experiences, choices and strategies of young people in relation to subjective interpretation and meaning of acting, activation starts from a narrow concept of 'being active' pre-defined by institutional or market actors. In fact,



the formulation "mobilisation on behalf of young people" (European Council, 2005, p. 20) reveals the blurring boundaries of 'active' and 'passive'. This understanding aims at channelling individuals towards certain activities, especially active job searching, which in many cases implies accepting any job or training scheme regardless of subjective meaning and working conditions, while disregarding other articulations of agency.

The UP2YOUTH findings contribute to the development of European youth policy by reflecting its normative as well as social requirements. It analyses the interaction between subjective motives and societal demands in young people's decision-making processes with regard to the key policy areas of the European Youth Pact: the transition from school to work, reconciliation between family and work, and active citizenship (ibid.). Thereby, it allows for re-balancing the focus between young people's concerns and the development of society.

Such a contribution is not only relevant for making European youth policy more effective and sustainable but also with regard to the transnational discourse on young people – and its repercussion on national policies – which is dominated by a rhetoric of activation and the implicit assumption that young people are either not active or not active in the 'right' way.

1.2 Methodological procedure of UP2YOUTH

As already mentioned, UP2YOUTH has not been concerned with collecting its own empirical data but – funded as a coordinated action – with integrating existing youth research across Europe. The objective of improving the understanding of young people's agency under conditions of social change has been both broad enough to include a variety of sub-topics – which themselves are on the agenda while being still under-researched – and in coincidence with current debates in youth research.

The key element of UP2YOUTH have been three thematic working groups related to the three sub-topics (see table 1) in which five or six research partners were involved in collecting and re-analysing existing research.

Table 1: UP2YOUTH thematic working groups

Coordination	1 Andreas Walther, Barbara Stauber, Axel Pohl						
	Institute for regional	IRIS Tübingen (D)					
Thematic working groups	Young parenthood	Youth participation	Transitions of immigrant and ethnic minority youth				
Working group coordinators	2 Manuela du Bois- Reymond, University of Leiden (NL)	3 Patricia Loncle & Virginie Muniglia, National School of Public Health	Bechmann Jensen,				



			(F)	Copenhagen (DK)		
Working members	group	5 Carmen Leccardi & Sveva Maggaraggia, University of Milano-Bicocca (I) 6 Siyka Kovacheva, NEC, Plovdiv (BG) 7 Lothar Böhnisch & Simone	Leahy, University College Cork (IRL) 10 Reingard Spannring &	12 José Machado Pais & Vitor Sergio Ferreira, Institute for Social Sciences, Lisbon (PT) 14 René Bendit & Jan Skrobanek, German		
		Menz, Dresden University (D) 8 Mirjana Ule & Metka Kuhar, University of Ljubljana (SI) 18 Andy Biggart, Queen's University Belfast (UK)	University of Trnava (SK) 13 Morena Cuconato & Gabriele Lenzi, University of Bologna (I)	Youth Institute (D) 15 Andreu López Blasco & Almudena, AREA Valencia (E) 16 Octav Marcovici, ANSIT, Bucharest (RO) 17 Ilse Julkunen, University of Helsinki (FIN)		

In a first phase, working groups collected studies and empirical findings from their own countries related to the topics and focussing on the areas of individualisation, culture and learning, while also taking recent policy developments into consideration. Country reports and synopsis of existing relevant studies were produced and discussed within the groups. On the basis of these, draft thematic reports were produced by the thematic coordinators following the above mentioned areas. In this phase already it revealed that even on national level only a little data and a few studies existed in which the agency perspective of young people is explored in depth with regard to these topics.

The interim phase was concerned with analysing implications of the draft thematic reports for the understanding and conceptualising of young people's agency. This was documented by an interim working paper in which theoretical concepts of agency were related to key aspects of the three sub-topics elaborated in the draft thematic reports (see Pohl et al., 2007).

The second phase of the working group processes started with selecting a series of key issues emerging from the draft thematic report which were analysed more in depth. Here, the groups took different approaches such as undertaking small local case studies or elaborating on particular figurations. Subsequently, the working papers on emerging issues were developed into chapters of the final thematic reports.

During the two group phases, the project group also organised two thematic workshops. The first one addressed policy makers and practitioners in order to include issues which are relevant from a policy and practice perspective. The second one referred to other researchers concerned with the three sub-topics in order to include complementary findings as well as findings from other regional contexts.



The final project phase consisted in a meta-analysis of the achievements on the thematic level with regard to a deeper and more differentiated understanding of young people's agency. This analysis is the core of this final report. Apart from this, a series of other products have been developed in order to secure the dissemination of the findings into policy and practice, especially a higher education module for students in disciplinary areas concerned with youth research.

Overview over the report

This report is structured as follows: chapter 2 introduces the comparative dimension of UP2YOUTH and the way in which it has been applied. In the core this aims to present transition regimes as a heuristic comparative model concerning youth transitions which has served for sampling countries and for interpreting the research findings. On the one hand, this allows for contextualising the thematic findings with regard to wider constellations of the socio-economic, institutional and cultural factors of young people's transitions towards adulthood. On the other hand, this analysis is a test for the validity (and the limitations) of the comparative model of transition regimes – and a step in its further development.

In chapter 3, the theoretical understanding of social change in UP2YOUTH is outlined. Beside a general reflection of dynamics and mechanisms as well as factors and directions of current social change, focus is laid on explaining why de-standardisation and individualisation are (still) relevant analytical prerequisites for adequately describing social change.

Chapter 4 is concerned with conceptualising agency in the light of the findings of UP2YOUTH. Main dimensions refer to the emergence of agency as intentional or responsive; to development and/or selection of individual goals of action; to the way in which agency evolves and turns into concrete action; to its sociality in terms of limitations through power and inequality; of being embedded in social networks and relationships, and of its relevance for the reproduction and generation of social structures.

Chapter 5 relates the general dimensions of agency to the three topics of young parenthood, transitions to work of immigrant and ethnic minority youth and youth participation drawing on the findings of the thematic reports. This aims both to interpret the specific findings with regard to the dimensions of agency while at the same time assessing the adequacy and relevance of these dimensions for the conceptualisation of young people's agency under conditions of de-standardised life courses and individualisation.



Chapter 6 presents conclusions on three different levels: the *theoretical* conceptualisation of the relationship between youth, agency and social change and its relevance for the analysis of social integration in late modern societies; the consequences for and requirements of empirical *research* into the decision-making and strategies of young people; and the implications of the analysis of young people's agency for policy making.

2. The comparative perspective: the model of transition regimes

What is the added value of comparative analysis in youth research? One potential function of comparative analysis is the possibility of distinguishing between general structures and trends in the relationship between youth and social change. Another more applied one is related to identifying 'good practice' in policy and practice. In UP2YOUTH the first aspect of comparative analysis has been more important: analysing the changes in transitions to parenthood, work and citizenship as well as in the shift of national societies towards migration societies across different countries - understood as variation of socio-economic and sociocultural context factors – was expected to contribute to the understanding of the relationship between structure and agency in young people's biographical transitions. The second potential benefit of comparative analysis, learning from good practice, is more ambiguous than contemporary approaches of evidence-based policy and practice ("what works?") suggest. Nevertheless, the practice and policy-related recommendations include also conclusions from a comparative perspective, yet less in terms of direct practice transfer than in identifying factors which enable young people's agency; factors which require re-contextualisation by local and national policy actors in order to become relevant in different contexts than from which they originate.

In order to handle the complexity of this comparative work, we started from a model of *transition regimes* which distinguishes the ways in which socio-economic, institutional and cultural structures contribute to different 'normalities' of being young and growing up. The model has been developed from typologies of welfare regimes of Esping-Andersen (1990) and Gallie and Paugam (2000) which distinguish socialdemocratic/universalistic, conservative/corporatist/employment-centred, liberal, and mediterranean/sub-protective types of welfare states. The term of regime refers to the power that such constellations have inasmuch as they explain both the rationales of institutions and policies but also serve as markers of individuals' biographical orientation.



The model has evolved over a series of studies on youth transitions involving the analysis of institutional arrangements, document analysis of policy programmes, statistical analysis, expert interviews, case studies of projects for disadvantaged youth, in-depth interviews and focus group discussions with young people across different educational levels as well as with parents (McNeish & Loncle, 2003; Walther & Pohl, 2005; Walther, 2006; Walther et al., 2006; Pohl & Walther, 2007). It provides a set of analytical dimensions:

- Structures of welfare in terms of state versus family responsibilities and the conditions and rules of individual access (Esping-Andersen, 1990; Gallie & Paugam, 2000).
- Structures of education and training, especially in terms of the extent to which school systems allocate pupils to different educational pathways with unequal outcomes (stratification) (Allmendinger, 1989; Lasonen & Young, 1998; Shavit & Müller 1998).
- Structures of labour markets and labour market entry 'open' versus 'close' and the degree of flexibility regarding transitions within labour markets and careers (Smyth et al., 2001; Müller & Gangl, 2003).
- Policies against youth unemployment (resulting from the relationship between education and training, welfare and labour market structures), including different explanations for youth unemployment as well as the different ways of interpreting 'disadvantaged youth' as a structural phenomenon, resulting from labour market segmentation or as individual deficit (Walther, Stauber et al., 2002; McNeish & Loncle, 2003; Walther & Pohl, 2005; Walther et al., 2006; Pohl & Walther, 2007).
- Mechanisms of doing gender, which are a cross-cutting dimension allocating young men and women to the same or to different trajectories that in turn can be of equal or unequal status and perspective (Sainsbury, 1999).
- The dominant institutional representations of youth and the respective institutional demands and expectations addressed to young people (IARD, 2001; Walther, 2006).
- Levels and patterns of public expenditure for education, active labour market policy, family and children, which provide different possibilities for implementing transition infrastructure while also representing different levels of recognition of young people as members (and resource) of societies (Walther & Pohl, 2005).
- Different meanings and respective implementation of activation revealing both convergence and path dependency under conditions of global social change in general and European integration in particular (Lødemel & Trickey, 2001; van Berkel & Hornemann Møller, 2002; Harsløf, 2005; Pohl & Walther, 2007).



A regime typology should not be misunderstood as descriptive. It clusters different groups of national transition systems which are similar in their 'Gestalt' of constructing youth and youth transitions (Kaufmann, 2003). This implies that structural and institutional details may diverge considerably within one regime type while contributing to a similar rationale in regulating youth transitions. For the time being, four regime types have been modelled:



Table 2: Transition regimes across Europe

Dimension Regime	Country	School	Training	Social security	Employ- ment Regime	Female Employ- ment	Concept of Youth	Concept of Disadvantage	Focus of Transition Policies	Expenditure* Educ/F&C/ALMP	Policy trend
Universalistic	Denmark Finland	Not selective	Flexible standards (mixed)	State	Open Low risks	High	Personal develop- ment, Citizenship	Individualized and structure- related	Education Activation	DK: 8,3 / 3,8 / 1,5 FI: 6,3 / 3,0 / 0,7	Liberal (more labour market orientation)
Employment- centred	Austria Germany France Netherlands	Selective	Standard- ized (dual)	State / family	Closed Risks at the margins	Medium	Adaptation to social positions	Individualized	(Pre-) vocational training	A: 5,4 / 3,0 / 0,5 D: 4,5 / 3,3 / 0,6 F: NL:	Liberal (more activation)
Liberal	Ireland UK	Principally not selective	Flexible, low stan- dards (mixed)	State / family	Open, High risks	High	Early economic independ- ence	Individualized	Employa- bility	IE: 4,8 / 2,5 / 0,5 UK: 5,5 / 1,6 / 0,1	Liberal (more education)
Sub- protective	Italy Portugal Spain	Not Selective	Low stan- dards and coverage (mainly school)	Family	Closed High risks (Informal work)	Low	Without distinct status	Structure- related	,Some' status (work, education, training)	IT: 4,4 / 1,1 / 0,5 PT: 5,4 / 1,2 / 0,5 ES: 4,2 / 1,2 / 0,6	Liberal (deregulation) and employ- ment-centred (training)
Post-socialist c	Post-socialist countries										
	Bulgaria Romania Slovakia Slovenia	Principally not selective	Standards in process of trans- formation (mixed)	Family state	Closed High risks	Low (except Slovenia)	Mixed	Mixed	Mixed	BG: 4,5 / 1,1 / 0,4 RO: 3,5 / 1,4 / 0,1 SK: 3,9 / 1,9 / 0,2 SI: 5,8 / 1,9 / 0,2	BG, RO: Employment- centred SK: Liberal SI: Universal.

^{*}Eurostat data on expenditures for education/families & children/ active labour market policies in 2005 (except ALMP exp. in DK for 2004)



- The *liberal* transition regime in the Anglo-Saxon countries is best characterised by the notion of individual responsibility in which young people without work face major pressure to enter the workforce. Youth is regarded as a basically transitory life phase which should be turned into economic independence as soon as possible. The labour market is structured by a high degree of flexibility. While this provides multiple entry options it also implies a high level of insecurity. Although female employment is high, it tends to be of part-time nature and in low-skilled or unskilled service occupations. In the context of highly individualising policies young people face considerable risks of social exclusion (Furlong and Cartmel, 1997).
- The *universalistic* transition regime of the Nordic countries is based on comprehensive education systems in which general and vocational education are largely integrated and reflect the individualisation of life courses. Youth is first of all associated with individual personal development providing young people a status of 'citizens in education'. This is reflected by an education allowance for all who are over 18 and still in the education system which contributes to a partial independence from their families. Also, in labour market oriented activation policies, individual choice is rather broad to secure individual motivation. Gendered career opportunities are highly balanced due to the integration of general and vocational education, the broad relevance of the public employment sector and the availability of child care (Bechmann Jensen & Mørch-Hejl, 2001; Os & Mørch, 2001).
- In the Mediterranean countries transition regimes are *sub-protective* in a double sense. Due to a lack of reliable training pathways into the labour market, transitions often involve a waiting phase until the mid thirties, with unequal outcomes. As they are not entitled to any kind of social benefits young men and women depend to a large extent on their families who are referred to as 'social amortisator' for the socio-political vacuum. Long family dependency indicates that youth do not have a formal status and place in society with consequences ranging from the positive pole of a lot of freedom for young people living with their parents to the quite negative pole of "forced harmony" (Leccardi et al., 2004; López Blasco et al., 2004). Higher education is one option providing a recognised status while informal work helps to gain limited economic independence. Young women's career opportunities are clearly restricted and they and anticipate responsibility for later family obligations.
- The *employment-centred regime* of continental countries is characterised by a differentiated (and partly even highly selective) school system connected to a rigidly



standardised and gendered system of vocational training. Different tracks separate pupils from age ten or twelve according to performance. The dominant expectation towards youth is to socialise for a set occupational and social position – through training. This is reflected through the provision of a two-tiered division of social security, favouring those who have already been in regular training or employment, while others are entitled to stigmatised social assistance. This accounts as well for those who fail to enter regular vocational training. They are referred to as 'disadvantaged' from a deficit-oriented perspective and consequently, are channelled into pre-vocational measures, governed by the objective 'first of all, they need to learn to know what work means', in other terms: adaptation, reduction of aspiration, holding out.

It is obvious that this picture is limited inasmuch as it represents the so-called Western world. In the framework of a European project it may appear as a shortcoming that Central and Eastern European (CEE) countries are not represented. In fact in some of the previous projects transformation states have been involved and analysed according to the dimensions of the model. However, the pace of transformation and the diverse mixtures between an apparently uniform past and increasing heterogeneity do not allow for quick solutions such as subsuming CEE countries under the existing model or creating one post-socialist regime type.

The *post-socialist* countries at first sight appear rather close to the sub-protective welfare states with public structures being experienced as totally unreliable. Yet, differentiation is needed in a double sense: first, an increasingly sub-protective presence is still related to the (socialist) past in which life courses were structured in a mixture of a universalist guarantee of social positions and an employment-centred logic (as these social positions were tied to employment, to which everyone was entitled and respectively obliged). Female employment was high and secured by availability of child care. According to Pascal and Manning (2000) the significant decline in this regard makes women to the losers of transformation, at least as some countries are concerned, although high youth unemployment in some CEE countries does not differ significantly according to gender. A particularity is the situation of the Roma, especially in countries like Slovakia or Romania, who suffer from discrimination, social exclusion and poverty. According to Kovacheva (2001), one particular feature of youth transitions is that life conditions either leap from pre-modern constellations into post-modern fragmented ones, or, are a mixture of both.

The model does not replace further comparative analysis especially as differences within regime types are neglected and as it has to be constantly reassessed with regard to social change. And it is a model developed for interpreting differences and similarities with regard



to transitions from school to work but not for comparative analysis of conditions of growing up in general. With regard to the interplay between socio-economic, institutional and cultural structures the transition regime approach organises context information regarding the scope of action of young people in different contexts. In UP2YOUTH it has served for two purposes: it provides a rationale of sampling countries in terms of different contexts across the EU – for the project at large as well as for the single thematic groups; and it provides an interpretative framework for findings on different constellations of young parenthood, transitions of migrant and ethnic minority youth or participation.

In the following we will relate the transition regime model to the findings that emerged from the UP2YOUTH thematic research process with regard to the topics of 'young parenthood', 'transitions of migrant and ethnic minority youth' and 'youth participation'. Despite being 'neighbouring' themes with regard to youth transitions they have not yet been taken into consideration by previous transition research. We will ask to what extent patterns of difference and commonalities follow or contradict the model.

In the project, we started by collecting national research on the three themes and tried to develop synoptic overviews emerging from the material. However, as the material was not only scarce with regard to most of our issues but also diverse in terms of types of data, this step was not always exhaustive. At the stage of analysis, the findings are matched with the transition regime. In the case of consistencies this may imply that general structures or patterns are at work. In contrast, inconsistencies may result from different structures affecting different social aspects in the sense that relationships between welfare or transitions to work and parenthood, integration of migrants and ethnic minorities and participation are not clearcut. This may be due to social change and indicates a lack of research and analysis.

Transitions into parenthood in comparative perspective

The comparative work on the six countries Slovenia, Bulgaria, Italy, Germany, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom is mostly based on European statistics (EUROSTAT), on European Surveys (European Labour Force survey, EU SILC), on the European MISSOC tables and on comparative work done by European Projects with a similar thematic focus (namely the WORKCARE project, Gstrein, 2007). These compilations of studies and data are testimony of a huge body of statistical knowledge on issues related to young parenthood. Crucial data are missing, e.g. comparative data regarding employment and unemployment rates of young mothers and fathers with children unter the age of 3. In the following table this huge body of information has been boiled down to some core issues: The dominant elements



in the composition of the welfare mix in each country – focussing care issues, the whole sector of childcare facilities, the dominant breadwinner model, flexibility of paid work, the dominant model of reconciliation and respective problems, parental leaves with a focus on leave options for fathers and the institutional level of gender equity. The latter is standing here as a combined indicator including the official level of institutionalized gender mainstreaming, i.e. the participation of women in all relevant societal fields, including paid work, politics, and official (public) cultural fields.

Slovenia already has undergone a strong tendency towards privatisation, albeit on a high level of social wealth and welfare, as concerns the level of social allowances and availability of public care. Regarding the latter, Slovenia extends these days its already high level of public child care and therefore is close to the Barcelona targets. The dominant breadwinner model is a full-time dual earner-normality, which some young women explicitly reject – because they fear to end up like their overburdened mothers. There is scarce flexibility at the side of the workers, so reconciliation of paid work and family work is a big problem. On the other hand, Slovenia has one of the most generous systems of parental leave all over Europe, also for fathers, but gender equity in this regard is only at its beginnings: most Slovenian new fathers take only 2 weeks of a much broader paternity leave option.

Bulgaria, because of operating on a much lower level of social wealth, suffers much more by the increasing market-orientation, by the cutback of public social infrastructure, by the increasing delegation of social responsibility to the private sphere. Regarding public child care, Bulgarian parents over the last 15 years have suffered a drop of 40% in the number of public crèches, although with 27% of public kindergartens they are still better equipped than in most other countries. This decline in public welfare has had its greatest impact on the rural economy and on conditions for the reconciliation of paid work and family work on the countryside. In terms of facilitating an equal balance of work between the partners, Bulgaria prolonged the well paid (at 90% of the previous salary) maternity leave from 135 to 315 days, which in effect tends to exclude fathers from early childcare and therefore strengthens a gender division of care work, which was previously covered by the dual earner regime. These longer periods of leave implicitly directed to mothers make their re-entry into the work sphere a difficult task. At the same time, the full time dual earner is still the norm. Under these conditions, grandparents have become an ever more important resource for childcare – and consequently are entitled to parental leave.



Table 3: selected indicators of transitions into parenthood in Bulgaria, Germany, Italy, Netherlands, Slovenia and the UK

	Slovenia	Bulgaria	Italy	Germany	Netherlands	UK
Transition regime model	Post-socialist country	Post-socialist country	Under- institutionalized	Employment- oriented	Employment- oriented (hybrid)	Liberal
Welfare mix (reg. care)	State (market increasing)	State (family increasing)	Family and market	Family, market, state (in this order)	State, family (market increasing)	Market (state increasing)
Public childcare 0-3	High and increasing	High but decreasing	Low	Low (but high in the East)	Low (starts at age 2,5)	Low
Public childcare 3-6	High and increasing	High, but decreasing	High	High (in the West mostly part-time)	High	high
Costs of childcare	low	low	High	moderate	moderate	high
Dominant breadwinner model	weak breadwinner model	weak breadwinner model	Modified breadwinner (North) - strong breadwinner (South)	Modified breadwinner (East) - strong breadwinner (West)	Modified breadwinner	Modified breadwinner
Female : male employment	66,9 : 74,7	57,1 : 65,9	50,9 : 74,6	68,2 : 81,0	70,5 : 83,4	69,1 : 81,7
Part-time as % of female eployment	12,5	2,3	26,6	46,2	74,9	42,5
Dominant family model	Dual earner	Dual earner (decreasing)	Single earner (South), dual earner (North)	One-and-half- earner model	One-and-half- earner model	One-and- half- earner model
Worker flexibility	low	low	Low	low	high	medium
Barriers of reconciliation	little flexibility for working parents	little flexibility for working parents	No part-time work, little support in work place	Little support in work place	Low	Too high costs for childcare
Model of re- conciliation	Long parental leaves	Long parental leaves	Use of informal care	Female parental leave	Female part time work	Female or male part time work
Parental leave	Good options, limited use	Poor options – parental leave badly paid	Poor but improving	Medium but improving	Medium but improving	Poor options
% of single parents	8	No data	16	16	13	24
& of children born out of wedlock	48,1	50,2	20,7	29,9	39,7	42,3
Gender equity	increasing	decreasing	ambivalent	ambivalent	ambivalent	Increasing
Regional differences	small	huge (urban- rural)	huge (North – South)	huge (East – West)	small	medium (regional economic structure)

Sources: Eurostat data (2005, 2006, 2007); EU-MISSOC 2008; UP2YOUTH country reports, Chung et al., 2007.



Italy still leaves most of the responsibility to the family – and the market. At the same time, it is undergoing a slow transformation process e.g. recorded in an enhancement of fathers' involvement in childrearing due to new options for parental leave. However, as all relevant regulations exclude atypical workers, a group to which young adults predominantly belong, these reforms can only benefit a minority of young parents. There are extreme differences between the North and the South of the country; in the South, above all regarding bread winner models and gender equity. But also in the South, mothers long for even more participation in the labour market, and start to reduce sharply the number of children they have. Italy is the European country with the biggest discrepancy between the desired and actual number of child births, which could be taken as an indicator for insufficient facilitation by family policies – allowances, infrastructure, time policy.

Germany in recent years has tried to facilitate a stronger engagement of fathers, and at the same time shows efforts to deconstruct the (West-German) myth that a parent (and due to the gender pay gap: the mother) 'normally' should stay the 'first three years' with her small child. This is major progress, and has led to a greater degree of involvement among fathers, albeit most of them stick to the minimum of two months. There are also promises to provide better childcare facilities in the West, whereas in the East, they remain on a much better level, although this is jeopardised by decline. Nevertheless, the gendered normality of a male core breadwinner dominates, and also in this regard West-German normality has totally covered the dual earner model from the East. The availability of family resources (e.g. childcare) remains a decisive factor for facilitating young parenthood, at least in the West, and at least for young people living away from urban centres.

The Netherlands are also actively working on the Barcelona targets, but – in contrast to the emancipatory self-concept –still refer to a mother-ideology which on the one hand would refuse the full-time mother, but on the other hand would consequently refuse full time day care. The result for most young mothers is that they work part-time, without leaving their job, and use a mixed childcare solution that also involves grand-parents. This part-time solution in a way has turned also in a part-time day care normality. This could be a smooth model for the reconciliation of care and employment, especially as there is sufficient self-steered flexibility on employee/worker-side, but it tends to stabilise a gendered work share. Childcare is delivered increasingly by the market, while the state draws back.

The United Kingdom still reveals a strong market-orientation, but in recent years is beginning to modify this trait with the promotion of a more family friendly policy. Although the state



still does not offer favourable conditions for active fathering, time studies show a significant increase in men's participation in domestic work. The dominant breadwinner model therefore is modified by more active fatherhood. The costs for childcare are high for those in employment with a lack of sufficient public provision. With low salaries for fathers, this can lead to new and gender-atypical solutions among couples.

In all countries, there is a significant discrepancy between the desired and actual number of child births (Testa, 2006). As "there is no one magic instrument to increase the birth rate" (Jenson, 2006, p. 161), there is also no one-dimensional explanation for this discrepancy. The analytical overview of European policies of Kröhnert & Klingholz (2008) is most convincing in this respect: it shows, that only a combination of "emancipatory policies", which we have partly subsumed under "gender equity", including labour market conditions, taxation, and childcare facilities for children over one year of age, could explain higher or lower fertility rates. This argument can also be extended to the explanation of discrepant family plans and realities.

One important finding in this regard is that higher levels of gender equality go together with higher expectation levels regarding the contribution of men (or society) to equal opportunities, and with ongoing dissatisfaction regarding the social reality of the pretence of a gender-balanced reconciliation of work and care (see Transitions-project, Lewis and Smithson 2006). This also indicates the dynamic relationship between structure (achieved levels of policies) and agency (levels of expectations).

The evaluation of these different constellations of transitions into parenthood suggests a close relationship among some of the comparative dimensions, especially welfare state provision, availability and costs of child care as well as parental leave. Isolating these dimensions seems to support the clusters of both the welfare regime model according to Esping-Andersen (1990) and/or Gallie & Paugam (2000) and the transition regime model (see above). The combination of these comparative dimensions, however, limits the fit.

Slovenia and *Bulgaria* reflect the socialist past characterised by state responsibility with available child care and parental leave being long enough to allow for a smooth re-entry into the labour market after child birth. However, already these dimensions show the increasing differences among CEE countries inasmuch as conditions are still improving in Slovenia while declining in Bulgaria.

In *Italy* the primary responsibility of the family is obvious. Child care provision is poor (and costs are high) while parental leave is not regulated in a way to encourage mothers to return to



work as soon as possible. Neither the development of informal (and intergenerational) channels is supported.

In *Germany* the primary role of family is also reflected by a lack of child care and parental leave regulations which only recently have been reformed. Considerable regional differences still represent the familistic tradition of the West German conservative welfare state and the socialist model in the East. With regard to child care and responsibilities the situation in the *Netherlands* is similar to West Germany.

Finally, the UK fits the model of the liberal welfare regime inasmuch as child care is largely regulated through market and individual responsibilities while options for parental leave are poor in terms of short periods of payment.

The constellations also do fit the model of breadwinner regimes (Lewis, 1993; Sainsbury, 1999) with weak breadwinner systems in CEE countries where increasing differences are accompanied by heavy changes in female labour market participation; strong breadwinner models are to be found in parts of Italy and Germany, in other parts (Northern Italy, Eastern Germany) modified breadwinner models can be identified also, as is the case for the UK and the Netherlands.

The models start getting blurred if extended to other countries (especially France). Gauthier (1996) provides a model of family policies in which she distinguishes five types:

- The *pro-natalistic model* defines family policy as population policy with the aim of high fertility through transfer payments for families with many children as well as public day care provision (France);
- The *pro-traditional model* which supports the single earner male breadwinner family with financial incentives (Germany; Austria);
- The *pro-egalitarian model* with a well-established system of public childcare facilities and support families financially for the care of small children (Sweden; Denmark);
- The *non-intervention model* where family is a private affair; the state refrains from intervention in child care, and financial support is limited to poor families (Great Britain; Ireland);
- The *hybrid model* with rudimentary family policy with a traditional attitude towards the family and support is regarded to be given through private networks (Italy; Spain).



Further differentiation is necessary if other dimensions are taken into consideration, especially work place related ones. Here, the CEE countries – including Slovenia – perform worse which undermines the state provisions while in the Netherlands part-time work and work place flexibility compensate for modest state responsibility, yet only to the extent of facilitating one-and-a-half (not dual) earner families. In Germany and Italy, low flexibility reinforces modest state activity while the UK is not as flexible in this regard as a market dominated welfare mix would have suggested.

Concluding, the patterns of transition into parenthood show some correspondence with existing comparative typologies. Rather than falsifying each other, the differences between these typologies reflect thematic limitations of underlying comparative studies as well as lack of analytical depth in explaining and interpreting particular phenomena. In fact, the discussion above shows that the models are complementary and represent the differentiation of the comparative picture. Also, this allows for new types to be added and allows for hybrid forms. It also confirms that post-socialist countries neither fit into any of the other models nor suggest a separate post-socialist regime type, at least inasmuch as Bulgaria and Slovenia are concerned.

At the same time, this overview leaves some issues without explanation and the need for further comparative analysis, especially if young people's transitions to parenthood are concerned:

- comparative analysis on the simultaneity of different highly relevant transitions in young women's and men's lives, taking into account especially the contradictive demands of transitions into parenthood and transitions into a professional life.
- Comparative analysis regarding the question if patterns of family policy and breadwinning correspond to mechanisms of *doing gender in school* and in the systems of school-towork-transitions.
- Comparative analysis regarding the question how the apparent contradiction between working time policies, work place flexibility and welfare can be explained.
- Comparative analysis regarding intersecting lines of social differences and the interplay of respective structures, discourses, and individual positionings.

We will come back to a more concise analysis of research gaps in chapter 6.



Transitions to work of young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background

The UP2YOUTH working group on transitions to work of young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background deals with a huge diversity of groups in the countries involved in the research: from recently arrived juvenile refugees or young people from reunified families to descendants of families who immigrated in the fifties and sixties as well as ethnic minorities who have been in the respective country for centuries. The groups are as diverse as the migration history of the countries under study. However, the reason they are included in the study is a common background: they all share the experience of being labelled as "ethnically" or even "racially" different and are thus subject to structural and individual disadvantage. The following table (no. 4) provides an overview of the constellations of transitions to work of young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background for the following countries: Finland, Denmark, Romania, Portugal, Spain and Germany. One outcome of the compilation process is the insight that there is a considerable need for transnational and comparative data on the situation of migrant and ethnic minority populations. Although European surveys like the Labour Force Survey or the Social Survey do include variables related to certain aspects of migration such as nationality or country of birth, there is a severe lack of harmonised data that would allow differentiations along the combination of categories needed for our topic. Therefore the first caveat for reading this table is a technical one: several categories are used like nationality, immigrants, ethnic and national minorities, according to the availability of international or national data. The second more crucial remark is related to the constructional nature of these categories. As Moldenhawer (2009) puts it: "a common explanation of the numerous complex conditions [...] would first and foremost require a contextualised exploration of the way in which the denomination of diverse socioeconomic, gender and ethnicity categories is incorporated in a relational social structure" (op. cit.: 49). Therefore we are using these categories as first descriptive indications of national contexts and not as theoretical categories. The third remark is on the severe lack of internationally comparable data: there is not one source of data that is able to cover our topic of labour market integration of young people from migrant or ethnic minority communities. Either information is lacking because these sources only use legal categories for their sampling like nationality (e.g. LFS) or they do not provide differentiation according to age groups (see table on p. 26).



Finland has been stricken by high youth unemployment since the 1980/90s. At the same time, Finland turned from an emigration country to an immigration country with migrants from the former Soviet Union being the biggest group. Absolute numbers of migrants living in Finland still today are comparably low with the share of non-Finnish nationals reaching just above 3 per cent of the population. Additionally, at the end of the 1980s, refugees from Somalia settled during a period of economic recession, which did not facilitate their integration into the labour market; and 50% of non-Finnish nationals were unemployed at that time. In 2004, their unemployment rate was still three times as high as the one for "native" Finns. The huge differences between different migrant communities can only partly be explained by their educational background, although considerable shares of young people of Somalian or Vietnamese descent for example stay with low educational certificates.



Table 4: Comparative indicators regarding transitions to work of migrant and ethnic minority youth.

	Finland	Denmark	Romania⁴	Portugal	Spain	Germany
Immigration and int			- Tomana	i ortugu.	opu	Cormany
Major groups of immigrants/ethnic minorities		Turkey, Pakistan, other ⁶	Hungarians, Roma	Ukranians, PALOP ⁷	South Americans, Romanian, Morrocans	Turks, Ex- Yugoslavs, "Russian" Germans
Prime types of Refugees, Labour immigration		Labour immigration, refugees	Transit (small numbers)	Post-colonial, labour immigration	Post-colonial, labour immigration	Labour immigration, Repatriates
Share of foreign /minority population8	3,4 %	6,3%	10,5%	4,3%	4,6%	8,9%
Inclusion concept	Integration	Assimilation	Segregation and multi- culturalism	Multi- culturalism	Assimilation	Assimilation
Education						
Education model (standardised - individualised) - outcome (selection - integration)	Individualised - Integration	Individualised - Selection	Standardised - selection (choice and performance)	Standardised - Integration	Standardised - integration	Standardised - Selection
Rate of early school leavers: nationals / non-nationals ⁹	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	38% / 46%	28% / 48%	10% / 31%
Age of selection	16	14	14	14	14	10/12
Differences in performance in science by immigrant status ¹⁰	n.a.	-59	n.a.	-70	-60	-85
Transitions to the la	bour market (2	004)				
Total unemployment rate	9,9% (men) 10,2% (women)	4,6 5,2	11,5% (2002) 7% (8.0% men; 5.7% women) (2006)	5,7% 7,4%	7,8% 15,1%	10,3% 9,6%
Unempl. rate non- nationals/minorities	21,3% (men) 25,3% (women)	11,8% (men) 12,7% (women)	Roma: 28.49% (2002)	9,8% 9,6%	11,4% 17,1%	18,3% 15,2%
Youth unempl. rate	20,8%	7,8%	19,2% (2006)	15,3%	22%	11,7%
Transition policies	T =			1 =	T	T = .
Vocational training	School- based	School- based and dual system	School-based and dual system (new)	School- based	School- based	Dual system
Special policies for "ethnic minority" youth (positive action)	Vocational guidance, training, pre- vocational courses	Vocational guidance, training	Special education for Roma		Depending on municipality	Right to special support, esp. pre-vocational linked to migrant status
Equality of access to edu./training (MIPEX indicator): Scale +/0/- ¹¹	-	-	n.a.	+	+	-

⁴ National statistics, no OECD data available.

⁵ Sources: Sainsbury, 2006; European Commission, 2007; Heckmann, 2008; Niessen et al., 2006

⁶ Morocco, Palestine and others

⁷ Migrants from African countries with Portuguese as official language ("países africanos de língua oficial portuguesa"): Angola; Mosambique, Guinea-Bissau; Equatorial Guinea, São Tomé and Príncipe; Cape Verde. ⁸ Source: OECD, 2004; OECD average: 6,8%. Ethnic minority population used in case of Romania

⁹ Definition: Percentage of population aged 18-24 with only lower secondary education and not in education or training, source: European Commission, 2008: 7

¹⁰ Performance on the science scale, differences in mean scores between native and first generation immigrant students. Positive values mean natives perform better than immigrants. Data source: PISA, 2006

11 See http://www.integrationindex.eu/



Denmark is the country with the lowest overall youth unemployment in our sample. The "Danish miracle" of economic and labour market growth has created many opportunities for young people to enter the labour market – though not for all. In terms of unemployed youth, priority lies on re-integration into the education system providing second chance opportunities for personal development and life planning rather than quick labour market insertion. With regard to immigration, the Nordic countries operate on the basis of the welfare-oriented integration mode which means that on the one side immigrants and their descendants are incorporated into the support systems of the welfare state yet on the other hand they are looked upon from a deficit perspective. In sum, immigrant and ethnic minority youth represent a challenge for the Danish welfare and education systems as they do not seem to be able to provide immigrants and their descendants with qualifications at a similar level as members of the majority. In labour markets which are regulated on the basis of qualified work this undermines young people's long-term perspectives for stable careers.

Romania primarily still is a emigration country with considerable numbers of young people leaving the country at least temporarily. The biggest problem in the transitions to work is facing young people from the Roma minority. The situation of Roma is marked by high shares of different aspects of social exclusion. One third of pupils and students with a Roma background are leaving the education system with no certificate and another third only reach ISCED level 1 qualifications. Therefore routes into employment are only part of a complex situation of spatial segregation, school segregation, poverty and social exclusion.

Portugal, once one of the emigration countries in Europe, has turned into a society that faces important influx of immigrants from former communist countries. These groups of migrants attracted by the labour market longing for cheap and unskilled labour join the traditional immigrant communities form the former Portuguese colonies ("PALOP" countries). The young people from post-colonial migrant communities are facing the same problems as many young people in Portugal, a considerable lack of skilled jobs and the precarious conditions that newcomers to the labour market have to deal with: the segmentation of the labour market with precarious work conditions in informal jobs and low salaries in temporary jobs. "Black" young people especially are found in high shares in early entrance trajectories to the labour market. This corresponds with the comparably high rates of school drop-out and underachievement found among communities like the Roma or Cape-Verdeans. Newly arriving young migrants from Eastern Europe and Brazil seem to substitute native Portuguese workers especially in the construction and the cleaning business while the immigrants who have been in these segments of the labour market before are staying.



In *Spain*, youth unemployment is one of the biggest societal problems with unemployment rates being twice as high among young people compared with the overall unemployment rates. At the same time, Spain is a second case of a former emigration country turning into an immigration country. Immigration is mainly labour migration from Morocco, Latin America and increasingly from Eastern Europe and China. A large proportion of labour migrants coming to Spain are young themselves, but family reunion of members of communities who have immigrated in the 90s has lead to a "1.5 generation" of children and young people who have immigrated at a very young age (Aparicio, 2007; Parella Rubio, 2008). The immigrant population in the educational systems consequently has multiplied by the factor ten between 1996 and 2006. The trajectories to the world of work that young people with an migration background are over-represented in are: direct transition into unskilled labour with high shares of undeclared or fixed-term conditions.

In *Germany*, youth unemployment has been comparably low with the dual system of vocational training being regarded as a safeguard for integration of young people below the academic tracks into the labour market. With a severe lack of training places since the 1990s this situation has changed and young descendants of the labour migrants, having come to Germany since the 1950s, are affected by this downturn in a particular way. Once young people with a migrant background manage to get into the training system, their labour market integration becomes similar to their peers with no migration history. However, the second generation from Turkish descent especially is facing severe disadvantages in reaching higher levels of education and training. The welfare model of integration of immigrants has not fully managed to come to terms with socio-economic, cultural and spatial gaps between the migrant communities and the German society at large.

How about the model of the transition regimes? Does it prove relevant for the analysis of differences between our countries? With regard to the school to work transitions of immigrant and ethnic minority youth the situation is ambiguous. On the one hand the model covers quite well the area of transitions to work and the measures addressing disadvantaged youth. However, on the other hand there are difficulties when it comes to immigrant and ethnic minority youth. First, policies with regard to the legal status of immigrants and ethnic minorities seem to follow different rationales than welfare, education and labour market policies. Migration researchers therefore have developed a series of other typologies to politically and historically describe different modes of integration strategies. Thomson & Crul (2007, p. 1032) suggest to group these approaches into two lines: a citizenship approach which tries to explain variations of integration with the differences in national models of



integration and an institutional approach which emphasizes the role of institutional arrangements in the education, labour market and welfare systems. In line with the citizenship approach, Rex & Singh (2003) suggest the following typology: The assimilation system in France, a guest worker system in Germany (and Denmark), and a multicultural system in Sweden, the Netherlands and UK. The typology described by Castles & Miller (2003) clusters countries along the lines of how citizenship rights are attributed to immigrant communities: differential exclusion (Germany, Austria, Switzerland) excludes immigrants from parts of citizenship rights, while the assimilation type (UK, France, Netherlands) grants full citizenship to newly arriving communities. The multiculturalism type (Sweden, USA, Canada) even grants them with collective rights. Heckmann et al. (2001) go one step further and include integration policies such as targeted support measures for immigrants in their analysis. They distinguish three ideal type modes of integration: a republican model in France where the main migrant groups have the French citizenship and no distinctions are made according to ethnic origin which in consequence hinders the development of "positive action"-oriented policies. The multicultural model which applies (or better: has applied until recently) for the UK and the Netherlands. Here, most migrants have also citizenship status while different life styles are accepted and compatible with citizenship and while there is a strong anti-discrimination trait to the policies towards immigrant communities. In the other European countries a welfare model prevails according to which migration is addressed as a social problem. These models obviously are cross-cutting the transition regimes because they prove to offer good explanations for naturalisation rates and – in consequence – also can be related to identity formation processes of young people from migrant communities (cf. Brubaker, 1992; Tucci, 2008).

However, the models of the citizenship approach are rather weak in explaining education and labour market outcomes for young people from migrant or ethnic minority backgrounds (Heckmann et al., 2001; Thomson & Crul, 2007).

The institutional approach of modelling national particularities according to different institutional arrangements in education and transitions to the labour market (Crul & Vermeulen, 2003) is much closer to the transition regimes typology as it takes into account general institutional contexts. A synthesis between these approaches may explain why for example the Nordic countries seem to perform less successful in regulating youth transitions with regard to minorities than in general. The restrictive immigration policy in Denmark for example may create a double-bind situation for young migrants undermining the inclusive



education and welfare offers. In the light of these findings, we can formulate a number of research gaps that further research could enlighten:

One obvious outcome of the UP2YOUTH project is the lack of comparable data on educational achievement and labour market entry in the European Union (cf. Figure 1 for an overview of availability of official data). Therefore we are in need of more studies producing reliable, comparable cross-national data on such basics as educational achievement, access to vocational and tertiary education and labour market outcomes for different groups of immigrants and their descendants (cf. Siegert, 2006).



Figure 1: Availability of data on educational attainment of migrants/minorities, Source: EUAFR 2008.

The outcomes of education and transitions to the labour market for these groups should be related systematically to general features of the national, regional and local transition systems. Promising attempts in this direction are made by a couple of ongoing European



research projects which however only cover limited numbers of countries¹². Interdisciplinary approaches could help to overcome shortcomings of discipline-bound conceptualizations (cf. Bommes & Morawska, 2004; Brubaker, 2001; Wimmer, 2007).

- Research needs to tap into the inner workings of educational and transition policies. How do young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background negotiate identities and social positions with institutions like school, training, employment offices and the like (cf. Fangen, 2008; Kamali, 2000; Morrison, 2007)?
- What is the influence of different approaches in education or training towards young people from an ethnic minority background (cf. Faas, 2009)? This regards also aspects of discrimination, from a subjective as well as from a structural perspective (see outcomes of the FP 7 project EMILIE, e.g. Lépinard & Simon, 2008; Wrench, 2004).
- For this research perspective, case study approaches and the level of local policies seem to be very promising (TRESEGY, 2007; Glick Schiller, 2007).
- There is a dire need for a stronger gender perspective in the research on the integration of these groups especially under two aspects: one is the intersectionality of social positioning processes and the second is the focus on the role of masculinities in education and training processes (cf. Phoenix, 2004).

Youth participation in comparative perspective

The information on youth participation which we have collected with regard to the five countries Austria, France, Ireland, Italy and Slovakia partly derives from European statistics (EUROSTAT), European surveys (EUYOUPART) and from other comparative research such as the IARD study, the All-European study on pupils' participation in school (Dürr, 2003; Birzea et al., 2004) and the YOYO study on the potential of participation of young people's transitions to the labour market (Walther et al. 2006). The information collected tentatively covers the areas of youth councils, pupils' and students' councils, the organisation of civic education in school and youth work.

In *Austria* youth councils and pupil/student councils benefit from a legal framework which prioritises representative forms of participation and which, to some extent, includes forms of co-decision making. Every second young person is a member of an organisation, usually in leisure time and recreation oriented settings, every fourth young person is involved in

¹² EDUMIGROM for the education system (see Szalai et al., 2009), TIES for young adults from immigrant communities (see Crul & Schneider, 2009). EUMARGINS and TRESEGY providing important case study approaches for the analysis of local contexts (see Gerritsen et al., 2009)



voluntary activities. The most relevant form of political activity (apart from voting) is participation in an online forum rather than being active in parties, trade unions or NGOs. As regards young people's education for and support in participation, civic education is a mandatory school subject established in a cross-curricular way. Professional youth work relies on a distinct social work profile in open youth work while associative youth work depends largely on volunteers. In sum, youth participation in Austria seems well-organised, especially at national and regional level while at local level political priorities make a difference. At the same time counter cultures experience institutional pressure.

In *France* youth councils account for the local, the department and the national level, although less sustainably institutionalised than in Austria. Student councils are restricted to secondary schools and have minimal impact on the organisation of school life. The presence of school headteachers in council sessions and the importance of legal instruction as part of civic education suggest a paternalistic approach. This is also reflected by a youth work model of socio-cultural animation in which (at least traditionally) the organisation of 'positive' leisure time activities dominated over the provision of open spaces. At local level, participation is often interpreted as involvement of youth workers (not young people) in decision-making and is strongly dependant on political priorities. From the young people's side the degree of organisation is lower than in Austria. Only one quarter of French young people are members of any organisation in which cultural activities and arts play a major role. A mere one in eight is engaged in voluntary activities. The preference for taking part in demonstrations can be interpreted either as a resentment against the dominating paternalistic approach or as an expression of a distinct interpretation of 'the public' in French society.

In *Ireland* youth participation is implemented both nationally and locally. In spite of the title of a youth parliament access and recruitment occurs through membership in organisations rather than through elections. Where school student councils exist they are weak and hold restricted competencies. Civic education in school is conceptualised as both a separate and an integrated subject under the title of personal, social and health education, which suggests a more individualised than institutionalised approach. In Ireland youth work is a distinct professional discipline with its own qualifications. Provision is often through youth or social organisations and open approaches stand alongside more targeted preventive practice aimed at the social inclusion of young people deemed to be at risk. The meaningful participation of young people tends to be a central tenet of these organisations. Slightly more than one quarter of these young people declare themselves as members of an organisation and one out of every six is engaged in voluntary activities. NGOs are the most trusted and used means of political



articulation. Corresponding to the central role of youth and social organisations, youth participation is often referred to in terms of social capital while (due to the positive economic dynamics which has only recently started to weaken) at the same time consumerism is explicitly interpreted as a form of participation in society.

Youth participation in *Italy* is the least established among these countries. It is neither legally prescribed nor facilitated through infrastructures at a national level. If established, youth councils are restricted to the local level. In schools the situation is slightly more structured. On the provincial level in secondary education sometimes student councils do exist. Civic education in schools is integrated into the subjects of social sciences, law and economics, and/or history. As regards youth policies and youth work, they depend heavily on the local socio-economic and political climate. The most widespread local youth policy is youth information which refers to a 'user' concept of participation in relation to public institutions. Apart from this, youth work (socio-cultural animation) focuses on organising extra-curricular activities rather than providing spaces. As a reaction to this a movement of self-organised youth centres exists which overlap with alternative youth cultural scenes. The similarity with the French case is reflected by participation implying alternative political engagement, by the prevalence of membership in associations with a cultural or arts focus, and by young people prioritising participation in demonstrations as the foremost method of political activity.

Slovakia needs to be viewed from the perspective of an ongoing transformation and democratisation process. In principle, following the Austrian model is envisaged as the most appropriate means of achieving this goal by implementing youth councils at local, regional and national level and by making them sustainable by means of a legal framework. This also applies to pupil and student councils and the inclusion of civic education as a mandatory subject in the school curricula. This top-down approach is mirrored in the close relationship between the national youth council and the national youth policy. At the same time it seems to be limited to the national level while many towns or cities neither encourage the development of youth councils nor undertake a major investment in any youth policy at all.

A profile of professional youth work is still in the making, with a rather weak focus on open youth work and a stronger emphasis on youth associations and the organisation of (rather formal) extra-curricular activities in school. Young people themselves are only rarely members of organisations with a preference of youth organisations. While almost one fourth are engaged in voluntary activities, they prefer the discretion of online fora for expressing political views. In sum, the Slovak case may be interpreted as an attempt at institutionalised



democratisation. It provides opportunities for participation which however are not embedded within local contexts and youth cultures.



Table 5: National configurations of participation in Austria, France, Ireland, Italy and Slovakia

	1	ı			1
	Austria	France	Ireland	Italy	Slovakia
Dominant concepts of participation	Youth organisations Involvement in local communities Youth centres	(Alternative) Political participation Civil society Pedagogical method Participation of youth workers in decision-making	Youth (and social) organisations Consumer participation Local/national partnerships Social capital	(Alternative) Political participation Information through public administration Community psychology (social networks)	Youth organisations Political participation Involvement in local communities
Youth council	ls				
- name	youth representation	youth council	youth parliament	youth council	youth council
- level	local, regional, national	local, departmental, national	local, national	mainly local	local, regional, national
- legal frame	yes	Yes	yes	no	yes; close to ministry
- access	variable	variable	organisations	variable	organisations
Student coun	cils				
- name	Pupil/student representation	Student representative councils, councils of secondary school	Student councils	School councils, provincial student councils	School student councils
- level	All levels	Mainly secondary	Primary, secondary	Primary, secondary	Secondary
- issues	Co-decision	School life	School life	School life	School life (towards co-decision)
- sustainability	Medium – high (legal framework)	Medium	Weak	Weak	Medium
Civic education	on				
- name	Civic education	Civic, legal and social education	Social, personal and health education	Social studies	Civic education
- educ. level	Primary, secondary	Primary, secondary	Primary, secondary	Primary, secondary	Primary, secondary
- subject approach	Cross-curricular, mandatory	Separate, mandatory	Integrated and separate, mandatory	Integrated and separate	Separate, mandatory
Youth work model					
- name	Youth work	Socio-cultural animation	Youth work	Socio-cultural animation	Youth work
- legal basis	Yes	No	Yes	No	No
- dominant forms	Open youth work Associative youth work	Open youth work Associative youth work	Open youth work Social inclusion	Youth information, Extra-curricular activities	Associative youth work, Extra-curricular activities
- professional qualification	Social workers Pedagogues	Social workers	Youth workers	Social educators	Social workers
Young people's membership in organisations,voluntary and political activity					
- Total	43,4%	23,1%	28%	13,4%	11,5%
- of which most	Hobbies	Cultural, artistic	Hobby-related	Cultural, artistic	Youth
- Vol. activity	24,5%	12,5%	17,6%	15,8%	24,8%
- Polit. activity	Online forum	Demonstration	NGO	Demonstration	Online forum
Context factors					
Governance of youth policy	Comprehensive	Comprehensive	Fragmented	Comprehensive (since 2006)	Comprehensive
Age range of youth policy	0-25	0-25	5-18	15-30	15-25
Youth policy model	Protectionist	Protectionist	Community-based	Familistic	Transformation
Transition regime	Employment-centred	Employment-centred	Liberal	Sub-protective	Transformation
Welfare regime	Conservative	Conservative	Liberal	Sub-protective	Transformation
Sources: IADD	2001: Birzea et al	2004: Dürr 2004: Fu	roboromotor 2007, I	IDOVOLITH country	

Sources: IARD, 2001; Birzea et al., 2004; Dürr, 2004; Eurobarometer, 2007; UP2YOUTH country reports



The comparative analysis of structures, meanings and forms of youth participation in these five countries is obviously limited by lack of sufficient and solid data. Apart from this, an international comparison of youth policy especially suffers from the paramount importance of the local level, not only for delivery but also for implementation.

In order to explain the differences between institutional forms of youth participation it is necessary to analyse them in relation to the wider social contexts in which they are embedded, through which they are endowed with specific functions and cultural meaning. As a second step, we will therefore relate the indicative national configurations displayed above with the models of transition regimes. Due to the relevance of youth policies for configurations of youth participation the typology of youth policy models suggested by the IARD study is also taken into consideration, distinguishing a universalistic, a community-based, a protectionist and a familistic model (IARD, 2001).

Austria and France belong to the same types in terms of the employment-centred transition regime and the protectionist youth policy model. In both countries benefit entitlements are not universal but are connected to institutionally predefined pathways. However, the possibilities for self-articulation emerging from this framework are surprisingly broad in Austria while the paternalistic approach reflects a protectionist attitude towards young people in general. At the same time, the well-organised form of participation in Austria corresponds to the corporatist structures of conservative welfare regime and employment-centred transition regime.

Ireland stands for a community-based approach in youth policy which may explain the key role of NGOs and the reference to a social capital discourse, participation is less strongly facilitated by institutional structures and a legal framework. The liberal welfare and transition regime is characterised by a strong emphasis on individual responsibility. However, in the Irish case it seems balanced by a Catholic legacy of strong voluntarism. An interesting fact is that youth work is in the responsibility of the education ministry and (similar to the UK) nonformal education and youth participation are being promoted in the context of activation.

The *Italian* case is symptomatic of a structural deficit in youth policy, reflecting in turn a rudimentary welfare state in which *the family* has a central role as social 'shock absorber'. Informal channels and structures are also relevant with regard to youth participation. While a lack of youth policy structures represents a lack of recognition of young people as co-citizens it has also lead to the emergence of a dynamic third sector in which young people do articulate themselves. However, due to a lack of resources these forms are rarely sustainable.



In *Slovakia* it is obvious that authorities and organisations aim at building a model similar to the Austrian one, i.e. with protectionist and employment-centred traits. However, both the socio-cultural and also the socio-economic contexts are different (especially youth unemployment being twice as high) and the loose relationship between local, regional and national level which resulted from a rapid decentralisation process seems to undermine good policy intentions. Apart from this, it seems to be widely accepted that young Roma are excluded from participation and citizenship.

Obviously, these reflections are formulated in terms of hypothesis rather than conclusions. This is in itself the consequence of a deficit in empirical data and signposts the necessity of further research. From the perspective of this comparative analysis the *key research gaps* identified concern among others:

- information on the structures of national and local youth policy including youth services,
 youth work and the relationship and variation between national and local level;
- information on the structures of dominant forms of youth participation as well as evaluation regarding coverage, influence and effectiveness;
- the relation between policy structures, service models, young people's legal status and cultural notions of youth;
- analysis regarding the relationship between membership in organisations, forms of political articulation and institutional structures of participation;
- understanding of the different meanings of 'politics', 'policies' and 'the public', and of the
 role they play in individual biographies; the subjective experiences of different forms of
 engagement and participation need to be scrutinized more under this angle as well



3. Youth and social change

Talking about social change is a precarious endeavour because social sciences have produced a wealth of thought and theories about it and producing a short overview without leaving out important developments is nearly impossible. Therefore we concentrate on the strands of analysis that evolved around the changes in the life course which are most pertinent to the changing nature of young people's agency.

In the UP2YOUTH interim paper (Pohl, Stauber & Walther, 2007), we have distinguished between a phenomenological level of describing social change, an analytical level of explaining the driving forces of social change, and the level of dynamics of social change. On a phenomenological level, we can distinguish five different diagnostic angles pertinent to our topic of youth. First, we can start from Bauman's conception of post-modernism which stands for the end of grand ideas and the rise of individualism (Bauman, 2001). His work centers around the developments of the post-war period with its rise of mass production, the building of the welfare state and dominant technological optimism inter alia breaking down. Beck (1986) has taken these aspects of change further and added the dilemma of political steering and state interventions that consists of a break with technological optimism and introduces a view on the manageability of change as throwing light into the unintended consequences all attempts of managing change have to face. A second aspect of social change is the disembedding (Giddens, 1991) from social patterns that in former times have given (not only) young people's lives orientation through norms and values. Lash and Urry have theorised this as detraditionalisation (1994). A third vein of theorising social change starts from the meso level and emphasizes the growing role of networks as a link between individual and society (Castells, 1996) demanding a whole new set of competencies in young people's socialisation. Fourth, the rise of the network society often is seen as a complementary process to what Robertson (1998) and others have coined as "glocalisation" bringing together insights into the weakening role of the nation state and the growing importance of the local level by what has been described under the vast umbrella of globalisation processes. A fifth strand of debate bringing production conditions into play is the debate around the changes of a fordist industry model to post-fordism (Brown, 1999), which involves the move from serial mass production to different patterns of surplus creation.

Explaining the dynamics, the factors and reasons behind these phenomena is still a bit trickier. In broad brushes, we can distinguish between modernisation, (post-)marxist and



differentiation theories. The main differences between these approaches are the way they conceive of the interrelation between the different levels of change. In this respect, three levels of change can be distinguished: the macro level comprising social structures, norms, values and cultural practices, the meso level of institutions and a micro level of individuals. Therefore these approaches all differ in the way they conceive of agency. Accordingly and again in very broad brushes, they also differ in the way they link typical change media like structures, culture or technology to these levels. But none of contemporary reasoning about social change sticks to a mono-causal explanation that puts one of these in the forefront and declares all other factors as dependent.

The perception of the way change happens has changed from linear and teleological assumptions to non-linear ones where no single force determines the direction or dynamics of change. Modernisation refers to a historical process marked by secularisation, democratisation and capitalisation of society but also to social differentiation and individualisation. We conceive social change as a multi-faceted, non-linear modernisation process that has its drivers in the conflictual appropriations of technical, economic and ecological developments by societies. Late or post-modernity is characterised by a reflexive modernisation of social structures resulting from emerging risks and side-effects such as the de-standardisation of life courses and transitions and new dynamics of social exclusion. In the following, we therefore start from the general perspective of changing life courses before we present our view of young people's agency. We also assume that individualisation as a concept is over-simplistic to cover the complex relationship between autonomy and new bindings in young people's relationships. Research for a long time has conceptualised of youth as being more or less determined by these changes (cf. Galland, 1996, p. 157). Individual agency in youth research often is taken into account if it comes to risk behaviour and deviance. And accounts of exclusion, unemployment and other issues young people have to deal with, often conceptualise their role as a response to structural contradictions. In the following sections, we want to take stock of how different writers have coined young people's role in social change in order to see which understanding of modernisation processes we can develop that does neither take structures as something young people have to take for granted nor ignore the fact that processes of social change pose new challenges to individuals.

First of all a historical tour of the concept of youth has to mention its construction character: youth has always been a social construction to explain and frame certain ways of relating generation relationships to the "outer world" (Wyn & White, 1997, p. 3). It has been invented at the same time as the steam machine (Gillis, 1980). This is by no means a coincidence as it



was the mechanisms of industrialisation that made youth a necessity. Youth as a concept and a phenomenon therefore was bound to a way of transmitting values and knowledge to the younger members of society which is closely related to the beginning of the industrial age (Eisenstadt, 1956; Gillis, 1980). Of course, following the idea of a close relationship between the world of ideas and the "real" world of production and re-production, there were ideas and individuals' life circumstances which preceded the general recognition of the concept. But, it is with the general move from a feudal, agriculture-related world to a society of class and industrial production that the concept got momentum. The introduction of general education in the 19th century marked the first big step in a social phenomenon where the transmission of knowledge and values was changing from the seamless tradition to organised education. Educating children and young people meant at least to a certain extent liberating them from labour. Therefore, at first, the phenomenon of youth was limited to noble and bourgeois classes of society while it did not pertain to other parts of society. With the rise of the industrial age and the change in the organisation of labour it was evident that "natural" transmission of knowledge and values was no longer appropriate. Therefore the part liberation from working tasks reached larger parts of the younger generation. Since the introduction of compulsory public education in most parts of Europe, youth as social construction has established itself as psycho-social moratorium phase where tasks and obligations attributed to adult life where temporarily suspended (Erikson, 1959). The end of this phase was made visible by "rites de passage" (van Gennep, 1986) like markers taken over from transition rituals of the traditional society. Transition from youth into adult life therefore was clearly marked and tangible. It was conceived as the full acquisition of citizen rights and responsibilities of a full member of the adult community.

This phenomenological description still conforms with largely all models of explaining social change: it can be regarded as change resulting driven by the changes in the means of production, it can be regarded as part of functional differentiation of society and it is still compliant with idealist assumptions about the drivers of history made prominent in the Enlightenment and Romanticist era of thought. With the importance of industrial mass production growing this model of youth got more and more spread over mostly all groups of society – at least as a hegemonic cultural concept.

Scientific reasoning about youth was born much later than youth and theorized youth according to a variety of basic assumptions of society and its conflicts either as a problem of a phase in life largely uncontrolled by the state or as a time of education (Mørch, 2003). Therefore it is no wonder that modern youth policies rose as a surrogate to fill the gap



between the parental home and the disciplining time of either work, marriage or the military service.

Speaking with regulation theorists, the time after WWII saw an imposition of the capitalist logic of production and the commodification of goods onto the majority of populations in Europe. Large parts of everyday life were moving away from subsistence to commodified goods and mass consumption spread according to the growing participation on paid labour. With this turn, youth as a moratorium also became empirically enlarged to a majority of young people and at the same time differentiated. While for the first time, less privileged parts of the younger generation also benefited from a sizable liberation from early labour obligations; the expansion of education in the life course produced a protraction of biographical time spent within the educational system. The imposition of the idea of youth to large parts of societies went along the scholarly perception of the youth moratorium as a time of developmental tasks. This idea still was conceived as society imposed clear-cut expectations upon young people such as getting a qualification, allocation on the labour market, building up a relationship and founding a family. But, for the first time this also allowed theorists to conceive of youth as a societal group united by a cohort-specific common background of historical experience (e.g. the "sceptical generation" in Germany by Helmut Schelsky (1958). With the rise of the welfare state and democratic forms of government plus the introduction of mass consumption, life styles came into play as a new category of the social sciences. Youth in the 1960s was perceived as a liminal stage (Turner, 1969; Walther, 2003, p. 195) between childhood and adult life and was regarded as an innovative force by some theorists (cf. Kahane, 1997). In some Western European countries they even got the label of "spearhead" of social change, especially through the rise of youth-led, youthdominated, youth-inspired forms of political protest. At this moment again, differentiation of youth life and youth living conditions became the focus of youth research again. Cultural differentiation of youth life styles, societal divisions and cleavages as potential explanations were theorised in different ways - according to basic theoretical starting points. The prolongation of the youth phase was theorized as a de-coupling of once timely related developmental tasks: youth was coined as a life phase where these tasks were to be coped with in a certain order and sequence. With the rise of the welfare state which was organised around the employment system, life courses became institutionalised as a sequence of stages sanctioned by state policies. Although the later called "standard life course" empirically never was reached by the vast majority of people, it was still the (albeit androcentric) hegemonic idea behind much of the institutions around it.



In the late 1970s and 1980s with the end of full employment even in highly industrialised states of central Europe, this model was threatened by the polarisation of youth lives into class-based, or according to another strand of social theorizing milieu-based, fractions of those who had access to modern youth life and those who were stuck with the constraints of making a living under circumstances of scarce resources. State intervention in the form of offering opportunities and subsidies for education and training or in shaping and sanctioning the normal life course came into focus.

Mass unemployment in many European countries and the crisis of the Western European welfare states together with a turn in economics to supply-side economics weakened the role of the state in supporting the reachability the normal life course. Increasing mobility of goods, money and people fell together with the end of Fordist production (Brown & Lauder,1998). This can be seen with changes in the labour market towards the decrease of manual labour and the de-industrialisation of large parts of Europe (Brown & Lauder,1998). In the former Communist countries, privatisation and marketisation brought uncertainty to once highly regulated life courses in a very short time when the Soviet regime collapsed (Roberts & Jung 1995; Kovacheva, 2000). With the service economy becoming more important the demand for highly-skilled labour rose and education systems expanded in most European countries with growing shares of the young population staying longer in education. Youth could no longer be seen as a phase of instrumental "in order to be" definitions, but as a life phase on its own.

The transition from youth to adulthood corresponds to changes in modern industrial and post-industrial societies. As a result of the extension of education and by the diversification and individualisation of social life it has become longer and more complicated. The broadening and prolongation of education creates a specific youth life and endangers entering adulthood. Youth tends to become the only valued part in the life course. This development is analysed by Coté and others as "disappearance of adulthood" (Côté, 2000; Frønes & Brusdal, 2000; Walther, Stauber et al., 2002). Youth life is less part of a pre-defined transition structure but is divided between socially fragmented contexts (education, job, consumption, youth culture, private relationships, etc. requiring that individuals negotiate adult positions rather than simply following existing paths (Mørch, 1999). The transition process itself as well as its purpose – becoming adult – seems to be blurred as linear status passages (e.g. education to employment) are being more and more replaced by 'yo-yo'-transitions which are synchronous (education and employment) and/or reversible (education to and from employment). Once they are confronted with demands of transitions one may therefore rather refer to young adults



than to youth (du Bois-Reymond, 1998; Pais, 2000; EGRIS, 2001; Walther, Stauber et al., 2002).

These changes influence both the relation to work and family life. The "metro" man and the single woman are pictures of the (over-)individualised individual in late modernity. The markers between different age constructions tend to disappear; instead social differences according to education, interests and competence become dominant. Social and cultural capital become the markers of modern social structures and create new forms of social inequality (Furlong & Cartmel, 1997; Field, 2003; Mizen, 2004; White & Wyn, 2004). Ethnic minority youth are most at risk of marginalisation and of becoming part of the new 'underclass' in which the interrelation of deprived socio-economic background, school problems and precarious labour market integration is reproduced – and individualised (Faist, 1993; Mørch, 2001; Bendit & Stokes, 2003; Dimitri et al., 2008).

As more young people stay in education longer, the certificates acquired in education lose their labour market value. Beck talks of an "elevator effect" in this respect. With the loosening link between educational achievement and positioning in the labour market, the return on investment in education for young people became uncertain and this increased the importance of individual career decisions. Individuals according to Beck are forced to become their own "planning cell". This is mirrored on the policy side with the turn to an activation agenda and the emphasis put on lifelong learning accompanying the retrenchment of the welfare states plus the expansion of juridicial measures of control like Loïc Wacquant has shown for the US (Wacquant, 2001). These developments share a common basic idea on shifting the responsibility for social exclusion or successful inclusion to the individual level. On the individual's side, this new agenda, together with the de-traditionalisation and emancipation from social heritage make individual agency more visible and more actively demanded. Basic mechanisms of social inequality persist, but are re-defined on the individual level and partly attributed to individual's deficits, as can be analysed in the concept of "disadvantaged youth" for example (see Walther, 2003). Public policies are reacting to the destandardisation of life courses with attempts to re-standardisation. It is important to stress that de-standardisation is not the only relevant trend which makes agency a necessity. Destandardisation is currently accompanied by re-standardisation, above all when considering the field of educational transitions: a shortening of educational trajectories, a modularization of higher education has re-regulated youth life (partly in contrast to the intentions formulated in the beginning of respective programmes such as the Bologna process within the context of higher education). This is another layer of demands, which only apparently is contrasting with



de-standardisation. On the contrary, such trends of re-standardisation go along with destandardisation, and make the package of demands even more challenging. The shortening of education phases in most European countries and the prolongation of working age can be interpreted as two attempts to restandardise life courses.

What has been clarified up to now? In this chapter, the dynamics of de-standardisation of youth have been connected to a historical and conceptual development of youth research under the angle of how society organises life stages. This prepares the ground for contextualizing agency in social change. As a consequence of de-standardisation agency becomes a reflexive issue and becomes more important because of the structural distortions of the whole life-course (de-standardisation). Because transitions from youth to adulthood do not any longer – if they ever did – proceed in a smooth and foreseeable way and because these transitions are highly fragmented and above all individualized – in terms of an increasing individual responsibility for success or failure within these transitions, they need to be managed by individual agency.



4. Agency in a biographical perspective

In this section we come back to the core question: what does agency mean with regard to youth and social change? After shortly recapping on the basic theoretical problem lying behind this question, we will conceptualise agency by referring to concepts assembled from sociological and social psychological research. We do this because UP2YOUTH – besides its analysis of young people's agency in three core topics of their transitions into adulthood – also has a theoretical endeavour on its agenda: it wants to develop a theoretical perspective on how to look at agency and social change in research on youth and life course transitions, and therefore needs to explore prominent concepts – also in order to clarify its non-positivistic perspective. After this we will ask, how far did we come in our research with regard to integrating essentials of these concepts into a theoretical platform useful for further research on youth transitions and social change.

As has been outlined in the previous chapter, agency can be defined as coping with demands which derive from the complex simultaneity of de-standardized and re-standardized transitions into adulthood in terms of struggling for and creating themselves some space for having a choice or for doing something according to own ideas. Agency from the start is an issue of structured intentionality respectively of 'constrained choice' (Folbre 1994): it includes a considerable part of structural forces, without neglecting the subjectivity of its actors (young women and men themselves).

At this early point, a clarification seems to be necessary with regard to the issue of choice: when we deal with agency, we start from a rather basic idea of young people's ability to act, which goes along with the fundamental option of making a difference to the surrounding world. They decide on a very basic level if engaging in taking such an option or if refraining from such intervention. But if and how this intervention is really having some effect, if it is really making a difference, only partly can be steered by the individual. This basic assumption of a space for investing energy and activity (or not) has not to be equated with ignoring structural constraints. In this regard, one differentiation of Anthony Giddens seems to be helpful:

"... it is of the first importance to recognize that circumstances of social constraint in which individuals 'have no choice' are not to be equated with the dissolution of action as such. To 'have no choice' does not mean that action has been replaced by reaction (in the way in which a person blinks when a rapid movement is made near the eyes).



This might appear so obvious as not to need saying. But some very prominent schools of social theory, associated mainly with objectivism and with 'structural sociology', have not acknowledged the distinction. They have supposed that constraints operate like forces in nature, as if to 'have no choice' were equivalent to being driven irresistibly and uncomprehendingly by mechanical pressures" (Giddens, 1984, p. 15).

This confusion might also appear in people's self concepts. The personal horizon, as underlined by Karen Evans (2002), is structured and deeply rooted in biographical and social context, so that the question is,

"How [..] what people believe is possible for them (their personal horizons developed within cultural and structural influences) [does] determine their behaviours and what they perceive to be 'choices'? [...] Whether a person under-estimates or over-estimates their extent of control is very consequential on their experiences and socialisation" (Evans, 2002, pp. 250-251).

And still – all decisions they take, strategies they develop, and even such reasoning we will regard here as agency.

In this paper, we start from the idea, that agency always has a transformative capacity, that it potentially involves power, but that there are on the other hand institutions and dominant discourses which in the end decide upon the power given to such agency (Bauman's idea of acknowledgment), and to which individual agency could refer (strategically or not, consciously or not).

1. The starting problem is, that in youth research (as well as in youth policy), this difficult topic of agency is not adequately represented: while in late modern de-standardised transitions agency at the same time is an issue demanded by society as it is longed for by individuals, it seems to be difficult to thematise agency exactly in this ambivalence. Instead, a non-reflexive picture of youth again and again is breaking through, which can be identified in at least three versions: first, as soon as structure-related perspectives are dominating, young people appear as victims of social constraints, which force them to react in ways which themselves cause problems, because of not fitting into the normalities still expected by those societal actors and institutions which are decisive for their transitions into adulthood – e.g. as gatekeepers into transitions to qualified work. Such a perspective is far from capturing the complex reality of young people's every day coping, and at the same time far less from capturing their potentials as actors of social change: young people are 'doing' social integration on the basis of daily routines and practices, they are actively coping with structural demands, they are inventing new solutions for these demands. By doing this, they – as could be argued – of course are "doing difference" (West & Fenstermaker, 1995) in terms of reproducing social ascriptions



regarding social origin, ethnicity and gender – but perhaps they are doing difference differently, i.e. modify such ascriptions, or break them off.

Second, as a kind of counter tendency, a rational choice-bias could be found in perspectives in which young people are regarded predominantly as calculators. Such approaches are ignoring structural constraints and necessities to the same extent as they overlook biographical processes, in which motivation and will are not freely available resources but are embedded in histories of de-motivation or encouragement. They are to be found in psychological approaches to "volition", they are implied in activation policies, in which positive incentives are replaced by sanctions, and they are to be found in any idea of an opportunity cost-driven agency, as can be found in discourses around family formation. Here, it is important to keep in mind that there is never a completely free space in which young people would get rid from hierarchical structuration.

In this regard, also a *third* strand of youth research appears as too simplistic: the one which is celebrating young people's creativity and resistance, e.g. in the field of research on youth cultures, where young people sometimes appear as "heroes" or as "creators", again neglecting "*the subtle relations of power*" at play within youth cultural phenomena (Thornton 1997, p. 201), and more generally: within all youthful engagement.

These three versions of simplification indicate the challenge: young people are neither victims, nor calculators, nor free creators – instead, they unfold their agency in between such ascriptions, performing mixtures of such roles, and it would be an empirical question how these mixtures would look in different situations and under different conditions.

However, neither structural limitations nor impacts of societal discourses, nor the sceptical view on simplistic concepts of young peoples activities are valid reasons not to analyse how young people make choices within given constraints and in interaction with cultural norms (Elder, 1994). Moreover, it is exactly the complexity and also the ambivalence of agency that an up-to-date youth research has to be interested in – an endeavour in which youth research could learn from existing conceptual work on action and agency.

To put it differently: whereas a lot of youth research on the one hand is focussing on the inputs for decision-making processes, which is documented by an over-representation of value studies and studies on attitudes of young people, and on the other hand is focussing on the outcomes of such decision-making processes in terms of observable transition steps, the crucial part between input and outcome (the decision-making processes themselves), are still a



black box. As agency is exactly located in this "in-between", it should be the focus of further research.

Theoretical dimensions of agency

In the following, we analytically distinguish main dimensions in this conceptualization in order to clarify the understanding of agency subsumed in the perspective on youth as actor of social change: regarding the emergence of agency as intentional or responsive, regarding the development and/or selection of individual goals of action, regarding the way in which agency evolves and turns into concrete action, and regarding its sociality in terms of limitations through power and inequality, of being embedded in social networks and relationships, and its relevance for the reproduction and generation of social structures. These dimensions emerge from the range of concepts we have referred to because they cover exactly these aspects and therefore are useful for this theoretical endeavour of developing a concept of agency appropriate for our work.¹³ The different dimensions which will be analytically distinguished in the following sections are first of all the meaning of agency, intentionality of agency, temporality of agency (including core aspects such as routine, reflexivity and creativity) and last but not least the core dimension of its relation to structure, i.e. power and resources in the respective contexts.

The meaning of agency

What reasons (and reasoning), assessment, preferences and priorities are reflected by young people's actions and how can these be analysed and understood?

Any concept of goal-orientation at least implicitly refers to Max Weber who has focussed on rationality and purpose in his concept of 'teleological' action (Weber 1972; cf. Habermas, 1991; Joas, 1992). This also has been the ground on which theories of rational choice have been developed – especially by economists and obviously can only cover one aspect of agency. Meaning here is conceptualised in terms of maximising benefits, through weighing

_

¹³This range of concepts used for this conceptual work is selective, but selected with good reasons, taking into consideration only those concepts which imply an interplay between social structure and individual agency in analysing and explaining both processes of social integration but also individual decision making: Weber's theory of action, social interactionsm, ethnomethodology, theory of communicative action, theory of creative action, relational pragmatism, Bourdieus's concept of habitus, Giddens' theory of structuration, Bauman's concept of sociality, psychological concepts of coping and motivation and finally recent conceptualisations of identity and biographical agency. All of them are concepts which are prominent to answer the agency question not in a one-dimensional way but related to social contexts which are themselves not meant as stable but permeable and dynamic. No reference is made to theories that conceptualise human action one-dimensionally as response to external stimuli – whether these are early behaviourist psychological or purely structuralist sociological theories.



costs and benefits against each other. This can take rather crude forms such as the simple Homo oeconomicus while more differentiated ones such as RREEMM (Restricted Resourceful Expecting Evaluating Maximising Man) including also non-rational subjective and normative dimensions (Esser, 1996). Criticism against ascribing agency to rational choice refers first to the tendency of conceptualising meaning and purpose as one-dimensional and linear, second to neglecting the bounding effects of social structure, third to ignoring the question of how meaning is being generated and reproduced through action, and - fourth - above all through inter-action (Emirbayer & Mische, 1998; Archer, 2000; Strauss, 1993). As Mustafa Emirbayer and Ann Mische put it:

"...many rational choice theorists have made great strides in accounting for the contingencies and uncertainties involved in choice making (March and Simon 1958; March and Olsen 1976; March 1978), as well as in attempting to explore the role of values, norms, and other cultural elements (Elster 1989; Hechter 1992, 1994; see also the essays in Cook and Levi [1990]). However, we maintain that even these more sophisticated versions of rational actor models are still grounded in presuppositions that prevent them from adequately theorizing the interpretive intersubjective construction of choices from the temporal vantage points of contextually embedded actors" (Emirbayer & Mische, 1998, pp. 966f).

Thus, the approach of symbolic interactionists and ethnomethodologists who embed agency in a complex process of intersubjective meaning-making, appears far more appropriate to grasp meaning in young people's agency. Both approaches start from the assumption that individuals – and individual agency – constantly interact with social contexts through which meaning is generated and reproduced. Symbolic interactionists assume that all human action is based on subjective meaning, that meaning evolves from social interaction and is modified by a process of subjective interpretation (Mead, 1959). The focus therefore lies on the formative process of action and the dialectics between action and (re)production of meaning (cf. Blumer, 1969). This formative process is the origin of goals, which therefore are not supposed to be independently set by an actor. This is even more accentuated within the ethnomethodological approach with its focus on shared meaning and the fact that actions result from collective meaning in which actors and situations of action are embedded (Garfinkel, 1967; cf. Giddens, 1984).

Meaning-making needs communication and negotiation – Habermas' theory of communicative action has been inspired by symbolic interactionism and ethnomethodology and refers explicitly to Mead when distinguishing between meaning which is (re)produced by means of inter-subjective negotiation in the social life world and functional behaviour



resulting from and mediated by differentiated systems (Habermas, 1981). While he observes an increasing colonisation of subjective agency, he argues that systemic integration continues to depend on the communicative production of subjective meaning. In Strauss' Theory of Action (Strauss, 1993) this inter-active agency is of core relevance – also with regard to meaning-making. This active construction of meaning requires opportunities of intersubjective exchange in the public (public recognition, Honneth, 1992), because subjective meaning only is meaningful if also socially recognised – this is Zygmunt Bauman's point when analysing the individual in a liquid modernity (Bauman, 2000). Youth riots in the recent past, be they in the French banlieues or in the city centre of Athens, can be interpreted as active expression of longing for public attention and acknowledgement – and as a mirror of too little participation in the past.

Strauss' action theory (Strauss, 1993) also stands for defining structure as a negotiated order. Young people negotiate meaning in all their aspects of life, most visibly in participatory activities related to youth cultures, but also when finding their place within a dominant culture, or when negotiating their social positioning as young mother or young father. This interactionist understanding of meaning making implicitly refers to the policy dimension of longing for acknowledgement for such negotiated meaning making as well as longing for better facilities for transparent and symmetric negotiation. This refers back to the most important normative point in Habermas' theory: the plea for just conditions for communication so that communicative rationality only could enfold.

Meaning-making is quite differently interpreted, at least at first sight, by psychological concepts of agency: psychological theories of motivation locate the goal or meaning of action in subjective motives which originally have been primarily seen as drives or needs (e.g. Maslow, 1970). However, in the meantime there are various approaches – as for example authors concerned with the process of generating subjective interest (Vigotskij, 1962; Krapp, 2002) – who refer to interest as subject-world-relationships which emerge and stabilise (and change) over a person's life span. And the concept of intrinsic motivation explicitly refers to activities which imply an emotional involvement, as in experiences of flow (Czikszentmihaly, 1997), or as activities which are done for themselves (Bandura, 1997).

Meaning in concepts of coping was reduced to re-establish agency in terms of regaining control over the own life situation (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Zeidner & Endler, 1996). As Böhnisch argues, under conditions of individualisation and late modern uncertainty this applies more and more to all human action, that means: every action has at least as a side



effect the aim to confirm individual agency (Böhnisch, 1997), and by this to cope with basic insecurity in late modernity. The extension of the concept of coping to everyday life and biography points to implicit dimensions such as coherence, individuality and self-reflexivity (Antonovsky, 1987; Böhnisch, 1997; Keupp et al., 1999). In order to grasp not only the reactive but also the pro-active aspects of agency, coping needs to be enlarged in terms of shaping the own life in a subjectively meaningful way (Stauber, 2004). It has been Joas who has pointed to these creative aspects, which have an impact on the environment and give visibility to internal processes of meaning-making (Joas, 1992). Examples are the different meanings and the different level of relevance that work, family foundation or public engagement have for persons apart from the formally set purposes of making a living, of fulfilling roles, of achieving a political purpose. In the magnitude of symbolic production (agency) by which above all young people shape their every day life, one could find a lot of empirical evidence for such creativity. Referring to Joas' and Dewey's pragmatic thinking, Emirbayer and Mische (1999) conceptualise the dialectic process of meaning making over time: rooted in and emerging from past experiences and interactions as well as existing structures, longing for anticipated, imagined and desired future effects, and embedded in present evaluation of demands and possible action (see also Strauss 1993). From here it is close to concepts of identity and biography according to which modern identity work (or biographic work as identity work over time) implies the constant reflection of the relation between I and Me (in Meads terms). Especially under late modern conditions meaning becomes more and more fragmented so that meaning-making is an increasingly contradictory and complex process characterised by biographical dilemmas. In fact, while the life course may be seen as the structural stimulus for biographical appropriation, it does not guarantee and provide for the subjective meaning of life (any more) (Keupp et al., 1999; Mørch, 1999; Alheit & Dausien, 2000). Thereby meaning extends beyond individually set purposes but includes the structurally bound processes of meaning-making as well as the reassuring of subjective identity and biography. This has been shown by a variety of studies on young people's practices, life styles, decisions and strategies (e.g. Miles, 2000; Pais, 2003; Rattansi & Phoenix, 2005; Henderson et al., 2006; Walther et al., 2006; Walther, 2007).

Meaning-making is structured by and at the same time results in *culture* – understood here as a non-essentialist concept for analysing the meaning of practice as it evolves both individually and collectively – in social interaction. Implicitly, we stick to the approaches which have come up in cultural theories in the 80s, in which the core question has been: How does culture become social practice (Hörning & Reiter, 2004; Schatzki, et al., 2001)? Culture, as has been



outlined in the UP2YOUTH interim report (Pohl et al., 2007) embodies sets of practices developed by groups, communities or societies. These sets of practices are the totality of social actions which are interlinked within a given social context and which share values, principles and norms. Thereby they represent the repertoire from which individuals construct meaning and relate it to their new ideas and their own forms of practice, which enter the sets of practices available in future. Relating agency to cultural change also implies that practices and meanings might change, or that established and new forms of agency coexist and compete with each other. Thus, culture is also an issue resulting from young people's agency. Concerning transitions into young parenthood, young people's agency is dealing with a reconciliation of youth cultural life styles and new roles as fathers and mothers, and much agency is focussed on struggling for a new and more fitting (gendered) imagery. Therefore young people are belonging to (and depending on) culture and at the same time they are doing culture. Concerning civic participation, young people engage in a series of participatory activities, most of them deriving from their immediate needs and practices. This means that by engaging in social life young people often are inventing news forms of social engagement - and the crucial question here is indeed the one of public acknowledgement (Bauman). Concerning their transitions to work into a migration context respectively within a dominant culture, they are inventing a new social placing (the "third chair", cf. Badawia, 2002), by which they are picking up elements of the different cultural surroundings they are living in.

In sum, the analysis of individual action can not simply start from preset goals (such as family orientations, political values and attitudes towards participation, work orientations) but has to include the analysis of how subjective meaning emerges from contextualized experiences of individual action. This includes experiences of interaction and (collective) meaning-making via "doing culture".

Intentionality of agency

The discussion of meaning referring to the direction of purposeful agency is closely related with the dimension of intentionality, that is the question for the source and origin of human agency. What makes young people act? Do they act because of external demands (and do they act in specific ways due to external constraints) or do they act because they want to act? Where can intentionality be located?

Some approaches conceive human action as determined by either internal (drives and needs, e.g. Maslow, 1970) or external (structural) forces, others ascribe individuals an intrinsic will to act. However, while apart from early behaviourist approaches there are no concepts of



agency that would completely deny individual intentionality, some others are either not interested in the question or focus on the structural limitations of intentionality.

Giddens (1984) discerns between motives and reflexive regulation. Motivation means the potential of agency, the underlying, partly unconscious programme, whereas intentionality corresponds with the self-reflexive regulation of behaviour in concrete situations. This refers to symbolic interactionist and ethnomethodological concepts according to which persons meet "a flow of situations in which they have to act (.) on the basis of what they note, how they assess and interpret what they note, and what kind of projected lines of action they map out" (Blumer, 1969, p. 16). Identification of situations as requiring action as well as selecting practices as appropriate in these situations does not necessarily refer to subjective motivation but primarily results from the collective meaning making (and practice) a person shares with his or her community and which is reproduced through culture and socialisation. Symbolic interactionists and ethnomethodologists give more importance to the fact that human beings are socialised into routines and enter situations which are structured by and allow only for a certain range of cultural practices without the risk of being excluded (or excluding oneself) from a 'community of practice' (Wenger, 1998; cf. Garfinkel, 1967). Also if individuals either misunderstand or refuse implicit demands (or opportunities) they indirectly refer to them in their actions; or they re-work and thereby change them (Leccardi, 2005b).

This is even more accentuated in the case of Bourdieu according to whom a social field does not only predetermine (or exclude) what can be perceived, interpreted, thought and wanted in a given situation but explicitly includes the resources (capital) which are at disposal for the actor to realise certain intentional aims. He actually speaks of 'intentionless intentions' (Bourdieu, 1977).

From a pragmatic point of view (and very much in line with Giddens), also Joas develops a non-teleological view of intentionality. He argues first that the restriction to purposeful, rational agency implies that neither routine nor intrinsic action are subsumed under agency. Instead he follows Dewey in differentiating between self-chosen and externally induced goals of action. Second, by this reduction action gets separated from cognition inasmuch as the appraisal of meaningful purpose and rational means precedes action and thereby excludes reflexivity. Third, it separates action from the body as the place or centre of action. In sum, he conceptualises intentionality as the self-reflexive regulation of continuing behaviour (Joas, 1992; cf. Emirbayer & Mische, 1998). Means and goals are in a reciprocal relationship (availability of means may raise awareness of meaningful goals). A key concept for him is the



'situation' which stands in a 'quasi-dialogue' with the physical process of action. He quotes Böhler: "Without even vague goal dispositions which are given ante actu in the form of needs, interests or norms, no event will appear to us as a situation but will remain meaningless and mute". (Böhler, 1985, p. 272)

The body-mind-relation is even more accentuated by Strauss: "No action is possible without a body (...) [a phrase, BS] so patently banal that social scientists implicitly assume it, but few follow through very far on its implications" (Strauss, 1993, p. 23). For Strauss, who puts this as the first of his 19 assumptions in his Theory of Action, above all aspects of the body in their relationships with interaction are of interest – an issue which is extremely relevant in youth research. Youth, as the age group most engaging in bodily expressions, also do this in their political engagement, in their transitions to work, in their negotiations of culture and ethnicity, gender and identity.

As mentioned already, the pragmatic approach builds (and actually has been) a bridge towards psychological concepts of motivation. Motivation theory starts from internal motives and needs as the driving powers of human action distinguishing as well between internal and external goals. As a second perspective however these are combined with the individual's expectation to fulfil them by their own action, that is by reflexive assessment and ascription. Here, social factors can be taken into account, yet without removing the origin of action from the individual personality. This applies also to approaches of critical psychology (Holzkamp 1993; Osterkamp-Holzkamp, 1975). Recent developments towards a "psychology of volition" even rediscovered the category of 'will' (s.g. Heckhausen & Heckhausen, 2006).

Within the concept of coping intentionality might be seen as a demand deriving from external, stressful causes as much as emerging from a deeply rooted need (or will) to stay in control over the own life situation (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Böhnisch, 1997). In fact, under conditions of de-standardised life courses individuals needs and efforts to not only cope with but also to negotiate the shaping of their lives in a meaningful way becomes both more visible and necessary. The diversity and multitude of young people constantly performing and revising life styles stand for the increased complexity and contradictions in (re-)presenting themselves in a way which is both self-expressive and 'cool'; whether these are forms of family formation and parenting, participation or education and work (Heinz, 2002; Marshall et al., 2003; Stauber, 2004; Rattansi & Phoenix, 2005; Henderson et al., 2006).



Temporality, routine, reflexivity and creativity:

Until now we have been concerned with the questions where individual agency is rooted and where it is directed. The following section is concerned with the question how it evolves - how it is linked to and embedded in a person's development over time. Do young people act out of routine or in a self-reflexive way? How can they act at all under conditions of late modern uncertainty in which routines developed in the past do no longer match present demands while future perspectives are blurred?

The temporal structure of agency has been elaborated most profoundly by Emirbayer and Mische (1998) who – starting from Dewey's work – operationalise agency in a temporal and relational perspective (see also Strauss, 1993). Agency is the "temporally constructed engagement by which actors of different structural environments – the temporal-relational contexts of action – which, through the interplay of habit, imagination and judgement, both reproduces and transforms those structures in interactive response to the problems posed by changing historical situations" (Emirbayer & Mische, 1998, p. 970). As key temporal dimensions of agency they distinguish:

- Iteration: the effects of the past in forming stable habits such as routine (Garfinkel, Giddens) and incorporated structure (Bourdieu). Key elements are selective attention, typification and recognition of types, categorical location, manoeuvre among repertoires and the maintenance of expectations; here they identify close links with life course research (cf. Kohli, 1985; Marshall et al., 2003);
- Projectivity: future orientation in the sense of the imagination of scenarios. Key elements are anticipatory identification (motivation theory; e.g. Bandura, 1997; identity and life plans, Giddens, 1991; Keupp et al., 1999), narrative construction, symbolic recomposition, hypothetical resolution, and experimental enactment (Dewey, Joas, 1996); a relation to empirical research lies in a persons' time perspectives (see Leccardi, 2005a);
- Practical evaluation: the necessity to make judgements and take decisions within present situations which are perceived as requiring action. Key elements are problematization, characterization, deliberation, decision and execution (see coping, Zeidner & Endler, 1996; Böhnisch, 1997).

The framework idea of a (varying) interplay of (temporal) dimensions of agency turned out to be highly relevant - e.g. in the topic of transitions into parenthood: within daily coping of future young parents, within their transition to parenthood as well as within the whole



management of their daily life after the transition has taken place. At any stage of these transitions into parenthood past, present and future intermingle and influence each other: iterative moments sticking to traditional models and normalities of parental roles and family traditions, but also to role models beyond "tradition" and to individual biographical experiences have their influence on young women's and men's agency in present and future. The conditions for present coping and respective daily routines and experiences of course colour memories as well as future prospects. Self-concepts of young women and men, their ideas about intimate relationships, the way they sketch their lives and see themselves in the nearer or farer future, how they evaluate their near and far life perspectives all depend upon the conditions of today. How they deal with contingencies, how they manage their life, if and how they fall back to (gendered) role conceptions in order to achieve some security or how they resist such stereotypes are all important factors. Structural factors have their impact on the present, the past and the future dimension, and so does the (changing) imagery of fatherhood and motherhood, framing the context in which concrete actions take place.

Intentionality and subjective meaning as well as incorporated habitus are thus related and identified at different stages of the process of action. While the past tends to determine agency by existing structures and past experiences, the necessity to project agency towards a meaningful future and to act in – often unclear – present situations both qualify and counterbalance past influences and open opportunities for individual interpretation and action. Here is another window for theorizing agency in relation to social change: much more than Bourdieu's concept of habitus which conceptualises the past as incorporated (also in physical terms) and thereby almost as a totalising impact on individual agency, Giddens (1984), who stresses the aspect of routine as a mechanism to reduce complexity, uncertainty and contingency in mutual human agency across time and space, allows for change and variation, especially where social structures provide interstices and niches (e.g. transitions as 'wild zones' of life course regimes (Kelly, 1999) or 'hot' areas (Lévi Strauss, 1961) of social integration, as which all three topics of UP2YOUTH can be characterized).

Temporality appears to be an important element of a "realistic" concept of agency, which is as open for binding structures as it is for change. Implicitly, it is also included in a biographical perspective (Schütze, 2003), and in career-concepts such as learning careers or motivational careers (Walther et al., 2006). Biography means reconstructing and balancing the past, imagining, inventing, outlining and planning the future and coping with present demands in a way that past and future are connected through meaning and continuity (Alheit & Dausien, 2000). This coincides with an understanding of biography as processes of identity work over



time (Keupp et al., 1999). Biographical agency includes a self-reflexive relation of internal and external aspects of one's own development. Only by such self-reflection, Joas would argue, creative aspects of agency are possible which constantly question, challenge and transcend existing routines and structures (Joas, 1992).

As agency may vary from situation to situation in this chordal triad of past, present and future, *learning* comes into focus as a central concept. To acquire new practices (or un-learning old habits), it is important to achieve agency, but it is not certain that a proceeding situation can be managed in the same way or if it needs again learning new ways to cope with difficulties or to invent new situations. These new ways could look similar to traditional ones, but as long as we do not have knowledge about the negotiation processes going on before and after presumably "traditional" solutions, we cannot evaluate them as such.

Learning is always situated learning (Lave&Wenger), embedded in communities of practice, and in socially defined situations across the lifespan (Biesta & Tedder, 2007). More specifically: In all three topics, learning means: coping with simultaneous lifecourse transitions, coping with unforeseeable situations, coping with the paradox of life planning. In all three topics, learning is risk-management respectively gaining risk competence. In all three topics, learning is closely related to (de-)gendering strategies, or more generally: has an impact in terms of de-constructing ascriptions – be they related to gender, or to ethnicity, or to any fixed idea of what political articulation should look like. These dynamics probably are important driving forces – most obviously for familial development processes, but perhaps also for the participation issue, and for social change in general.

In sum, understanding action as temporal and socially embedded allows us to identify the relationship between structural influences as well as intentional aspects. It also allows us to overcome the separation between acting and the emergence of the meaning of acting. Furthermore, it differentiates various dimensions of agency whereby individuals can be conceived of as intentional, self-reflexive and learning actors without neglecting the relevance of external influence.

Structure and agency: power and resources, contextualisation and structuration

Young people's agency is seen as restricted regarding their access to resources such as money or social contacts, and also restricted by older age groups, while among youth also general structural categories of social inequality (class, education, gender, ethnicity and region) account for differences and divisions. The question is to what extent structural constraints can



restrict choice among alternatives so that one can no longer speak of intentional agency. Bourdieu's perspective on incorporated limitations (or possibilities) emerging from social fields comes close to mechanistic concepts according to which external forces directly transform into (limited) agency. However, the question would be if – following his perspective on the reproduction of inequality – different habitus are more or less restricted and pre-determined and/or leave different scope for realising creative and intentional agency (Bourdieu, 1990). In contrast, Giddens assumes a dialectic of domination, that means that all forms of dependency give access to resources of action which may also influence the relationships of dependency themselves (Giddens, 1984). Both Giddens' theory of structuration (1984) and Foucault's theory of power (1976) refer to power in the first place as the capability to interfere into the external world, to make a difference. In this regard it is a fundamental requirement of any action and subjectivity.

Approaches of rational action have more problems in grasping the limiting impact of social structure as their methodological individualism denies the possibility of relating individual actions to collective structures and thereby allows only for indirect relations between structure and agency. Esser's introduction of the dimension of conflict (between the interests of competing actors) has to some extent weakened the effects of methodological individualism, yet without getting grips on the relationship between structure and agency itself (Esser, 1996). It still ignores, that issues such as motivation are not a personal disposition, which simply is awake or has to be awakened by certain incentives, "but rather evolves from experiences within social contexts. The fact that access to subjectively meaningful goals a well as to resources, skills and experiences of control are interrelated with social structure justifies the reference to a social inequality of motivation" (Walther, 2009, i.pr.).

While psychological concepts normally do not focus on structural aspects of agency, they do not necessarily contradict a dialectic relationship between structure and agency. As regards motivation, the generation of subjective interest can be seen as dependent on a person's social position (access to meaningful person-world-relationships). This is even more obvious with regard to the second factor of motivation: the perception of being in control over one's actions or the feeling of self-efficacy (Bandura, 1997). Positive experiences of effective and successful action are closely related to social structure and thereby suggest the introduction of the perspective of social inequality of motivation. In this regard, critical psychology argues that actors have to accept externally induced goals of action – to a larger or minor extent according to their social position (Osterkamp-Holzkamp, 1975).



Obviously, the agency of young people is influenced by and related to peers, families, communities, institutional or economic actors – and therefore is constantly negotiating competing influences. Rational choice theories only take into account others as competitors or as facilitators for resource mobilisation (Coleman, 1990; Esser, 1996; cf. Archer 2000), but also psychological concepts such as motivation and coping under-estimate social context by referring predominantly to the level of individual experience and behaviour. However, motivation emerges from experience with meaningful relationships with the world and with achieving or not achieving own goals through one's actions, experiences which are structured by and embedded in social relationships (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Bandura 1997). Also coping strategies - not only by relying on social support and networks - are socially learned, shared and can be empowered by social milieux (Böhnisch, 1997).

Social context is prominent in the ethnomethodological perspective which regards each single act as resulting from and being embedded in the social context which is on the one hand to be seen as a repertoire of routines and shared meanings while on the other hand it is the life world in which individuals form their identities - through acting (Garfinkel, 1967). The parallel with symbolic interactionism is obvious. Actors meet a flow of situations in which they are confronted with opportunities and expectations to act. These situations provide the interactions which are the basis of the socialisation process. They transport potential meaning while they require (and allow) subjective interpretation as well (Blumer, 1969).

Interactionist perspectives stressing the importance of social contexts - without undermining the subjectivity of actors - of course have also been relevant for Habermas' theory of communicative action (Habermas 1981). Here – similar to Giddens theory of structuration – the ambivalence of social context is referred to as limiting (in Habermas, case functional systemic integration or colonisation) and enabling (the social life world where subjectivities are formed through reciprocal recognition; see Honneth, 1992). Concepts of identity point in a similar direction. Individuals meet role expectations which they can not disregard without risking to lose recognition and to weaken their social position. However, identity requires identification which means integration of values and meaning into the own self. Thus, identity is not a singular, individualistic endeavour. In fact, belonging to social communities providing recognition and access to practice is one of the key aspects of identity, and this implies different qualities of families, peers, schools, or the work place with regard to different actions (communities of practice, Wenger, 1999).



Social contexts always entail enabling but also limiting aspects, i.e. by regulating access to the resources necessary to acquire them; or: inasmuch as resources are limited also possibilities to think, imagine and perform identities (habitus) are restricted (Bourdieu, 1979). This is stressed by Bourdieu's concept of social capital referring to social contacts that are more or less convertible into economic or cultural capital. The big progress of a biographical perspective here is to imply a dialectic between individual subjectivity and sociality – whether this is the cultural repertoire of 'biographical normality' or the restricted and unequal access to resources for biographical construction (Alheit & Dausien, 2000). Individualisation is "transforming human identity from a given into a task" and charging the actors with the responsibility for performing that task (Bauman, 2000, p.31; cf. Rattansi & Phoenix, 2005). Sociality bridges the interactive aspects of social relationships but also the resources and opportunities to which social structures give or deny access; or in Giddens' terms: social structure limits but also enables agency. Bauman argues that the question of how agency is achieved cannot be understood by focusing exclusively on the ability of individuals to give direction to their lives. Bauman's definition of agency includes (a certain amount of) control over the conditions that shape opportunities for action. Leccardi (2005b) sees a relation between intentionality and sociality by differentiating between responsibility and responsiveness. Responsibility not only means the ability to respond (including the autonomous decision to respond) but also awareness and consciousness for the consequences of own actions; in contrast to intuitive, mechanic – or one-dimensionally purpose related – responsiveness. This may include also the awareness for the social embeddedness and interdependency of individual agency which is especially relevant in the young people's informal networks (Walther et al, 2005).

If we now ask: How can young people's agency (and how can any individual's contribution to social change) be conceptualized? – we have to concentrate on those approaches, which are fitting to the level of reflexivity of a late modern society with de-standardised life-courses. Corresponding with the ambiguity of societal demands to late modern young people (to be flexible and mobile, inventive and pro-active, but at the same time keen on using given resources and bonds), are concepts which are open for routine but also for dynamics, and which point to the interactive production of both routine and change, as do ethnomethodology, symbolic interactionism, social constructivism: The shift from asking 'what (is different?)' to 'how (difference is made?)' has deeply influenced theories which conceptualize gender (and other social categories) as a result of processes of classification, categorization and validation (cf. West & Zimmerman, 1987). Also Giddens' idea of a



"duality of structure" is open for such change: Social structures consist of (partly constraining) rules, but also of enabling resources. They are dynamic and agency-driven. Structures differ in their rigidity or fluidity which means that — despite of traditions, institutions, moral codes, and established ways of doing things — these structures can be changed when people start to ignore them, replace them, or reproduce them differently (Giddens, 1984). This dialectic relationship, which includes change, is also to be found within communicative action (Habermas), within structure as a negotiated order (Strauss), or within Joas' theory of creative action. And it is considered in biographic analysis, where the dialectics between subjectivity and inter-subjective recognition have been phrased as the sociality of the biography and the biographicity of the social (Alheit & Dausien, 2000; cf. Apitzsch, 1990).

Summing up the essentials of our walk through its core dimensions, agency is regarded as the principle ability of human beings to make choices, to take decisions and to act in an autonomous way. Motives of action are rooted in subjective (and physiological) needs and interests, they are learned from social interaction and experience, and they are simulated by concrete situations which individuals interpret as relevant and related to their subjective motives. In this sense, agency implies neither the autonomous actor isolated from social influence nor complete freedom of choice but instead implies choice that is restricted by the constraints of social inequalities and differentiations, such as gender, age, social belonging, ethnicity etc. Also, agency is not restricted to actions which are perceived subjectively meaningful by the actor and socially acknowledged by his or her social environment. One might argue that exceptions such as risk behaviour or deviant behaviour, resilience or inventive life styles reflect the principle ability of individuals to act upon own decisions, yet in terms of "constrained choice", as in the example of the choice between continuing with education which is experienced as alienating without guaranteeing a bright future – and dropping out.

We look at agency as interconnected with individual processes of identity and biography which are rooted in past experiences and in different social contexts providing different (unequal) resources and opportunities in discovering subjective interest, in developing personal goals and in acquiring competencies required for realising them. At the same time, individuals do and have to imagine themselves in the future, a future which is not free of structural influence but yet open and uncertain. Imaginations mean how individuals want to see themselves in the future which is a mixture of reproducing and transgressing past experiences. Past experience and future imagination are interrelated in how individuals



interpret present situations in terms of being relevant with regard to subjective motives, in terms of requiring action or not, in terms of decision-making in a particular direction and of being controllable by individual action.

These interpretative and interactive moments connect agency with *culture*, defined as a dynamic system of interpretations and practices, which are both shared (and contested) in interactive relationships and interpreted (and expressed) individually. The temporal dimension of identity and biography connects agency with *learning* defined as the more or less formalised and more or less conscious reflexivity through which individuals internalise experiences in terms of (sometimes 'tacit' but yet physically internalised) knowledge and transform them into practical skills and a repertoire of actions.

Learning and culture therefore are able to serve as keys for coming closer to young people's agency – as keys which are apt to consider these theoretical considerations, but also to explore the field of empirical findings. Both are meant as intermediate concepts between structure and agency, shedding light on their complex dialectical relationship.

In order to sum up what we find important for our work, we will quote colleagues from a project which also related to agency in the life course:

"Agency is not something that people have; it is something that people do. It denotes a 'quality' of the engagement of actors with temporal-relational contexts-for-action, not a quality of the actors themselves. We might therefore characterise such an understanding of agency as an ecological understanding in that it focuses on the ways in which agency is achieved in transaction with a particular context-for-action, within a particular 'ecology'" (Biesta & Tedde, r 2007, pp. 136f.).

The following thematic discussions relate to social change through young people's agency by using the core accesses of "culture" and "learning". Empirical findings regarding the three thematic issues will be used in order to further develop our understanding of agency as potential social change.



5. Young people's agency and changes in family, work and citizenship

Agency is never abstract but always related to specific issues, goals and situations in young people's lives. In the following chapter, we will develop the reflections on young people's agency and social change by relating them to the findings of the three thematic working groups on young parenthood, transitions to work of young people with a migrant or ethnic minority background and on youth participation. We will analyse to what extent findings of the thematic working groups with regard to these areas confirm, contradict or differentiate the assumptions made in Chapters 2 and 3. Rather than summarising the thematic reports exemplary findings are referred to. The following sections are structured according to key dimensions of agency which have been dealt with in the thematic reports while also corresponding to the theoretical dimensions developed in the previous chapter. Inasmuch as the basis of data differed across the themes the sections will be more or less exhaustive on single dimensions. The following dimensions will be addressed:

- Range of different actions and activities: what does the diversity of young people's decisions and strategies with regard to parenthood, transitions to work in contexts of migration and ethnic minority or participation tell about young people's scope for agency?
- *Influence of social contexts*: how and to what extent do social contexts social structures as well as social networks influence, constrain, inhibit or enhance agency?
- *De-standardised transitions*: what is the influence of interdependency, simultaneity, reversibility and biographical dilemmas in young people's transitions on their agency?
- Development of young people's agency in temporal perspective: how are young people's decision-making processes and actions structured by past, present and future?
- *Meaning of young people's agency*: what do young people's actions and activities tell us about individual and collective meaning-making processes?
- *Learning and agency*: to what extent do young people's learning processes reveal aspects of agency and where and what do they learn regarding family, work and citizenship?
- Parenthood, transitions to work and participation as agency: what dimensions of autonomy, reflexivity and negotiation can be identified in young people's actions?
- Agency and structuration: (how) do young people's actions contribute to social change?



5.1 Agency in transitions into parenthood

The following section extracts those of the findings from the Thematic Report on Transitions into parenthood (du Bois-Reymond et al., 2008) which clarify the basic idea of agency. The guiding question is: what could we learn from investigating transitions into parenthood for the refining of "agency"? This question cannot be separated from asking, how an integrative concept of agency could help to develop further a gender–sensitive theory on transitions into parenthood, and how it could promote also a gender-sensitive research on the topic.

Although on the EU- as well as the OECD-level, and of course on national levels, a wealth of statistical material on the topic has been assembled (see Eurostat, 2008; European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, 2007; OECD, 2007; Vassilev & Wallace, 2007; Gstrein, 2007), there are not so many studies appropriate for our interest in agency with regard to transitions into parenthood – even if 'culture' and 'learning' revealed to be appropriate keys. Instead, there has to be read between the lines, against the stream, and on the level of 'subtexts' of a big body of research, in order to work out the implications of these findings with regard to agency.

Range of different actions and activities

First: Against the background of ever more riskful, insecure and reversibly transitions into adulthood, agency of young people in transitions into parenthood results in a broad range of different strategies: they handle the fact of riskful transitions into paid work either by consciously delaying parenthood longer than they would like to because they are not economically independent, or they become parents early in order to organize for themselves a kind of adult status (teenage parenthood). Or they take an obviously riskful option and dare the transition into parenthood without having accomplished education or vocational training, without having a stable relationship, without having any security about care arrangements. It is important to note that the first option is not only taken by young people with better educational prerequisites, but also by those who for long periods do not achieve any stability in their economic situation. And it is important to note that also among higher educated young people there are those who dare to reconcile their ongoing educational transitions (e.g. their university studies) with transition into parenthood. We argue that the whole range of strategies among family formation - be they delaying, renouncing, consciously or unconsciously risking an (early) parenthood – is testimony of agency in transitions into parenthood.



Second: also the discrepancy between the number of desired and realised child births, which can be found in all our countries, on all educational levels (see Jenson, 2006), point to agency inbuilt in decision-making processes, in which young people do negotiate with their subjective wishes and with systemic constraints, labour market conditions, and conditions provided by the state and the public at large. This discrepancy between the number of desired and realised child births has to be coped with on the level of individual identity building as well as on the level of partnership development. The longing for some economic stability before becoming fathers, and respectively mothers (young women who are increasingly aware of the necessity to achieve an independent professional status before family foundation) is one answer in the scope of agency regarding transitions into parenthood – an answer which itself could cause conflicts in relationships, which consequently have to be actively managed.

Third: In all countries, considerable changes have taken place in gender relationships, and the range of possibilities of being father or being mother is as open as ever: On the one hand, taking care of children is now also much more of an issue for young men. 'New fatherhood' has become part of a gendered discourse although the symbolic representation of new fatherhood is pretending to be more a reality than can be found e.g. in statistics on parental leave. New gender imageries in this regard are the avant-garde of every day practices, but these every day practices often are much more advanced as policies – with different paces in our research countries. This shows that structure interferes without completely determining agency. On the other hand, new images of the omni-competent multitasking super women are putting young mothers under considerable pressure, because of the same lack of facilitating conditions. Agency in this regard can be located in successfully coping with this pressure.

Fourth: in all countries, the birth of the first child implies a slipping back to more traditional gender roles, even if the couples had organized their lives on a cooperative basis. If before there was time for negotiating divergent interests, as soon as the child is born parents slip into chronic time shortage and apparently old models of the distribution of household duties reemerge; obviously the different labour situation plays a major role in this respect. Time budget studies carried out in various countries show persistently that women, gainfully employed or not, work (much) more hours in the household and take care of the children in comparison to men (Gershuny, 2000; Portegijs et al., 2006; Fthenakis et al., 2002). So, even if it has become widely accepted that fatherhood is undergoing significant changes and that 'new fathering' has replaced more traditional versions, the 'new father' remains rather opaque. On the other hand, there is some empirical evidence that fathers would like to be more involved in the fathering process: institutional changes (and also changes in working cultures in firms)



often seem to be slower than changes in attitudes and everyday cultures. Also this has to be regarded as a strong indicator of agency.

Thus, regarding the range of strategies a big variety can be found on how young women and men are doing family. This agency cannot simply be labelled as traditional or as innovative; instead, and as far as spurious studies show, it is full of ambivalences, in which some traditional solutions are picked up but re-worked into a modernized understanding, or in which young people consciously seem to slip back into traditional ways to do family (but struggle against it). Unless we do not have insights in all these decision-making and negotiation-processes young people undergo, the question if their solutions are 'traditional' or 'modern' simply cannot be answered.

Influence of social contexts

It is above all, labour market structures that hinder or influence young people's agency in their transitions to parenthood. Against the background of a general awareness that relationships often do not last forever, both partners increasingly are keen on achieving, maintaining or developing some position in the professional system. Women and men are confronted with latent hierarchies in terms of gendered earning or career systems, or with too less flexibility as regards part time work – all such constraints could foil ideas for an equal share of care work. As the Transitions Project shows (Brannen et al., 2002), the context of the workplace is decisive for realizing options of a work-life-balance, even if the latter is high on the political agenda, as in Sweden (see Bäck-Wiglund & Plantin, 2007). Such findings point to the time-lag which exists between the so-called private life, institutions and official policies, but at the same time point to some resilience in opting for solutions *against* structural conditions.

So, agency evolves within (bad) conditions for the reconciliation of training, education, and gainful employment with young parenthood, together with the different drawbacks it implies for an equal work according to different frameworks of family and gender policies in Europe; it evolves within the shaping of intergenerational relationships while becoming and being parents, especially when going along with poverty, housing problems, and social exclusion in various European regions; it evolves in coping with the new normalities as "competent parents" within a new imagery on motherhood and fatherhood. Within these contexts, agency also evolves in processes which slowly but surely rework gender relationships and the public—private divide (see Jurczyk & Oechsle, 2006).



There have been identified crucial contextual (agency- and policy-relevant) areas for transitions into parenthood, which limit or open the options for young parents to lead a decent life – via labour market facilities but as well via benefits for parental leave, housing facilities, and facilities within the field of childcare, in which not only mere existence and affordability counts, but also the quality and above all the matching of crèche hours with working hours (time policy).

From all national research overviews developed for UP2YOUTH it becomes clear that forming a family is increasingly perceived by young people as a choice that entails risk that they themselves have to shoulder. In none of our countries – independent of transition regime – it seems that the cohorts of expectant parents do not feel sufficiently supported by official policies or institutions. Instead, they have to seek and find support from their parents and other kin. Evidently, the less institutional support, the more young parents are dependent on their family of origin; where intergenerational solidarity must compensate for a lack of state engagement.

However, comparative analysis also shows that policies are perceived by young parents according to the general level of discourse or policy context: rather high levels of dissatisfaction with family policies among young Swedish women are testimony of a higher level of expectations (because of a higher level of self-understood gender policy).

Young people's choices and decision-making processes are embedded in informal networks (families and peers). Intergenerational relationships, instead of getting looser, are getting closer again when young people are becoming parents – a process which is not always happening voluntarily: particularly in countries with little state support, the parent generation has to support their offspring by providing housing, caring for their grandchildren, and give emotional and financial support; for most young people the reconciliation of parenthood and work would be plainly impossible without that intergenerational resource. This throws light on important omissions and failures in state family policies, and highlights the importance of time policy. However, it also sheds light on active networking on doing family as an intergenerational project. This already could be shown in the FATE study (Biggart, 2005), in which transitions into work of young people – albeit with different solutions – appeared as an inter-generational project. This strong intergenerational interdependency seems to be even reinforced with regard to transitions into parenthood.

The same applies to informal networks among young parents. Agency with regard to such peer networks often develops long before a baby is born. Already during pregnancy young



parents get into contact with other expectant parents, often leading to a broadening of existing networks. Young prospective parents engage in such networks, in which highly relevant information is exchanged – about childcare facilities, about parental leave, part-time work or flexible work schedules, about successful negotiations with employers etc. – but also concrete resources of mutual support are generated: informal networks of childcare in bigger cities, fathers networks, networks on a large range of needs around early parenthood. By this, young parents develop new forms of sociality – and potentially also new structures, if they manage to transform informal networks into sustainable informal or even formal (infra-)structures.

De-standardised transitions and their influence on young people's agency?

Riskful and insecure transitions implicitly refer to agency: If the reversibility of transitions (yoyoisation, EGRIS 2001) represents a latent risk-structure for life course transitions in general, this is even more so for transitions into parenthood. When it comes to family foundation both young women and men find themselves on a high level of uncertainty – regarding job security, professional prospects, the stability of their relationship and the stability of support systems to ensure reconciliation of paid work and family work.

The simultaneity of various transitions is becoming more and more a problem and subsequently a challenge for young people's agency: the crucial phase in professional careers in which a high level of flexibility and mobility is demanded and in which the need for additional qualification steps emerge (see JobMob-Project) is most often the phase in which family formation takes place. The respective demands are highly contradictive, so that they most often only can be resolved if either family formation is postponed or if one partner renounces a career with such demands. To cope with the "rush hour of life" (Bertram et al., 2005) becomes a more and more important challenge for young people. Agency thus gets visible in all versions of coping this challenge – either in choosing one of the options (family or career), or in trying to find an arrangement of doing one after the other (which is almost impossible), or in trying to find a reconciliation (which often includes an unequal share between the partners).

The simultaneity of transitions is accompanied by the potential reversibility of transitions, which causes the specific cocktail of uncertainties which have to be coped with by young people. However, as soon as young people have decided to become parents, reversibility and uncertainty add a different dimension. Agency can be hindered by structural forces (see above): the question, if a young father or a young mother who became unemployed can enhance his of her chances by following a new study course not only depends upon individual



agency, and cultural and social capital, but also from social policy and infrastructures in the respective society in order to facilitate such an option – economically as well as with regard to its organisation.

Dealing with the paradox of planning – which means: facing the contingencies of an open and uncertain future, but nevertheless having to plan this future as well as possible – is one of the biggest demands for young people, and even more so for young parents (Leccardi 2009). This demand is in itself full of contradictions. Agency evolves in dealing exactly with these inherent contradictions deriving from a notorious open future – on an individual level as well as on the level of partnership. This requires trust in the pay-off for their individual investment in further qualification as well as trust in the sustainability of their relationship.

Development of young people's agency in temporal perspective

Understanding action as temporal and socially embedded allows us to identify the relationship between structural influences as well as intentional aspects. It also allows us to overcome the separation between acting and the emergence of the meaning of acting. This makes approaches inspired by symbolic interactionism and ethnomethodology especially fruitful for our topic. Further it differentiates various dimensions of agency whereby individuals can be conceived of as intentional and self-reflexive actors without neglecting the relevance of external influence and of inter-active negotiation (with partners, with parents, with peers). This temporality of agency, and the strongly interwoven dimensions of (reworking) past, (projecting) future and (coping with) present challenges is extremely convincing with regard to transitions into parenthood. It could serve as an interpretative horizon for integrating diverse and often un-connected findings, such as findings regarding the prospects of young women and men regarding their future plans and practices as young parents.

However, temporality could mean something different if one compares early parenthood with late parenthood: early parenthood is differently involved in past experiences than late parenthood, which carries already a big biographical load of experiences. Early parenthood is also differently involved in present and future than late parenthood, because it is still not so much affected by the rush hour of life – but perhaps by other challenges regarding present (peers; education; economic dependency) and future. On an imagined time bar of possible transitions into parenthood (from teen parenthood to late parenthood), the chordal triad of past, present and future (Emirbayer & Mische, 1998) has a different sound for new parents – and respectively a different echo with regard to agency.



Within the dynamics of decision making strategies to become parents, agency evolves with different pronunciations of past, present and future. It can appear as very much oriented towards the past, e.g. as re-traditionalization of gender roles among partners when they have their first child (see for Germany Fthenakis et al., 2002). But it also could appear as being very much oriented to present negotiation processes between the partners (see for Sweden Bergnéhr 2008, see for Germany the PAIRFAM-project, for first results of the preliminary panel see Brüderl et al., 2007; Rupp, 2008). Present conditions – structuring factors such as official policies (materialized in infrastructure and benefit systems), but also the level of daily routines and the symbolic representation of parenthood – are closely related to decisions and strategies of young women and men oriented to the future, and might also leave their mark in terms of gendering effects. It has to be considered, that these different pronunciations of past, present and future do not represent different groups of young parents, but are much more a matter of research perspectives.

Meaning-making in transitions to parenthood

This point refers to the cultural or style aspect of young people's agency and what they tell about intentions and identities of the actors. In this regard, agency of young mothers and fathers also evolves in coping with the new normalities as "competent parents" within a new image of motherhood and fatherhood. Partly they adjust to such normalities, partly they rework them in the sense of refusing the overburden going along with the perfect mother or father.

As the creation of meaning is embedded in social positioning, it refers strongly to an understanding of culture, which not only regards culture as context, but also as a product of young people's practices. Young people are belonging to (and depending on) culture and are at the same time doing culture. With regard to transitions into young parenthood, young people's agency is dealing with a reconciliation of youth cultural life styles and new roles as fathers and mothers, their agency is focussed on struggling for new and more fitting images of fatherhood(s) and motherhood(s). This longing for a new imagery is the symbolic level of doing family.

The public sphere in urban contexts makes it easier to develop and demonstrate lifestyles of 'doing family differently'. In such surroundings, new images of motherhood and fatherhood are developed which could leave their marks on the broader public (see Thiessen & Villa, 2008) – this also includes early parenthood performed in youth cultural styles (e.g. Punk or



Emo dads and moms). Research on such youths' cultural embeddings of parenthood would be highly promising in shedding light into respective agency.

Agency and structure in this regard are always very closely related: young people are 'doing' social integration on the basis of daily routines and practices, they are actively coping with structural demands, they are inventing new solutions for these demands. By doing this, they – as could be argued – are "doing difference" (West & Fenstermaker, 1995) in terms of reproducing social ascriptions regarding social origin, ethnicity and gender – but perhaps they are doing difference differently, i.e. modifying such ascriptions, or breaking them off. Again, much more research would be needed in order to clarify these questions.

Learning and agency in transitions to parenthood

Learning has taken a prominent place in becoming and being a parent in late modernity and in the context of knowledge societies. Parenthood in our societies is not self-evident any more, but has become a "project" which demands a high level of reflexivity and the willingness for learning. The new cultural norm of informed and competent parents as best guarantee to educate "successful" children is one example for the structural need for agency. The European discourse on new connections between formal, non-formal and informal modes of learning has entered the discourses that surround young parenthood and young families. This concerns very different levels of learning, among them a quasi professionalisation in matters such as the healthy upbringing of children, a satisfying negotiation in gender relations, a successful fighting for one's rights and interests as young parents on the work floor, the performance as active and engaged parents in educational institutions, the creation of useful informal networks.

The learning dimension within transitions to parenthood makes visible the ever-new challenges of these transitions and the respective agentic processes, in which learning new practices is as important as un-learning others, above all under a gender perspective.

How can transitions into parenthood be regarded as agency?

Considering the dimensions of agency as outlined above, it is tricky to handle our research findings on transitions into parenthood: as has been worked out, the individual action does not simply start from preset goals (such as family orientations) but is embedded within a complex inter-subjective meaning-making. Therefore all survey data regarding the preferences of young people have to be qualified as far as they are developed within often complicated



internal and external (i.e. inter-active) negotiation processes, which are documented only by scarce in-depth studies. Nevertheless, it is obvious that subjective wishes for family foundation exist – regardless of (structural) constraints. They are both implicit in the general finding of discrepancies between desired and realised child birth, as in new ways of parenting.

For the same reason, intentionality is difficult to be located in transitions into parenthood, considering, that there is always a strong (and highly gendered) life style-aspect in family formation and parenting. In this regard, findings regarding (new) cultures of fathering, mothering, and doing family are extremely insightful, because they enlighten the range of models developed by young parents – they document the creative aspect of agency (Joas, 1992), but at the same time provide new (normative) frameworks for outlining young parenthood. The issue of (media) images will also have its relevance here – and the question how they are picked up and reworked by young fathers and mothers.

Autonomy in the context of transitions into parenthood has to be conceptualized in the way Cécile van de Velde did it in her work on the question of how young people in risky transitions construct autonomy in a situation of dependency (van de Velde, 2001). Of course, the transition into parenthood is one of the key experiences of strong mutual dependency – from partner, from parents, from peers, and last not least from the new born baby him- or herself. Of course, this fundamental dependency can be framed by very different sets of mainly economic conditions, which stand for more or less autonomy. Agency in this regard is deriving from coping with this situation, which for some young parents could stand in harsh contrast to the way they lived their lives before becoming parents, but it is also to be located in the autonomy to decide to have a child (instead of an abortion) and how to build a family around it. The fact of pregnancy is a strong kick for young people to reflect on their biographical transitions up to then and how to proceed further on.

Wherever we got insight into studies on negotiation processes around transition into parenthood (e.g. on the level of partnership, Bergnéhr, 2008), agency can be identified as an identity work balancing the individual level with the level of a love relationship. Concerns become visible, which otherwise are not in the focus of social sciences, namely the level of bodily concerns: In the in-depth study of Bergnéhr (2008) on negotiation processes around family formation, female participants in group discussions formulate their concerns about their bodily attractiveness in the context of pregnancy and giving birth, and respectively a lot of negotiating among them is around bodily practices to maintain and recover a good physical shape during pregnancy and after having given birth to a child. Partners often are concerned



with the question how to maintain a satisfying sex live after family foundation, and respectively invest a lot of energy in adapting to and shaping a new relational situation after the birth of a child.

Negotiation is an agency inbuilt in all processes around transitions into parenthood: how do young women and men choose between different options, create new ones, make normative decisions, step into negotiation with each other within their partnership, with former partners, within their family of origin etc., network with peers with and without children? In UP2YOUTH, creative actions (Joas, 1992) are concerned with the question of how much young adults create new spaces for political influence, create new concepts of fatherhood and motherhood, and establish new routes of transitions to work within a context they can hardly influence.

Much is depending on the conditions for and the competences of negotiating. A key competence to manage modern life inside and outside the family is the ability to negotiate one's own and others' interests (e.g. negotiating own biographical prospects and – often limited – facilities to set them into practice, negotiating familial tasks between the partners, negotiating with parents, negotiating with employers and colleagues to achieve conditions for doing family). Agency appears to be a highly relational concept concerning such negotiation processes.

At the same time, negotiation (as an agency) strongly refers to scopes, prerequisites, and competencies for negotiation. This is the point Zygmunt Bauman (1995) made: where are the spaces in society where an enlargement of the public sphere would be needed in order to allow more space for the negotiation of life politics? Such an enlargement would include the acknowledgement of the ways of doing parenthood/doing family/doing gender (differently).

Agency and structuration with regard to parenthood

This is the core question regarding social change: How, by applying these different modes of agency, do young women and men re-structure or change former patterns of transitions into parenthood and create new structures? This perspective stresses the informal level much more than in the past: agency becomes visible in young (prospective) father's and mother's creation of informal networks. This agency is structures their everyday life, be it on the level of concrete local networks or on the level of networks on the internet. By such informal networks (father networks, local initiatives and so forth) young people respond to (infra-)structural lack, but at the same time create new structures – thus showing awareness for the



social embeddedness and interdependency of individual agency. This is even more so as soon as such networks manage to (successfully) apply for funding.

There are a lot of informal policies involved in this agency, which are not always easy to be detected. Informal policies are hardly acknowledged or even recognized. That has to do with a split between so-called private and so-called public discourses (Jurczyk & Oechsle, 2006). However, it is exactly this public-private-divide, which is a big issue for young people's agency – e.g. when developing informal networks of support. It is also challenged by young people's agency. Re-adjusting this divide: making it permeable and above all making the work on both sides visible by organizing social acknowledgement for it, is an engagement which could be read as a refusal to reproduce this public-private-divide. This potentially has a strong effect – most obvious in terms of (informal) gender policies.

5.2 Agency in young people's participation

With regard to analysing the relationships between social change, participation and young people's agency a broad approach was taken referring to all activities of young people as "potentially participatory", which are carried out in the public and/or with regard to the public (Loncle & Muniglia, 2008, p. 17). Why this? The analysis started from a critical debate around the dominant observation that young people's interest, involvement and engagement in public and collective affairs appears to decline (especially their participation in political elections and their membership in social or political organisations; or the low numbers of young people who engage in participatory programmes at local level) among those with low education. This development is often being referred to as growing political apathy and nonparticipation and interpreted as a sign of disinterest or passivity with regard to collective issues. An extreme structuralist approach implies for example that uncertainty, inequality and precariousness force young people to refrain from public interest and action and to concentrate on coping with their individual lives (cf. Bourdieu, 1994; Shildrick & MacDonald, 2005). An extreme rational choice position in contrast argues that individualisation is a value change that results from young people's changed assessment of costs and gains (cf. Inglehart, 1977; Putnam, 2000; Schneider, 2009).

Such interpretations reduce individual interest and activity to conformist involvement with particular forms of participation. Therefore, a broader perspective was needed in order to be open for potential alternative ways of relating to the community, to public institutions or to society at large. If one agrees that the core of participation in particular and democracy in



general lies in negotiating individual and collective interest, it seems reasonable to include all activities into the analysis which take place in the public (which at least potentially implies the consciousness of an audience) or are carried out in a way which necessarily has public effects and therefore potentially addresses the public. The emphasis on the potentiality of young people's actions is necessary as often only the outcomes of these actions are assessed while little is known about intentions or underlying motives.¹⁴ At the same time it questions dominant definitions and meanings of what is political, public and participation.

Range of different actions and activities with regard to participation

If one starts from the institutionalised forms of participation – elections, membership and participatory programmes – a first observation is that obviously some young people do participate while others do not; this is also the case among those with low qualifications and from disadvantaged social backgrounds, yet to a smaller degree (cf. Eurobarometer, 2007; Spannring et al., 2008). This seems banal but the observation of different activities implies that in principle choices are taken for or against certain activities. This also reveals if one considers the discrepancy between political interest which is rather wide-spread among young people and their limited political activity. While interest is seen as a basic motive for action – and therefore can be interpreted as agency in terms of potential action – it may be 'on hold' due to a feeling of lack of control and self-efficacy, at least as far as traditional forms of activity are concerned. At least at first sight involvement in participatory action appears to result from more conscious decision-making processes than non-participation.

If the perspective is broadened, other activities come into sight such as alternative expressions and forms of engagement. While referring to similar topics as formal politics such as peace/war, poverty/injustice, globalisation, environmental issues, these young people prefer different forms of action and articulation. Young people organise or participate in demonstrations, exchange in blogs or change their consumption behaviour (fair trade, biological). Young people are also actively involved in new forms of political protest such as "street-party-protest" which interweave politics and culture. One example is the movement "Reclaim the Streets" (RTS), a cultural coalition between the ecological movement, ravers and political activists, which has become an essential feature of the anti-globalisation movement. RTS demands non-commercialised, autonomous public space by blocking streets

_

¹⁴ In one of the early debates in the working group the question was raised whether suicide should not be interpreted as a radical act of participation. While the intention of this question was primarily provocative, it refers to the fact that in some cases suicide is committed in a very visible way (e.g. throwing oneself from a high building) which – potentially – can be on purpose because affecting other people in the public.



and traffic and reclaiming the territory through carnival, theatre, performances, party and dance (Brünzel, 2000). Only recently, also the aesthetic and cultural dimensions of political attitudes and behaviour have been included into research revealing youth cultures as spaces of political socialisation and contributing to overcoming the analytical separation of different spheres of social and everyday life (cf. Pfaff, 2006).

However, as also these alternative forms do not apply for a majority or the mainstream of young people, the perspective needs to be widened even further. Another case are those who become active in ways which are at risk of being criminalised and/or which openly contradict with basic societal values such as extreme right-wing or nationalist groups. They refer to the 'common good' – often following themes which are on the official political agenda (Europe, migration, unemployment, welfare etc.) – but reduce it to the collective of the indigenous society. To different extent they use and engage with formal procedures such as membership in associations or parties – which normally are encouraged and welcomed as political participation (cf. Pfaff, 2006; 2007).

To some extent the same applies for young people involved in urban riots because feeling disregarded as 'second class citizens' (such as in French suburbs 2005, in Copenhagen 2007 or in Athens 2008). These riots do not evolve from groups following a distinct political mission but from (mostly disadvantaged) young people's conflicts with authorities and their experience of discrimination, injustice or oppression. Although not intended politically, these riots and their choice of acting these conflicts out visibly reveal that these young people refer to themselves as members of a wider community or society (cf. Lagrange & Oberti, 2006). In fact, the urban riots in France 2005 were a highly politicised movement: young people expressed their expectation of a better citizenship (both symbolic and material) and their refusal, not only to be poor, but also to be disregarded and deprived of citizen's rights (Sala Pala, 2006). As a matter of fact, we can consider that, even if young people were not always perfectly aware of the political dimension of their involvement, they were clearly expressing a political rebellion. Gerard Mauger (2006) proposed to talk in their case of a "proto-political rebellion" and Didier Lapeyronnie (2006) of a "primitive rebellion":

"The riot is clearly infrapolitical, marked by the incapacity of a poor and marginal population to access to the political system and by the dependence toward the system. Violence is both a rational and efficient means of pressure and a means of protestation against an unbearable situation. But the riot is also clearly suprapolitical. It refers to the fundamental values of the society, it lays on the affirmation of the moral superiority of a 'we' victim of injustice, and here again it signs the refusal of a deleterious system that keep people from living" (p. 446).



According to Habermas' theory of communicative action the fact of using these terms and language implies reference to a wider societal context and acceptance of what is assumed to be a shared meaning of social justice (Habermas, 1981).

Most activities of young people however normally are not referred to as participation but as *leisure*: consumption, sports, listening to music, hanging out with friends, or youth cultural activities such as skating. In many of these activities however, borders are not clear-cut: sports in many countries are connected to membership in associations (and may lead to voluntary work), hanging out with friends as well as skating may lead to conflicts with authorities and/or experiences of discrimination, music preferences are often connected to life styles including socio-cultural positioning and political orientation (see below).

Influence of social contexts on participatory actions and choices

Consciously or not, young people appear to make choices how to relate towards the wider society and how to move and act in the public. Obviously, these choices are not taken in isolation but evolve within social contexts. Social research may analyse differences in participation and find that the higher the education level the higher the involvement in formal and alternative participation while riots apply for disadvantaged groups and right-wing extremism; for those who are still but precariously included. But: What do different percentages tell us? First, it should be noted that not all higher educated young people engage in formal or alternative forms of political participation nor do all disadvantaged young people participate in riots. Second, and more important, why are there these differences?

With regard to participation, it is difficult to say whether structural barriers actually hinder or influence individual agency; at least understood in absolute terms. As regards voting, this is of course the case with rights being tied to age and nationality; with regard to involvement in other forms of political participation, e.g. at local level, spatial aspects of distance and mobility can actually hinder individuals from getting involved.

In general however, the impact of structural factors is less direct and determining but occurs through processes of socialisation with regard to the learning of values and practices in the family, in the neighbourhood or peer group, and through associating mechanisms of political participation with other institutional settings which are experienced as disregarding individual needs and interest and/or associated with failure – such as school. There is an obvious relationship between young people's social position and their orientation towards citizenship and participation although this relationship is not one of linear causality. Actually, young



people may learn that participation – at least participation according to official definitions and forms – is not a way of actively making a difference (cf. Giddens, 1984).

This is aggravated by the insecurities young people experience. The need to invest more effort in the transition to adulthood shifts the attention from social and political issues to personal coping strategies, especially for disadvantaged young people:

"Their 'resource situation' is unlikely to facilitate such engagement, especially given the perceived unresponsiveness of formal political structures to the demands of politically marginal groups" (Fahmy, 2006: 47).

In fact, many studies reveal the relationship between trust in institutions and political participation (Smith, et al. 2005; Eurobarometer, 2007; Fahmy, 2006; Spannring et al., 2008). The relationship between better education and political participation is not only one of being informed about and understanding the political system. It has also to do with positive biographical experiences in using public institutions for individual purposes, e.g. school success allowing for choosing careers which are subjectively meaningful in contrast to school failure which additionally implies precariousness, poverty and/or institutional factors of exclusion such as being pushed into mandatory schemes (cf. Kieselbach et al., 2001).

The relationship between participation and social integration becomes explicit in Kronauer's concept of social exclusion which includes a dimension of institutional exclusion. This does not only include whether individuals have access to societal institutions but also to what extent they can influence the way in which they use them (Kronauer, 1998).

The French case shows that education makes a difference in the contents and forms applied inasmuch as disadvantaged young people are more likely to legitimise violent demonstrations than students, since it is the only way for them to "talk" to politicians (Muxel & Riou, 2004). In fact, the 2005 riots in French suburbs characterised by violence and vandalism the protagonists were young people from deprived and segregated social areas. Their lack of opportunities and perspectives and their experiences of injustice and oppression had been addressed by many Rap songs during the previous years (Bordes, 2006; Mucchielli & La Gaziou, 2006). Six months later France witnessed strikes and demonstrations of hundreds of thousands of students who opposed a law which was aimed at enhancing labour market access of school and university leavers by lowering wages and employment regulations for young people. In the first case, the riots were the expression of feeling excluded from society and disregarded as individuals and citizens which resulted from the existential experience of powerlessness in a conflict with the police during which two young boys died. In the second



case, young people who had invested in formal education – and therefore knew how to deal with the formal system – felt treated unfairly by official policy making while still respecting legitimate forms of protest (Lagrange & Oberti, 2006).

Participation programmes such as youth forums, youth councils or youth parliaments as well as official participation related websites and blogs are mechanisms intended to overcome barriers towards participation (Matthews, 2001). Compared to the impact of socio-economic factors there is limited empirical evidence to what extent policies succeed in raising young people's confidence towards participation (cf. Spannring et al., 2008; Loncle, 2008). According to evaluation of practice programmes one of the factors which makes the clearest difference is whether young people see direct effects of participation in short-term periods. This can be explained by theories of motivation and attribution: if action depends on the feeling of control and self-efficacy and young people in general share a deep distrust towards and feel alienated from formal institutions, it follows that participation programmes must prove their effectiveness right from the beginning.

In most cases this works only for those who are already involved and who – due to positive school experiences and family backup – are in general more confident in dealing with public institutions. However, for the others – and by far not only the most disadvantaged youth – these programmes have a limited accessibility and attractiveness (not in absolute structural terms but in socio-cultural terms) as they tend to neglect young people's changed forms of engagement. They are abstract and primarily procedural rather than issue-based while young people do not want to participate per se but to actively shape their lives in ways which are both subjectively meaningful and socially acknowledged. Social geographer Christian Reutlinger (2005) describes mainstream participation programmes as 'containers' which are detached from young people's everyday lives regarding space, culture and issues concerned.

The French case shows that many inhabitants and young people in deprived areas participate in collective and associative activities in their communities rather than in more abstract contexts (Loncle, 2007). This is also confirmed by Holland et al. (2007) who conclude from findings of research on black neighbourhoods in the UK:

"Britain's black community has a long-established and well-documented history of racial discrimination. (...) The popular social capital mantra that 'you have to get out to get on' does not appear to reflect these young people's experiences. Instead, the security of belonging is viewed as a platform from which social progress and social mobility can be built. Caribbean young people have strong bonding social capital in ethnic/racial-specific community associations and they demonstrate high rates of 'civic engagement' in these



areas. (...) It was clear that they perceived black neighbourhoods as a resource for politics, collective mobilisation and reaffirming ethnic identity" (Holland et al., 2007, p. 112)

The case studies carried out in the project Youth Policy and Participation (YOYO) on the potential of participation for young people's transitions into the labour market reveal that projects starting from young people's needs and providing them spaces for articulating these needs – whether these were related to leisure or job matters – in some cases contributed to a political consciousness and engagement (Walther et al., 2006). The following example from the YOYO-study shows that social contexts do not only contribute to social reproduction but can, along with peer role models, also be informal bridges towards new milieus and opportunities:

Paolo, male, 19, lives with his parents in Palermo (Italy). He holds a vocational diploma as an electrician. Some years ago he was at risk of getting involved in criminal activities. His brother who as a part of his rehabilitation from a drug career started to engage in youth work in an association and convinced Paolo to join in. At first he felt a bit embarrassed because cultural activities forced him to compromise with his 'macho' attitude: I really felt a little ridiculous, because we were all made up ... I asked myself: what happens if a friend of mine comes and sees me like this?' But since then he has been doing voluntary work in the children's recreation centre, he has learned to play guitar and has become in charge of the musical activities. He is member of a band that performs both within the association and at festivals in the city. Paolo is strongly committed to social engagement and does not hesitate to express an autonomous position (conflictual at times) at a political level: 'One of the fundamental experiences of last year was the conference on childhood, where we from Palermo raised a problem the others were trying to avoid, that [among]... children and adolescents ... poverty exists.' ... He has joined the coordination board of the association where he argues against membership fees: By making people pay we run the risk of excluding kids who cannot afford it, so that in the end only affluent children will come to us. I'd work more in the streets, trying to reach more children of the most degraded blocks.' (quoted from Stauber & Walther, 2006, p. 141).

Such diversification of socialisation and learning processes especially accounts for alternative youth cultures and political counter cultures. It also accounts for exceptional cases of family traditions of political engagement despite of precarious socio-economic living conditions. Apparently, social contexts influence young people' actions less in the sense of *whether* they relate to the wider community and the public – but *how* they do it (see below).

Especially, where politicisation does not result from conscious values and planned activities but from conflicts with authorities, it is obvious that individual and collective decision-making are intertwined. Activities such as hanging out with friends or skating in public places cannot be separated from the sociality of friendship and peer cultures; or better: are expressions of sociality towards the self, the group members and – where exhibited in the public – the wider community. If these activities are contested or suppressed this implies a



denial of citizenship rights in terms of ownership of public space of the individuals concerned as well as of the group. Even extremely individualised activities such as using web sites such as Myspace or Facebook reveal deeply social and collective aspects, for example where school classes give marks to their teachers. Without necessarily being conscious of the political nature of this act they virtually create a public space. In Germany, the site www.spickmich.de has been prosecuted upon initiative of a school teacher who brought a charge against being assessed by her pupils on the web according to – from her perspective – unfair formulations and criteria. As the providers of the site have established rules – only pupils from the respective class are allowed to assess their teachers – in order to prevent abuse, they won the case. This revealed that a core aspect of the conflict was the semi-public nature of school which was challenged by the students using the internet (cf. Loncle & Muniglia, 2008).

At the same time policies may not only be assessed whether they enhance and encourage participation but also for what purpose and function. Based on Foucault's studies on societal discourses and governmentality, Masschelein and Quaghebeur (2003) argue that – especially under conditions of individualisation and the increasing trend towards activation – the participation discourse is connected to a trend towards self-responsibility which undermines notions of solidarity; especially where participation programmes are limited to involvement without securing access to power and resources (cf. Cooke & Kothari, 2001).

Interdependency of transitions

The structural constraints on young people's participation are aggravated by the destandardisation of life courses which means that the timing of and relation between different transitions — to work, parenthood and citizenship — are increasingly blurred. This fragmentation of transitions implies that individuals may be confronted with biographical dilemmas resulting from contradicting demands and opportunities which cannot easily be prioritised and which therefore cannot simply be interpreted in terms of linear expressions of values or attitudes. With regard to participation, apparently the uncertainty of their transitions makes young people feel that their lives are 'suspended'. They are less and less able to connect their lives to existing institutional structures — whether these are established forms of parenthood or of citizenship. One may argue that on the one hand, the flexibility of their strategies in both transitions to work and youth cultural life styles contradicts the rigid implications of continuity inherent to traditional forms of work, family and civic engagement. In other words: under conditions of flexibility and individualisation pre-defined and rigid



forms of collective action are unlikely to be considered as subjectively relevant by individuals (cf. Isin & Wood 1999). This includes practical aspects such as co-presence in regular moments and intervals as well as long-term commitment, which contradict the fragmented time structures of late modern everyday life. Rather than a lack of collective commitment or a mere discrepancy between individual and collective goals the problem might lie in a decrease in the possibilities of and in the spaces for interaction in which individual needs are communicated and linked with collective structures. Actually one might argue that consumption and the media are the last remaining mass collective spheres of action and experience (in fact 'participation' in terms of exposing oneself in TV and on the Internet shows increases; cf. DiMaggio & Hargittai, 2001) because they can be used flexibly. In fact, they represent a changed form of public sphere.

A hypothesis requiring further research is that under conditions of uncertainty, *visibility* – as also central to scenes such as skaters and graffiti sprayers while also inherent in the performance of self which appears to be central to many other youth cultural life styles – becomes a relevant feature of what young people need in terms of citizenship rights. Traditionally interpreted as and reduced to age-specific transgression of boundaries in adolescence, visibility gains importance where the achievement of the full adult status and the rights associated with it are postponed and uncertain. In this sense, most of their activities can be interpreted as politics of visibility by (or identity politics) occupying public spaces (Fraser 1997). Also if mainly focussing on celebrating the present rather than projecting oneself into the future, they can be interpreted as attempts of protecting realms of autonomy and of – more or less explicit –resistance against being reduced to human capital through education and employment, lifelong learning and activation (cf. Walther et al., 2006).

The emergence of participatory action as temporal structure of decision-making

Above, agency has been conceptualised in a temporal way (cf. Emirbayer & Mische, 1998). It is embedded in past experiences and routinised social relationships, it is motivated by imaginations of a desired future and it articulates in coping with present challenges. The *past* dimension explains differences in participation according to social and educational inequalities, i.e. different experiences with agency in terms of making a difference in relation to formal institutions. It also is inherent to the dominance and hegemony of established concepts and forms of participation. The *future* dimension relates to the difference young people would like to make, primarily with regard to their own lives and identities but also with regard to their communities or even collective values and issues: "The concept of



participation reveals the wish for public and liveable sociality and for an effective creative activity in the community which has not yet been eradicated by the tendencies towards privatisation." (Joas, 1992, p. 374). The *present* dimension relates to coping with everyday life challenges. Whether young people participate or not or in which form and context they do it depends on how they construct their biographies between past and future, between social positioning and subjective identity work in concrete biographical and everyday life situations.

Even ambiguous phenomena of participation in forms of extreme right-wing orientations can be interpreted by the temporal concept of agency: lack of future perspectives is compensated by giving meaning to the present by re-working traditional concepts of the public, symbols of the community (nation) and traditional forms of politicial action (including violence); yet in modernised ways which Beck has referred to as counter-modernisation (cf. Beck, 1999).

How do young people give meaning to situations?

The last point refers to the question how individuals interpret situations as meaningful for themselves and therefore engage actively. The interactive production of meaning within a society is defined as *culture*. The notion of youth culture actually refers to the fact that generational factors are at work with regard to the creation of meaning – that young people give different meaning to existing habits and practices as well as different values or social practices that are subjectively meaningful for them. In fact, they contribute to the innovation and development of culture. Nevertheless, their processes of meaning-making remain connected to and embedded in existing habits, routines and structures – even if directly opposing them. With regard to participation, this is visible in the discrepancy between higher political interest than political participation (Spannring et al., 2008). In order to understand this 'doing meaning differently' one may consult analysis of youth cultural studies on music and consumption as well as on young people's strategies and styles of performing self (Stauber, 2004; 2009; Wächter et al., 2008).

Pfaff (2006; 2007) found in her studies on political socialisation of young people in Germany that half of those young people who have preferences for a specific youth cultural scene (one third) position themselves in countercultures and/or alternative music scenes: whether these are Punk, Gothic, Metal and the Anti-Fascist scenes on the left, Skinheads, Neonazis and Hooligans on the right. She criticizes that, neither in political science nor in cultural studies, political orientations of young people are interpreted. In her study she analyses the Gothic/Punk scene and the HipHop scene as contexts of emerging political orientations. The Gothics and Punks describe themselves as left-wing oriented and emphasize their open



mindedness except towards fascist and right wing groups. Compared to the average young population they are more experienced in political participation. Political discussions are part of the scene and also going to political protests is a scene-related expression. Young people involved in the HipHop-scene are less interested in politics and display less concrete political attitudes. However, they relate to the topic of social inequality which is based on individual experiences and expressed in the rap lyrics. The HipHoppers distance themselves from (established) political engagement but take responsibility in the micro-level of the neighbourhood. For both the Gothic-Punk and the HipHop scene it is true that their youth cultural life influences political orientations and activities (cf. Welniak, 2002, p. 37).

For research this means to turn from what young people do not do (enough) towards what young people actually are doing (and how) and the meaning of these actions which may also contain new forms and meanings of what is seen as political.

Young people's learning processes with regard to participation

The actualisation of agency in terms of concrete action implies a feeling of self-efficacy, of being able to make a difference which implies structural possibilities but also a – more or less conscious and reflexive – disposition of knowledge and skills, or competence.

Often young people's lack of confidence with regard to participation is ascribed as a lack of information, which has been the basic justification for introducing civic education as a mandatory subject in school. However, the obvious discrepancy between young people's political interest and their active political participation contradicts this assumption. The thematic report on youth participation highlights the double-bind effect of civic/citizenship education in school which provides young people with information for participation in their later (adult) lives outside school while inside school the competencies of students' councils are limited – in most cases to contribution to extra-curricular social activities while powerrelated questions of school management, curriculum, learning assessment etc. are beyond their influence. This means that – apart from the information of the formal procedures of representative democracy – young people learn that participation is limited to specific issues, forms and spaces. This is reflected by a relatively low involvement in students' councils. The fact that this does not apply to the same extent with all class representatives can be interpreted by the fact that the school class is also a space of peer culture – and thereby highly relevant for subjective identity processes - whereas school is experienced as an alienating system (Machacek & Walther, 2008; Spannring et al., 2008).



With regard the official participation programmes such as youth councils many countries, regions and municipalities have discovered the need to train the young people involved. This however is limited to those who actually are involved while it also reproduces participation to pre-defined mechanisms. In order to increase the effectiveness and recognition of youth participation this often implies adapting it to formal politics (e.g. learning the procedures of submitting requests to the city council).

Learning of participation outside the formally institutionalised channels obviously relies on non-formal and informal contexts and forms. With regard to political movements, ICT play a fundamental role. While the internet fails in attracting new participants, it provides those who are engaged with platforms for sharing information and ideology and for organising activities (cf. CIVICWEB, 2007; Banaji, 2009). This shows that learning is self-organised and self-directed and that the relationship between learning and agency is dialectic: learning as action, which prepares other action, implying further learning.

In order to understand the learning processes included in the less obvious political forms of participation referred to above, the perspective needs to be broadened. Where young people develop forms of public protest resulting from conflict with authorities, two different dimensions of learning may be distinguished: First, learning the 'reading' of public space which often precedes and follows such conflict. Young people develop practices which assure them visibility, and this often implies the more or less conscious and intended transgression of existing norms and rules (skating, graffiti etc.). They learn to map public space, which includes the identification and conscious transgression of boundaries; as they have learned that adapting to school demands does not necessarily contribute to the achievement of what is subjectively important in their own lives. Second, young people learn from the conflicts with other citizens or the authorities. At the latest, in this moment young people develop an understanding of their position in society as regards norms, rules and power relations. The young people in the French 'banlieues' referred to themselves as French citizens only after being exposed to repressive measures adopted by policy makers and carried out by the police. Also the subsequent process of mobilisation has to be interpreted as a learning process with regard to collective concerns, shared living conditions and joint action (cf. Lagrange & Oberti, 2006). What is important to notice is that learning requires subjective concern and identification. Dewey distinguishes between education and training or routine with regard to the experience of identification and shared ownership (Dewey, 1916). Social learning theorists such as Lave and Wenger conceptualise learning as "legitimate peripheral



participation" in terms of entering a community of practice and of interactive processes of meaning-making and identity development (Lave & Wenger, 1991; Wenger, 1998).

In sum: rather than explaining non-participation by a lack of education, learning requires participatory settings in which the implications and effects of participation are experienced.

How can participation be regarded as agency?

It seems obvious that participation refers to human agency. However, the differences in young people's participation may be interpreted in terms that due to structural barriers some individuals are less agentic than others. If this contradicts our theoretical understanding of agency, we may view participation as a form of qualified agency – or better: acting. It does not only underline the sociality of individual biographical decision-making but also points to a public dimension of subjective agency. Participation in this sense refers to those acts by which individuals communicate with the wider community about needs, interest, legitimacy and adequacy of action. The public aspect is crucial inasmuch as it distinguishes social action within limited groups of individuals who know each other from social action. This addresses, or at least does not exclude, the anonymous generalised 'other' or 'co-citizen'. Thereby not all actions or coping strategies of young people are participatory per se but those which imply a consciousness of their social character and their relation with and dependency on the wider community may be addressed as potentially participatory.

In sum, we argue that individuals are always agents in the sense that they not only try to cope with but shape their lives in a meaningful way, which includes longing for social recognition. Social structures restrict their possibilities to choose from different options and strategies as well as perspectives, in order to act in a way that is both subjectively satisfactory and recognised by society. While biographicity qualifies general agency with regard to the self, participation does so with regard to the wider community and society.

To what extent does agency imply an autonomous and independent actor as is suggested by the differences between those whose qualifications and family capital allow them to use the public institutions according to their subjective need, interest and choice – compared to those who depend on public support which forces them to accept forced participation? We have argued that changes in young people's participation are closely related to their citizenship status being suspended between youth and adulthood due to the fragmentation, reversibilty and uncertainty of their transition processes. If autonomy is not conceptualised in terms of the self-sufficient individual who assesses his/her needs and takes decisions independently from



'others' this question may be answered. In fact, the general critique against interpreting autonomy as complete independence has already been elaborated by feminist theory (Benjamin, 1988). The de-standardisation of youth transitions has lead to a diversification of forms of partial autonomy in young people's lives (Biggart & Walther, 2006) whether this dependency relates to material resources, informal support or social recognition.

This refers to the *reflexivity* of agency in late modernity which allows to conceptualise agency – and thereby participation in terms of negotiation. Constantly situations, identities and practices need to be reflected and negotiated anew as regards the relationship between individual and wider society (cf. Bauman, 2000). This is expressed by the quote of a young person interviewed in the longitudinal qualitative study by Smith et al. (2005): "Citizenship? How do you put it? Being responsible ... not just taking, giving back." (quoted ibid., p. 437).

This quote reveals that the dialectic between taking and giving – or rights and responsibilities – and the subjectively differing experiences of taking (or getting) from society needs to be interpreted in terms of a negotiation process. The temporality of agency thereby is not restricted to the intra-individual processes of decision-making but to chains of inter-subjective interactions.

How can agency influence structure?

Participation as agency qualifies by its reference to collective and public action. It thereby implies that agency influences the societal structuration process through public institutions and policies. In the case of formal political participation or political activism outside formal institutions this can be also interpreted as intended and intentional. With regard to young people's actions, which are less explicitly political or which are seen as illegitimate forms of participation, this is more ambiguous. In the case of youth riots structural changes are less consciously planned although – as arising from conflict – at the same time not unintended. Young people feel that their action space is limited by authorities and engage in claiming and negotiating an extension of these limits; yet, not in terms of generalised norms and values. The same applies with regard to sub-political expressions whether these are political consumerism or leisure activities in public space. As a part of their identity work they challenge existing rules and norms which they feel as excluding them and denying the visibility they need for their personal development. Thus they implicitly refer to the dimension of social justice. It is exactly this implicit reference to general norms of intersubjective interaction inherent to all social action which are at the core of Habermas' theory of communicative action and which need to be identified in young people's actions and



activities. Even non-participation in this sense has to be interpreted as potentially agentic if one considers for example the statement of a French young person quoted in the EUYOUPART study: "Abstention is a way of voting, it is understood as a vote for something else; this is to show that nobody interests us." (quoted in Spannring, 2008, p. 65)

Young people's activities in or directed towards the public need to be interpreted also in the context of public institutions increasingly aiming to control them: whether this is school or lifelong learning in terms of human capital building; or if it is active job search and legitimacy in the context of activating welfare and employment policies; or indeed health prevention or surveillance of public spaces. In this regard also official participation programmes can be referred to as control instruments inasmuch as they contribute to the legitimacy of individual responsibility (Rose, 1999; Masschelein & Quaghebeur, 2003). Young people's withdrawal from participation and from public institutions altogether – including early school leaving and NEET young people – need to be interpreted as active forms of withdrawal and refusal which imply concepts of fair negotiation of rights and responsibilities which – according to their perception – are being disregarded. So: "Why should we care?" (France 1998). Also if not intentional, they contribute to structural change – whether this is political response in terms of participatory programmes, reduced legitimacy of public institutions or the increasing influence of older voters in elections.

5.3 Agency in transitions to work of migrant and ethnic minority youth

With emergence of a generation of children and young people who did not migrate themselves, many scholars argue, it is possible to start tackling one of the most debated questions in migration research which points back to one of the core questions of today's youth research: do today's integration processes differ from the ones earlier generations of young people went through? As we have argued so far in this report, there are a couple of observations on young people's situation in general which tend to indeed differ from the social integration processes of prior generations (Mørch & Andersen, 2005).

In this report., we have conceptualised social change primarily along the changes to the life course: as a general prolongation of transitions into adulthood, as the development of young adulthood as a life phase on its own, and transitions into working life as part of an interwoven set of transitions which more and more become fragmented against each other and finally as a growing and contradictory emphasis on the individual to become the rational driver of his or her own biography.



Young people from an ethnic or migrant background in public debates and scientific reasoning often are treated with what we earlier have called the "either-or" perspective. They are regarded through a structural lens: how far do their educational careers and transitions to work differ from those of the "majority"? What reasons for these differences can we observe? Is it institutional racism or discrimination that is blocking the access to higher social positions in society? Is it the individual lack of investment into education and human capital which would make migrant families' situations comparable of the "autochthonous" ones with lesser resources? In this perspective, young people from migrant or ethnic minority communities often appear as victims of prevailing discriminating structures, and of the inability of the parent generation to make the right (life and educational) choices etc. Especially young women and girls from communities with "traditional" orientations are looked upon under this perspective.

On the other side there is a growing body of literature on deviant behaviour and self-exclusionary practices which either are interpreted as a lack of modernity on the side of certain migrant communities or as the pro-active protest among a generation suffering from the establishment of mass employment and the simultaneous retrenchment of the welfare state. Youngsters from these communities are often tacitly subsumed on the lower end of dichotomous accounts of young people's experience of social change. Therefore these particular groups of young people – as diverse as they are in Europe – provide a good focus to develop the concept of agency as an integrative perspective on transitions to work.

In the following we are summarizing our secondary and meta-analysis material on transitions to work of young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background, which has been documented in the UP2YOUTH thematic report (Mørch et al., 2008). The purpose of this is to sharpen our understanding of different forms of agency in what we have called societal "figurations". These are used to exemplify certain aspects of agency and are not meant to cover the whole field of research on migrants' and ethnic minorities' transitions to work in neither a systematic nor a comprehensive way¹⁵.

Range of actions

The transition pathways into the labour market of young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background vary vastly across and within our countries. On the aggregate level, successful labour market integration varies according to the situation on the local and national

¹⁵ For an overview oft he situation in education see Heckmann, 2008; Moldenhawer et al., 2009. For the situation on Western labour markets, see Heath & Cheung, 2007, Crul & Schneider, 2009.



labour market, the characteristics of the respective ethnic minority or migrant community and on the individual characteristics like educational backgrounds, individual aspirations etc. of the young people themselves.

Our analysis has found a range of strategies to be discovered among ethnic minority and migrant communities that can be related to the specific situation of living in Europe within migrant or ethnic communities, the majority of whom were in the past closely connected to the lower social classes. Nevertheless, the distribution of young people across these patterns and the occurrence of some of these patterns largely vary according to characteristics of the given local and national constellation of factors mentioned above. But, the objective of this report is to analyse subjective reasoning and agency behind these patterns, so we can leave a more comprehensive explanation of which pattern or mode of agency is more likely to occur in which situation, in order to further research (Breckner, 2007).

Young people from migrant communities were found to have high educational aspirations and to have more positive feelings towards their schools than their "native" counterparts (OECD, 2006). Still, most of the youngsters from these communities are disadvantaged compared to the "native" or majority groups with regard to access to higher levels of education, as well as with regard to the number of early school leavers and with regard to the level of competencies reached (European Commission, 2008; Buchman & Parado, 2006). There are a number of strategies to deal with these discrepancies.

One mode of acting is the accumulation of qualifications, i.e. to continue in the education and training system. In countries with non-selective school and training systems this strategy can be easier to follow than in countries such as Germany where entry to and continuation of educational tracks is highly regulated. However, the outcomes of this strategy need not mean better chances on the labour market, but there are some hints that (e.g. in France) selection and effects of discrimination are postponed (Crul & Schneider, 2009).

Early entrance into the labour market is a wide-spread phenomenon among young people who have migrated themselves. It can be interpreted as a consequence of lower opportunities to access training and higher education, especially in countries with a highly selective education system that do not offer many opportunities for individual choice. However, early entrance in the labour market can be a strategy to maximise the individual balance between desired outcome and effort within given restricted opportunities. The latter seems to be the case of young men in Denmark with a Kurdish background reported in Topal (2007). Many of the children of Kurdish migrants having migrated to Denmark as "guest workers" in the 70s do



not engage in formal education, but instead try to enter the labour market as quickly as possible by working e.g. in the food sector. Their goal is to earn the most money in the shortest time in order to be able to return to Turkey. Formal education and training in this perspective would be a waste of time (Ferreira & Pais, 2008).

Family business is another option for entry into certain lower segments of the labour market under unfavourable conditions. In all European countries ethnic minority and migrant communities have developed economical niches. An aspect of these niches are types of businesses that are labour-intensive and yield low income and another aspect is bad working conditions. Importantly, these niches draw on the social capital of the communities and specialise in services for the specific "ethnic" community. Typical forms are "ethnic" restaurants and food stalls, kiosks, and small grocery shops (Ram et al., 2001). Most of them run as family businesses recruiting staff from their own "ethnic" group of family and friends. Other forms of self-employment additionally offer ways of securing income in segments of the labour market which are accessible with lower formal qualifications as well. A case study from Spain (Marazziti, 2005) portrays a young man from Ecuador named Lenir who came to Spain to work and make money to secure his family both in Spain (mother and sister) and back in his home country. He is working as a street-vendor and during the winter he also works in agriculture. The case shows how social responsibility sometimes is limited to the family arena. The family logic is to secure the family in the present but also in the future – to buy houses in Ecuador. Lenir participates seasonally in established business sectors and has a dream of one day getting a full-time job. He is actualizing a trajectory where he and his family have been able to express a large degree of agency in establishing themselves as streetvending entrepreneurs. In other words, he has been able to secure his and his family's biographical trajectory, but it is questionable whether this trajectory will eventually lead him to societal participation in the Spanish society—the focus is on the family and the community of street-vendors (Mørch et al.; 2008c).

Structural influence on actions and choices

Of course, structural limitations to the agency of young people's transitions are much easier to reconstruct from the research body in Europe than anything else. One major difference in these structural influences across our countries is the position of migrants and ethnic minorities in the education system.

In Portugal, some research suggests that the dominant trajectories or traditional pathways through the education and training system, for young people with an immigrant or ethnic



African or gypsy background, are marked by massive and cumulative failure, as well as premature and unqualified drop out (Machado & Matias, 2006). Regarding the variable gender, all studies carried out in Portugal point towards the fact that, in keeping with the pattern that has been consolidating itself in the most developed countries, not only do girls have, on average, a higher level of education than boys, but they also have lower failure rates (especially in terms of multiple repetition), achieving better school results than boys. Marques et al. (2007), in turn, point out that school, being a space of attraction as much for boys as for girls, is more significant for girls. While the school system in general works as an integrative institution and means of upward mobility, some studies show that in some countries this positive development is not working for certain groups. The PISA study found that contrary to the expectation of a longer stay in a host country providing better means to succeed in education, in some countries, the second generation of immigrants were performing worse than the first generation and that, especially in Germany, the school systems was reinforcing social inequality (PISA, 2006).

Occupational trajectories for ethnic minority youth often consist of unskilled jobs and/or short time employment (Marcovici et al., 2008). They may enter the labour market early, sometimes when they are still attending school – in Portugal, 25% of young people from African countries in the age of 15-19 have a job while still in education compared to 9 % of other young people in education. In most European countries, ethnic minority youth who have problems getting a job and who have a "traditional" family structure are sometimes included in the family's own small business, or they get unqualified jobs through the family network. In this way, families operate as social capital for the young people, but at the same time this model of social integration supports a parallel culture or social structure. Recent figures from Denmark, however, show that if job opportunities exist for young people – as they do for the time being in Denmark because of a very low unemployment rate – young people will take family jobs to a much lesser degree, meaning they prefer to enter the ordinary labour market.

The entrance to the job market is especially difficult, when high formal qualifications are needed to have a job. In Denmark, only 50% and 40% of immigrant men and women respectively are employed compared to 80% and 70% of the rest of the population. Ethnic minorities are often employed in different types of jobs than Danes – they are self-employed to a higher extent and have jobs that require low levels of qualifications. In Denmark, immigrants' unemployment rate is three times higher than the unemployment rate of the rest of the population, and more than every fourth inhabitant with an ethnic minority background is receiving welfare benefits. Ethnic minority young people's entrance into the labour market



is also dependent on the local level of unemployment. In Denmark, the number of employed (self-employed or otherwise) in small family shops is decreasing because of the presently low level of unemployment. Also in Spain, where formal educational demands are not so widespread, young immigrants with poor educational biographies score negatively in terms of labour integration processes – they have badly paid employment, they work in the black economy etc. Most of the immigrant population have employment with low qualification requirements; however, their labour and economic satisfaction is paradoxically high (López Blasco et al., 2008).

In the Scandinavian countries, the high educational level and the high demands for competencies in the job market create an exclusive integrative job policy, which makes it difficult to be accepted at the job market. These high demands also create prejudices and discriminative strategies against ethnic minority youth. In job situations discrimination often exists. Many ethnic minority youth who have tried to get a vocational training position in a work place have been turned down because of their foreign-sounding name (Mørch et al., 2008b). It seems as if the job market is very discriminating and more or less free to do so. Private companies do not feel obliged to follow the democratic rules of equality but act according to economic interests and private prejudices. Therefore ethnic minority youth often meet strong discrimination, when they apply for jobs. They tend to get either bad jobs or no jobs. In everyday community contexts discrimination also exists. Immigrants' traditions and religion make them visible and different from the local population. The question of discrimination seems to follow the development of the "border of solidarity". Groups who are excluded by, or through choice are outside of the national "border of solidarity" risk facing discrimination. In many countries, strong discourses are developed which deepen the difference between local and foreign youth, e.g. in Denmark and Finland political rightwingers plead to patriotic feelings in attempting to gain support for their negative conceptions of immigrants.

Interdependence of transitions

Social contexts such as family, peer networks, and community culture are very important for the individualisation and integration process and they show the inter-dependence of different transitions. A Danish case of Ethnic Minority girls' strategies (Mørch et al., 2008b) outlines four different strategies which ethnic minority girls use to cope with the challenge of balancing a traditional family life and a late modern youth life. The four strategies are: negotiation, breaking up, double life, and ideological/religious reconstruction. It is possible to



evaluate the strategies in relation to social responsibility. The negotiation strategy can be seen as a way to balance the family arena and the peer group arena, where they manage to succeed in participating in social trajectories while keeping within the borders of what is accepted in the family – the strategy has resemblance to the case 'The Third Chair' (Badawia, 2001). Does the strategy help the girls to develop a negotiation competence which perhaps is helpful in their further life, or does it involve subjective discrimination? The breaking up strategy is about distancing oneself from the family arena – in some cases this might enable some of the girls to participate in social trajectories that were previously out of their reach within the family. However, it might also have negative consequences for the girls, e.g. exclusion and/or revenge from the family. The double life strategy is about girls trying to balance the family and peer group arenas by leading separate lives in the arenas - it becomes an implicit negotiation strategy. On one hand the strategy might enable the girls to participate to a higher degree in late modern youth life, but on the other hand the question of long term consequences arises. Does it become limited social participation or even lead to marginalisation (Andersson, 2003)? Do they succeed in continuing to lead a double life when they become older - do they get educated and/or employed? When the girls apply the ideological/religious reconstruction strategy it can be seen as a form of negotiation – they stay within the ideological borders but make the religious practice fit their youth life. The girls seem to actualize a trajectory that leads to social participation, because they participate. But is their participation limited in ways that will eventually point them towards limited social trajectories, such as arranged marriage and reproductive family arrangements? It would be interesting to explore all of these strategies in order to ascertain where the different strategies will lead the girls in the future.

Temporality of agency

The modes of agency presented here differ according to the ways in which the young people achieving them link the past – their own biographical experience, but also their family or community's past – and the anticipation of a future with the evaluation of their current situation. Today's youngsters are better educated than the parent generation. This is even more the case for young people from ethnic minority or migrant backgrounds. Understanding young people's transitions to work therefore must be based on an historical understanding of the relationship between the generations. While many of the members of the first generations of immigrants in our countries met a labour market that was favourable to immigrants seeking to make a living, these conditions have changed (see chap. 3). At the same time, the migration



projects of the first generation have often changed in their subjective legitimisation: the central motives for sticking to the migration as a family project has shifted from the objective to improve the parents' situation on the labour market to the objective of providing their children with better opportunities. Therefore the temporal dimension of agency of the younger generation includes the shifting hopes for legitimation of the costs of migration onto the younger generation's success in education and labour market positioning. At the same time, the second generation has to face the fact of a strong inheritance of social inequality through the school systems. Nohl (2000) emphasizes the significance of the historical constellation of between-generation-relationships and migration situations. These constellations influence young people's perceptions and aspirations for their current situation. Their expectations for the future life plans are affected by with these constellations as well (cf. Hockey, 2009). Often their life plans as the future-related dimension of agency is taking the migration perspective on board: those confronted with blocked recognition as a integral part of the local society will have to develop a sense of belonging that incorporates notions of space – sometimes between their current country or region of residence and the country of origin of their parents. Upholding the "myth of return" can gain many social and personal functions (Mihçiyazgan, 1989). On the one side, this myth functions as a metaphorical means to confirm links within ethnic or diaspora communities (Clifford, 1994; Brubaker, 2005). On the other side, it can be seen as kind of last resort or exit strategy that – although never realised – help to cope with an unrealised future (see also Bolognani, 2007). The debates around the rise of trans-national communities show that diasporic elements of social positioning also can lead to dual orientations – both towards the current locality and the imagined or real "home" country and corresponding "dual" transition strategies where qualifications are judged on the grounds of whether they would be useful in both labour markets.

How do young people give meaning to situations?

(Re)ethnicisation constitutes a strategy to emphasize or rather differentiate in-group specific – opposite to out-group specific – cultural, social or economic group properties and resources to (re)gain social recognition or their valued group distinctiveness, i.e. (re)gain a positive social identity in comparison with the out-group discriminated against. The construction of ethnic identity can be considered as a special form of social identity and allows a more or less clear differentiation between various groups, constituting a basis for a comparison between groups. Furthermore, the subjective significance of ethnic identity for an individual appears within the scope of his evaluation of such an identity. The (re)ethnicisation strategy affects both social



and personal identity (closer to the group of origin) and sociabilities (the group boundaries are less permeable to others outside the ethnic group). Further, data from many studies suggests that the tendency towards (re)ethnicisation should not be interpreted as merely a lack of willingness to integrate (Skrobanek, 2007a; Skrobanek & Wilhelm, 2008), but as one way of constructing oneself in situations of (perceived) marginality (see also Tietze, 2001; 2006).

Young people's learning processes with regard to their transitions to work

School as an important part of young people's everyday life is the central social arena of negotiating social identity. Processes of Othering initiated by teachers or school-mates or school structures can render schools to places of ethnicised and racialised social positioning (Otyakmaz, 1999; Phoenix, 2005). "Doing difference" (Fenstermaker & West, 2001) is therefore a central perspective if one wants to analyse learning processes from an agency perspective. Education is the central key to individualising the responsibility for lower chances/inequality (López Blasco et al., 2008). A research perspective which analyses migrant and ethnic minority families' lacking investment in human capital as a key factor for unequal chances therefore needs to be complemented by studies of the interaction structures within the education system. Young males from ethnic minority and migrant communities especially are identified as developing a specific way of dealing with school as a social arena by developing certain types of masculinities which often do not conform with school rules (Frosh et al., 2002) and increase the risk of drop-out or under-achievement. Many studies point out that schools have become more significant for girls. In this context, many youngsters search for positive challenges and identity in places other than school, work or family. They find other particular life worlds where they can escape from disciplinary and traditional controls of school and family, find some social protection, recognition and celebration, as well as share a feeling of equality and reciprocity in their social relations. Their distancing from school, labour market and familiar cultures can be suppressed by another social meaningful disposition: the youth subcultures or micro-cultures. The subcultural networks, or the subcultural capital (Thornton, 1997) that they can provide, may contextualize the transitions from school to work as an integrative or self-exclusionary pathway. In the case of young migrants or youngsters with an ethnic background, the subcultures that they create are frequently (re)ethnicised by themselves (as a way of dealing with discrimination and with the challenges they are confronted with in late modernity) as well as by others, many times in a stigmatized sense. Some studies show that when they perceive themselves and their group as being discriminated against, some of them tend to invest in (re)ethnicisation strategies. This



was the strategy used by groups as the Turkish Power Boys, in Germany (Tertilt, 1996, see also Kaya, 2001), as well as the Latin Kings in Spain (Feixa et al., 2008), or the Hip Hop "black" movement in Portugal to react to and to cope with the situation of deprivation and feelings of marginality in reference to the dominant group (El-Tayeb, 2003). If these subcultures emerged and developed in restricted territories (the first in Germany, and the last ones in USA), they are now displaced and spread all over the world, acquiring specificities in each social context. Despite its contemporary hybridism, their participants share a strong feeling of deprivation. In a more pragmatic way, these social structures might also give the youngsters some skills or even some opportunities for their transition to labour market. In underground networks, where the deviation is the norm, their protagonists perhaps find some space to create inventive and original ways of dealing with the cultural resources and the aesthetical affinities that they share. Some authors present these social contexts as real creative experimental laboratories (Feixa, Costa, Pallarés, 2001, p. 298), where young people can experience new visuals, new music forms, and other kinds of new performative and communicative expressions. Both academic and political institutions that deal with youth have given minor importance to the social role of these spaces on the margins of the established channels for political involvement and commitment, as well as, consequently, in adapting to proposals of social participation "from the ground" in the day-to-day dimension of life.

Both the sociological reflection on the action of young people in "public life", and the institutional political instances that outline and regulate this action, have been ignoring or demonising some of the real contexts of social participation and citizenship practice of young people, thwarting the potential of social intervention that frequently misaligned and subterranean arenas provide them with (cf. Ferreira & Pais, 2008).

How can transitions to work be regarded as agency and how can agency influence structure?

The mere presence of young people from ethnic minorities and and migrant communities has been changing the social structure of many European countries through demographic change. The transition pathways young people are taking have changed by the development of ethnic networks and businesses. Trans-national spaces (e.g. Moldenhawer, 2005) create new ways of life plans that cannot be grasped by the concept of social integration confined to nation-states and single welfare systems (Glick Schiller, 2007). Agency in these new social arenas is marked by "pluri-local incorporations" (Pries, 1999) that youth research still has to discover



as in depth "youth arenas" (Ferreira & Pais, 2008). Nevertheless, even beyond these challenging emerging issues there remains a lot to be discovered with an agency-inspired research agenda: the integration processes often regarded with a one-sided "ethnicisation" lens should be closer examined under their long-term effects (Mannitz, 2006). Whether collective agency of young people with an ethnic minority or migration background can be labelled political resistance, especially in the field of anti-discrimination (Räthzel, 2006), remains to be seen in future research.

6. Conclusions

In this concluding chapter we want to summarise the progress achieved by the UP2YOUTH project by theorising dimensions of young people's agency in current research on transitions into parenthood, transitions into work under constellations of migration and participation. The theoretical objective of the project is to contribute to a better understanding of social change by shedding some light into the black box of the interplay between structure and agency, which is often referred to as the mechanism of social change. The applied relevance of this perspective lies in the fact that all policy and practice rely on assumptions of why and how young people take decisions, make choices and carry out actions. These assumptions however, are often neither made explicit nor fully conscious.

In the following we first will summarise the insights into young people's agency gained through the thematic analysis of young parenthood, migrant youth transitions to work and youth participation. We then will reflect on how this contributes to the understanding of changes in family, work and citizenship as key arenas of social integration in late modern societies. Furthermore, some implications for youth research are elaborated. Finally, consequences of an agency-based perspective on youth for youth policy and practice are highlighted.

6.1 Summary: young people's agency revisited

In the following we want to summarise the insights gained by the analysis of young people's agency with regard to transitions to parenthood, labour market and participation in terms of key dimensions of a theoretical revision of young people's agency. While our research does not allow us to formulate a theory of young people's agency, our primary concern is to differentiate the dominant discourse on young people's agency which focuses either on young



people's attitudes, orientations and values – which may be referred to as the input-variable of agency – and the outcome-variable of concrete discernable actions, whether this is becoming a parent (or not), staying on in education or engaging in active job search (or not), participating e.g. in elections (or not). This perspective leaves out the decision-making processes in between which – according to our understanding informed by a pragmatic and interactionist perspective (esp. Emirbayer & Mische, 1998) – is the core aspect of agency.

Under the dimension 'range of actions and activities' we have pointed to the spectrum and diversity of young people's choices, expressions and strategies with regard to family, work and citizenship which stand for key dimensions of social integration through adulthood in modern societies. This spectrum is much broader than the dichotomy 'active' versus 'passive' implies. This reduces agency to acting according to dominant patterns of normality and standard life courses. This research means to also take into consideration those outcomes which do not fit into dominant concepts of activity: new forms of family and family formation, changing gender relationships including forms of apparent re-traditionalisation against the modern normalities of 'new' motherhood or fatherhood; concepts of work and career beyond existing occupational profiles; or alternative forms of political engagement including the changing meaning of what is political and how individual needs and interests connect with collective affairs in the public. The diversity of actions suggests that individual decision-making processes are based on subjective interpretation and interactive negotiation of contextual conditions and situations. These decision-making processes are far more complex than suggested by deterministic approaches, according to which social positions generate specific actions. However, this does not mean a neglect and denial of strong structural influences on individual choices and actions. It also does this mean interpreting them along the lines of a somewhat "middle ground position" between structure and agency (cf. Woodman, 2009), but rather to look for the "both/and" instead of the "either/or" ways of dealing with uncertainty. An issue closely related to the range of different actions, is the obvious discrepancy between young people's wishes and orientations and the actions they actually take - or: between input and outcome e.g. the decrease and/or postponement of family foundation despite of a high relevance of family-related life plans; ambivalent career behaviour including reduction and remodelling of aspirations or step-by-step strategies of migrant and ethnic minority youth despite of high educational and occupational aspirations; apparently lower political participation than political interest. This discrepancy between input and output indicates that (unequal) structural conditions and contexts are being reworked through agency, which youth research has largely treated as a black box.



The differences in young people's choices and actions according to socio-economic background, education, gender, ethnic minority origin or labour market structures have often been referred to as evidence for the structural determination of young people's agency through *social contexts*. While these differences are obvious, e.g. in the coincidence of early pregnancy with low education, of de-motivation for education with low socio-economic status, or of (formal) political participation according to both education and socio-economic status, they far from absolute. While in many cases outcomes of agency appear predictable according to the social position of the actors, the existence of minority constellations and exceptions suggests that also other factors are at work which are mediated with each other in the course of individual decision-making. Obviously, social contexts provide young people with different resources and opportunities which influence their capabilities of exerting specific choices and actions. Comparative analysis shows that societal institutions 'filter' (global) socio-economic forces to different extent (cf. Mills & Blossfeld, 2003). This includes different welfare and education systems, family and integration policies and the concrete institutional actors by which they are set into practice.

The assumption of choices as "constrained" (Folbre, 1994) and socially embedded means not to discard the concept of choice as such but to differentiate between 'free' choice and choice in terms of decision-making (to act or not; being forced to choose despite a lack of meaningful options). This means to conceive of agency not necessarily as linear realisations of subjective wishes and goals but as complex processes of compromise and negotiation. According to Alheit und Dausien (2000) the "latent biographicity of the social" implies that "there is no mere structural influence which determines directly the individual's reaction" but social structure is both constitutive of and constructed by individuals' (re-)actions (p. 410). A more differentiated perspective towards expressions and articulations beyond the officially legitimate choices and actions reveals that structural constraints do not mean that young people sumply 'do nothing', as Schneider (2009) for example suggests.

At the same time, social contexts need to be considered not only with regard to the structural forces which affect individual socialisation processes and the resources and opportunities individuals have at their disposal in specific situations but also with regard to the interactive dimension which is at play. Individual decision-making is not only structured by and embedded in social structure (macro-level) but also in concrete relationships with intermediate institutional actors and with their peers and families in everyday life.



Everyday life relationships obviously need to be seen as the transmittors of macro level social structures, research with regard to the three topics also reveals the enabling aspects of sociality of agency. Or in other words: social capital is not limited to bonding ties but includes also ties bridging to other social milieus and arenas of social action, especially if informal networks by which young parents organise reconciliation of work and family are concerned, or informal transnational networks in which the transitions of many migrant and ethnic minority youth are embedded (Boeck et al., 2006).

The sociality of agency becomes ever more complex under conditions of de-standardised transitions. The linear standard life course model implies a widely shared and acknowledged sequence of biographical steps, which provide orientation for individual decision-making. Destandardisation with its increasing fragmentation of transitions, especially with regard to family, work and citizenship, creates biographical dilemmas resulting from simultaneous and at times contradictory demands from various life areas, which cannot easily be prioritised against each other. This contributes to the planning paradox by which young men and women are confronted. They are expected to plan their lives individually without knowing the consequences and the viability of specific decisions and at the same time they are expected to be flexible. The relationship between initial values, orientations or life plans and the outcomes of choices and decisions are therefore being blurred. Destandardisation affects the timing of biographical decisions. While postponement of transitions to parenthood until being established in the labour market may lead to a "rush hour of life" (Bertram et al., 2005) at the same time citizenship status is 'suspended' as long as one of its key components – social rights (Marshall, 1950) – is connected to stable employment or in constellations of back-andforth-migration. In fact, the emergence of life situations which are not foreseen by the institutionalised life course regime implies that the decisions that young men and women take, the strategies they develop to lead their lives in a subjectively meaningful and viable way tend to be judged as 'too late' or 'too early', to be stigmatised as riskful or deviant or to be simply neglected. Thus, they lack the social recognition necessary for both social integration and identity. The term biographisation refers to the need of individuals to actively and reflexively relate the situations in which they find themselves to their subjective identity, to create a biographical fit between external (economic, institutional, peer) demands and possibilities and internal needs, wishes and interest. Referring to the relevance of youth cultural activities among young people, one may argue that visibility is a key requirement for young people's coping strategies under conditions of uncertainty and the increasing discrepancy between



institutional normalities and their lived experiences; because visibility is a prerequisite for being noticed and recognised as an individual person.

According to Emirbayer & Mische (1998) agency contains also an internal *temporal structure* which, as they argue, sheds light into the dual relation between structure and agency. In their words agency is the

"temporally embedded process of social engagement, informed by the past (in its habitual aspect), oriented towards the future (as a capacity to imagine alternative possibilities) and 'acted out' in the present (as a capacity to contextualise past habits and future projects with the contingencies of the moment)." (Emirbayer & Mische, 1998, p. 963).

In the thematic reflections on transitions to parenthood, young migrants' transitions to work and on youth participation we have found how different past, present and future can be related within individual decision-making processes, whereby situations framed by different or unequal possibilities are evaluated and addressed according to different anticipations and imaginations of the future. The latter of course are themselves influenced by past experiences and socialisation processes. However, inasmuch as the future is increasingly uncertain, the future can less and less be anticipated but requires: subjective imagination of being a parent, of working in a segmented and potentially discriminatory labour market, of linking the own individual life with collective issues in the public or through public institutions; or the future is transformed into an extended present. Indeed, the dominance of the present in young people's orientations can be read as a deprivation of future. This means that decisions and actions appear as more reactive because subjective meaning cannot be developed through imaginations of the future but needs to be actualised in the present (Leccardi, 2005). Thereby the practical evaluation in specific situations is less predictable for research, yet this does not mean independent from structural forces.

A key dimension of our focus on the 'how' of individual decision-making and agency is the *meaning* young people give to specific actions and the goals and effects related to them and the meaning-making which takes place through individual decision-making and action. We have discussed how young people do family, work and citizenship differently by negotiating dominant images with youth cultural styles and symbols and creating new practices. While images and meanings which are institutionalised and/or transmitted by the media constitute powerful forces, they often fail in providing biographical meaning for those who are expected to act within these institutions. We have therefore argued that much more attention should be paid for the actions young people actually perform and to analyse their implicit meaning rather than focussing on what young people do not do, do not do enough of, either too early or



too late. Rather than being different from or external to society, their decisions and actions provide access to the changing meaning of key aspects of social integration such as family, work and citizenship. It has also been suggested that transitions to parenthood, work and citizenship need to allow for visibility of the individual person, which is obvious in new forms of political engagement and protest. This becomes crucial in the case of migrants and ethnic minorities who need to develop identities beside and/or against the majority and who have to deal with ascriptions of being 'different' which in most cases implies marginalisation. At the same time however, youth cultures are not only the means to mediate between diverging demands but also spaces in which men and women are socialised – also with regard to future parenthood, work and participation. This applies also to practices referred to as reethnicisation or re-traditionalisation which need to be interpreted as the reflexive appropriation of existing life style models (among others) in concrete individual - and potentially dilemmatic – biographical situations. Youth cultures therefore include potential aspects of dominant future images and meanings, especially the issue of visibility. These changes extend also to the relationship and/or divide between public and private or collective and individual.

The question for the 'how' of agency and decision-making refers also to the dimension of learning in terms of knowledge and competencies required by carrying out certain actions. The discrepancy between actions and choices assumed as 'normal' according to dominant norms, values and images and young people's (constrained and negotiated) choices corresponds with the increasing discrepancy between learning in formal and informal settings. While formal education is still an entrance requirement into the labour market it can not guarantee that the knowledge and skills it provides match employers' needs. Nor do the 'old' norms, values and practices which are transferred prepare young people: for parenthood in terms of work-life balance and changed gender relationships; for work in flexible labour markets and discontinuous careers; for dealing with discrimination and ethnicising ascriptions in migration societies; or for linking the own uncertain life perspective with formal collective institutions in a meaningful way. In fact, formal education creates the double-bind situations of preparing for a future which will never take place. To understand this, and to cope with this, is a (informal) learning process of young people in itself which accounts for their distrust of public institutions. Respective learning processes occur informally among those with similar experiences and orientations, with and from trusted significant others as well as through experimenting with new practices (as the 'old' practices neither fit biographically nor socially). In some areas, including young parenthood, this has lead to a professionalization of



everyday life based on information from a mixture of informal networks (both peers and families) and youth or sub-cultures, the internet and – in a more selective way, depending on experiences with using bridging social capital – experts and public institutions. Therefore, biographies and parenthood, career or engagement are projects which are developed 'by doing'. From a pedagogical perspective, this is self-evident as learning is an activity or social practice of the individual learner relating to and appropriating his or her social (and material) context (cf. Chisholm, 2008). At the same time learning can qualify agency if it contributes to a reflexive recomposition of an individual's agentic orientations towards the own past (iteration) and future (projectivity; Biesta & Tedder, 2007).

Agency under conditions of late modernity therefore needs to be understood as a series of reflexive loops within an individual's biography. Agency depends on the social position of the actor while social positioning is an active process. Reflexivity means that individuals cannot separate from their past in projecting biographical futures but can take a reflexive attitude towards their possibilities – and under conditions of biographisation and standardisation of life courses they are more and more forced to do so. This should not be read as an intraindividual cognitive approach because agency and biographical decision-making are embedded in social relationships. Although we conceive of young men and women as potentially autonomous actors this does not mean that they take decisions in isolation and independently. They interact with (and react to) institutional actors as well as peers. Transitions to parenthood are the most obvious example for decision-making in terms of negotiation between partners as well as between generations. Nevertheless, forms and meanings of the collective as well as issues identified as collective may differ from what traditionally has been interpreted as the 'common good' and therefore lead to decisions and actions which - from a non-reflexive perspective - are not perceived as intentional and conscious agency but as reactive behaviour which is riskful and/or deviant.

The overall question of UP2YOUTH asks for the relationship between young people's agency and social change, which means the effects of social change on young people's agency but also the influence of young people's agency on social change in terms of *structuration* (Giddens 1984). We would argue that in our analysis we have found plenty of evidence for contributions of young people's agency in social change. At this point we will not go into the macro perspective of changed participation patterns challenging democracy or changing family formation challenging the generational balance and contract through declining fertility. In this place, we will concentrate on the micro level of structuration in terms of what Beck has called 'sub-politics' (Beck, 1992). In their attempts to support and learn from each other



informally, young men and women organise informal networks which can be characterised in terms of both bridging and bonding social capital, which is not necessarily successful – from an institutional or from an individual perspective. Networks of young parents sharing child care or transport of children, migrant networks and 're-ethnicised' sub-cultures as well as global networks of political activists connected through the internet or futile networks evolving from and disappearing in the context of riots do change social structure. Some of these networks become sustainable structures if one considers 'ethnic business' or parents' networks establishing new childcare facilities through raising public funding. Monetary remittance of migrants to their home countries representing major shares of these national economies is another example. Except for the case of young people's political counter cultures, probably a minority of these influences are intentional and conscious and a consequence of personal or private decisions and coping strategies. They may develop a collective consciousness as political and/or public if their strategies fail or are rejected because of rigid existing institutions, policies, hierarchies, normalities. A far more consequential impact however is that through the growing distance and discrepancy between young people's lives and societal institutions, their coping strategies change the meanings of key assets of social integration – family, work, citizenship – inasmuch as in their striving for social integration (or better: a good life which depends on social recognition) they have to come to (their) terms with these societal issues.

6.2 Agency and changes in family, work and citizenship – or: doing social integration differently?

After having summarised the impact of the thematic work for the concept of agency, the following sections will turn the perspective around and ask, how – by these considerations regarding agency – the perspective on the three topics would change.

Regarding the topic of on transitions into parenthood the agency-perspective first of all helps to look behind the facade of official discourses on young parenthood – most predominantly the demographic discourse, but also discourses around teenage pregnancy and deficit-oriented discourses. It shows that transitions into parenthood are neither only choices resulting from values and attitudes nor are they only strategies of coping with structural conditions, but have to be regarded as young women's and men's complex engagement in shaping a relevant part of their lives. Aspects of choice (even if riskful and/or constrained) and development of life



projects come into sight, without neglecting the often difficult social and structural contexts, in which this complex engagement takes place.

However, young parents are not only determined by such contexts. As soon as they search and find arrangements for childcare, as soon as they negotiate not only in their private surroundings, but also with other young parents, in their neighbourhoods, or with those, who are responsible for issues around family and work on the local level, they are shaping this social context - mostly on a micro level, but as soon as institutions are involved, also on a meso level – and perhaps in the longer run on a macro level. This is the case whenever local engagement gets sustainable in terms of initiatives which are lasting longer than the urgent needs of some parents. New insights in the topic, promoted by the agency-perspective, make clear that due to a public-private-divide, which still is vivid despite all achievements of feminist movements, the issue of young parenthood is one of those which easily get invisible as every day life policies (Jurczyk & Oechsle, 2006): Family related needs often are seen as "private needs" which tend to stay invisible, but also agency in this field is far from being acknowledged as highly relevant area of shaping young people's life. Their engagement is neither acknowledged as one of high policy relevance (exactly because reworking the publicprivate divide and therefore still being located in the reproductive 'private' sector) nor it is acknowledged as a hot spot of public participation in this phase of young people's life and their contribution to social integration.

Looking at agency as procedural including a constantly changing chordal triad of past, present and future, helps to better understand the complexity of transitions into parenthood: temporality could be an analytical tool on how each parent reworks differently past experiences (own biographical experiences as well as normalities to which they have to position themselves), future prospects (ideas on how to live a life as a young women or men, how to bring all these different strands of family, career, (diverging) interests together, ideas on how to live partnership and intergenerational relationships, etc.) and engages in the challenges of the present – including all negotiation processes which are necessary in this moment (negotiation with partners, with peers, with neighbours, but also, and very relevant, with the own parents, as long as they are available as potential child carers and supporters.) This temporality assumingly is related to gender: coping with gendered demands, but also inventing feminities and masculinities, motherhoods and fatherhoods, and doing family (at least from a subjective perspective) in an own way.



Regarding *young people's participation* a decreasing interest of young people in formal ways of engagement and participation can be stated. At the same time this does not to the same extent apply for their political interest while also new forms of participation do emerge (Spannring et al., 2008). It has also been shown that activities of young people which normally are not referred to and recognised as participation may be potentially participatory as they involve implicit processes of political socialisation or politicisation where they lead to conflict with other citizens or public authorities (Lagrange & Oberti, 2006; Loncle & Muniglia, 2008).

This can be explained by the fact that under conditions of de-standardised and individualised life courses and biographical uncertainty the links between individual need and interest and collective values and action, which are the core modern citizenship (cf. Marshall, 1950) are no longer self-evident but need to be re-established constantly. Individual priorities may not only change from one biographical situation to another but also contradict with each other (Loncle & Muniglia, 2008).

The analytical reflection of these findings from an agency perspective has focussed on the fact that the dominant distinction between participation and non-participation first of all reflects existing inequalities and power relationships: young people do not participate in the forms foreseen by adults and/or institutional actors, either because they lack the appropriate means and opportunities or because these forms are meaningless for them.

At the same time, young people cope and shape their lives socially – together with their peers and families – and they do so in the public sphere whether in public institutions or through occupying public space by youth cultural activities. This means they express needs and interest towards the wider community and/or society claiming. We therefore suggest to interpret young people's choices and actions not as non-participation but as a sign of a changing meaning of citizenship and participation as regards both forms and content.

The working definition that all activities of young people carried out in or addressed to the public are potentially participatory means that the existing forms of participation and citizenship apparently fail in convincing young people in terms of being an effective and just balance between individual and collective. Apart from this, young people do not perceive the public, especially public institutions, as spaces which are relevant for their lives and/or in which they can invest and negotiate their subjective identities. Their activities may (therefore "potentially") include changed meanings of the collective, the public and the common good and thus imply a different mode of politics of social integration.



Inasmuch as young people's lives are more and more characterised by uncertain and precarious transitions stretching over longer and longer times, they do not benefit from citizenship in the way conceptualised by Marshall (1950) as a triad of civil, political and social rights. Pais therefore speaks of "trajective citizenship" (Pais, 2008). As for a majority social rights are suspended the reciprocal responsibility implicit to citizenship is unbalanced: why should they care for a society which does not care for them (France, 1998)?

Another key aspect of young people's activities which corresponds to the challenges of balancing subjective identities in late modern societies is the need and desire for *visibility* as a self-formed and self-performing individual (Stauber, 2004; Walther et al., 2006). Apart from youth cultural scenes only consumption and the media appear to serve this need while public institutions appear to be perceived as alienating. The precondition of their use is adaptation to the standard biographical model which they – more or less – still rely upon. Starting from young people's choices and actions, late modern citizenship might require to add the right of visibility to the triad of citizenship rights mentioned earlier.

Transitions to work of young people with an ethnic minority or migration background, throughout this report have been conceived as one aspect of protracted transitions to adulthood. Work as the central mode of social integration in modern societies has changed considerably in European societies. The flexibilisation of labour markets, the rise of precarious work especially among young people and the higher share of young people among the unemployed render the transition to work more uncertain. These changes provide the historical frame especially for the young descendants of labour migrants. The parent generation could still benefit from a high demand for unskilled or semi-skilled work, however precarious and bad the working conditions were in the labour market sectors they had access to. These labour market sectors are becoming smaller and the labour market even in these sectors increasingly demands higher qualifications. Rather than reducing their disadvantage to different ethnic origin and migration their situation might also be analysed primarily under the perspective of the consequences of post-industrial mass unemployment in segmented labour markets (Wacquant, 2008, p. 161).

The subjective side of these changes have been coined as the "subjectivation of work", i.e. the individuals' expectations to work have changed as well. Work has become more than a way to make a living, but in the eyes of young people has to comply with needs for recognition and self-fulfilment which at the same time has to be fought for constantly. Youth research too



often has dealt with these subjective changes of work in a simplistic way. Typologies and dichotomies like "winners" and "losers" of modernisation can lead to research overlooking the modernisation processes on the side of the less privileged parts of the young population. Parallelling this, transition policies are lagging behind in two ways: on the one hand they tend to define integration into the labour market as the telos of policies for young people in an "in order to" way which disregards the subjective side completely. If the education system cannot guarantee a stable perspective of social integration via employment prospects, in the eye of young people it loses part of its legitimation.

Young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background are concerned by these changes in two ways: on the one side, large sections among them are in the lower segments of the education systems. On the other side, "host" societies – that is public opinion and policymakers alike – look at them from an "old" integration perspective. Increasingly, this look is led by a tendency to individualise societal circumstances for example in stressing the lack of investment of parents from migrant communities in "human capital".

And of course, education and training are important ways to successfully integrate into work. But, at the same time, institutions in the education and training system are central arenas where subjective belonging, inclusion and exclusion are negotiated. School climate and schools' interpretation of a multicultural reality are crucial (Faas, 2008; cf. Kende, 2007). Especially for young men, a subjective gap to these institutions can contribute to processes of marginalisation (Frosh et al., 2002). Therefore, the role ofeducation and training systems need to be researched also under the perspective of whether they are following a "managing diversity" or rather an active anti-discrimination agenda (Wrench, 2004). Institutions dealing with young people need to reflect their own role in the negotiation of belonging – whether it is rather in contributing to "modes of distancing" (Tucci, 2008) or even clientelization (Kamali, 2000) or in opening spaces for young people's agency (cf. Morrison, 2007).

Migrant and ethnic minority youth are in an ongoing social integration process. Often this process is seen as a sort of necessary acculturation to late modern social interaction. As this analysis has underlined, late modern social integration does not necessarily mean cultural or social assimilation. Orientations to "ethnic" traditions should not be interpreted along the lines of tradition and modernity alone, but in a more complex way.

On the one hand, ethnic minority youth are on the road to late modern society, but on the other hand they sometimes are also at the edge of society. Policies of course influence this situation. The first demand for securing social integration is the existence of equal rights and



citizen rights for ethnic minority youth. However, this is not enough. New modes of social integration are rising from what migration researchers are investigating in the context of the trans-nationalisation of migrant communities: globalised culture makes possible a huge variety of transnational and "pluri-local incorporations" (Pries, 1999; Vertovec, 2009).

Sometimes differentiated rights or special interventions are necessary to support the integration process of migrant and ethnic minority youth. With new migratory movements all over Europe, this differentiated policy perspective becomes important. It might be necessary to differentiate policies and perspectives according to different migrant and ethnic minority youth – both in relation to possibilities of supporting migrant and ethnic minority youth's choices of engaging in late modern individualisation and in relation to a more general social integration process.

The solution is not necessarily either an assimilation perspective pointing towards either a very homogeneous culture or a multicultural society. As the report shows, it might be more beneficial to take on a perspective of social and contextual diversity, implying that integration processes are also carried out in local or smaller contexts, in which common interest and activities among local inhabitants are possible to find. Social integration appears to be a matter of attachment and belonging predominantly to the local surroundings and everyday life.

The case of girls from an ethnic minority or migrant background points youth research back to the criticism raised by feminist scholars on the conception of individual emancipation. Youth should not be regarded as a "pure" emancipation process from the family of origin, but as the restructuration of a complex interplay of dependency, responsibility and independence.

Taking over an agency perspective with regard to young people's transitions to what traditionally have been seen as key assets of adulthood implies a fundamental change in conceptualising social integration. Often social integration is referred to in an essentialist way in terms of stable situations and constellations rather than processes. This relates to a picture of society as a container with clear boundaries between inside and outside. Such container ideas of social integration are a heritage of the period of Fordism and its mechanisms of standardisation and normalisation. Obviously they no longer fit to descriptions and concepts of late modern societies in which flexibilisation, de-standardisation and fragmentation reveal the fluidity of social integration (Bauman, 2000). Looking at how family is done (differently), means to acknowledge *that family is changing*. Therefore social integration can no longer be conceptualised as achieving any pre-defined family status. An agency perspective on



transitions to parenthood replaces the idea of family as container by the idea of family as a process consisting of various transitory statuses. With regard to social integration, the concept of family therefore no longer functions in terms of a pre-defined form, but needs to be conceived of a process of 'doing family' in which young mothers and fathers are involved and engaged in negotiation processes of 'doing social integration' – for themselves, as parents, in terms of (new) models of mothering, and fathering, and in terms of doing gender (differently).

The same accounts to participation: obviously, fixed concepts of what civic, social and political participation is like in representative democracies conceal changed relations between individual and collective, and changed meanings of the public and the political. Public engagement is taking place in different spaces than ballot boxes; political movements, be they youth riots, student strikes or 'reclaim the streets' initiatives document how much civic participation is in change. Meanwhile apparently non-political leisure time activities such as skate boarding, consumption or hanging out in public provide keys to changing issues of social integration and citizenship such as the increasing need for visibility under conditions of late modern uncertainty.

In the analysis of transitions to work under conditions of (trans-)migration and minority versus dominant cultures, container ideas of social integration for quite some time have been replaced by a closer look on what (young) people actually *do* in order to create and find their place(s) in society. More concretely, school in this regard is revealed as no longer a means for integration into qualified work but has to be considered as a space of everyday life where processes of intercultural communication, identity work and social positioning are negotiated.

The 'problem of social integration' according to this analysis is largely due to the fact that this concept of social integration is inherent to public institutions which more or less consciously and explicitly still follow the linear standard life course model. In fact, taking the age-related benchmarks of the EU's Education & Training 2010 Strategy into account (especially indicators for pre-school, early school leaving, or lifelong learning) as well as the modularisation of higher education through the Bologna system which aims also at reducing study periods, both strategies can be interpreted as a re-standardisation of life courses under the principle of acceleration (cf. Leccardi, 2005). This relates to the distinction between social and systems integration. While social integration refers to the process of negotiation among individuals as well as between individuals and society, which implies a processual and dynamic understanding, systems integration refers to the institutionalisation of routines and mechanisms replacing direct negotiation. While indispensable in complex societies it is



systems integration which contributes to a concept of 'society as container'. Habermas (1986) has analysed the paradox that on the one hand systems integration depends on rationalities of social integration through direct communication (e.g. young people's motivation for learning, their family orientations or their need of social recognition and public visibility), just as social structure is actualised through individual agency. On the other hand, systems integration tends to colonise social integration inasmuch as it undermines the possibilities of direct interaction and negotiation.

The dilemma of late modern societies is that the increase of uncertainty leads to increasingly differentiated systemic mechanisms aimed at making the future predictable and plannable and at calculating potential risks and effects. According to Ulrich Becks theory of reflexive modernisation it is exactly these mechanisms which increase uncertainty as they increase – at least superficially – individuals' scope of action (Beck, 1992).

However, taking this analysis seriously, means pushing the question *how social integration is done* (*differently*) into the foreground – a change of perspective close to the ethnomethodological turn regarding an understanding of social order. Social integration is taking place in processes, most often in unspectacular, informal implicit processes; young people are 'doing' social integration on the basis of daily routines and practices, they are actively coping with structural demands, they are inventing new solutions for these demands. Therefore the perspective on agency is necessary for the understanding of social integration. This is where culture and learning as procedural dimensions of social integration are relevant:

Learning: far beyond any official learning agenda (and therefore as hidden as the political dimensions related to young parenthood, to civic participation, to transitions into work) agency in its temporal structure is also to be seen as a learning process. While the education perspective highlights an intentional and asymmetric relationship in which the educator aims at directing the learner, the learning perspective has to be seen and analysed as a process and social practice in itself.

Especially informal and non-formal learning processes often enfold in controversial negotiation processes. They result from conflicts emerging from new (and also highly gendered) demands of a quasi-professionalisation of everyday parenting life, in which young women and men have to find their position; they result from frictions with the demands of restandardized educational trajectories which leave no time for engagement; they result from contradictions between what is acknowledged as a contribution to social integration and what is disregarded and blamed as an "ethnic parallel structure" of society .



This learning includes biographical but also collective learning through the cooperative invention of new styles and types of parental, political, work-related engagement. This means doing *culture*: new imageries, new solutions, or old solutions in a different way – wherever young people's agency becomes visible, this will become part of the present culture of being a parent or being a small family, of reconciling family and work, of a gender work share, of the public-private relationship etc. The fact that this largely takes place outside of public institutions – or in public spaces but not in the acknowledged way of using it – explains the immense need for visibility expressed by youth cultural activities and coping strategies. They are a part of a struggle for a broader cultural repertoire of acknowledged coping strategies, life styles and forms of engagement beyond the standard life course.

Individual agency actually contributes to social integration and thus to social change – not only (actually in very few cases) intentionally as a side-effect of personal coping strategies which need to be achieved within and negotiated or fought for against existing structures.

The dimension of temporality allows us to understand how the past tends to determine agency through existing structures and incorporated experiences while at the same time the necessity to project oneself towards a meaningful future and to act in – often unclear – present situations qualifies and transgresses the past and opens opportunities for individual interpretation and action. Considering temporality means considering process: it is an important element of a "realistic" concept of agency, which is as open for binding structures as it is for change (cf. Archer, 2003). Processuality and temporality are included in a biographical perspective (Schütze, 2003), and in career-concepts such as learning careers or motivational careers (Bloomer & Hodkinson, 2000; Walther et al., 2006). Understanding action as temporal and socially as well as biographically embedded allows us to identify the relationship between structural influences as well as their (non-)intentional aspects.

6.3 A paradigmatic turn towards agentic youth and transition research – or from freeze-frames to moving pictures

Young people's agency and their contribution to social change – i.e. changing social integration – can only be analysed if youth and transition research open towards more comprehensive designs. Instead of focussing on input in terms of the values, orientations and attitudes of young people, often applying decontextualised indicators which neglect and conceal the generation of such orientations, and on outcomes in terms of measurable



transition steps and actions, agency-related research also pays attention to the decision-making processes inbetween which are never isolated but embedded within social interaction. This requires process-oriented in-depth research which makes internal logics and complex negotiation processes visible.

Inasmuch as the UP2YOUTH process has largely consisted in reviewing existing research on young parenthood and transitions to work, especially regarding ethnic minority and migrant youth, and participation, we have identified numerous research gaps. These primarily concern the decision-making processes of young people. In the following paragraphs we present some exemples of research gaps and questions emerging from these reviews:

With regard to *transitions into parenthood* and social integration in terms of doing family, little is known about informal networking processes among partners, between the generations, within neighbourhoods and among peers and how such networking processes do (or undo) gender (cf. Butler, 2004). There is also hardly any analysis of where young parents actually learn being and acting as parents and to what extent their informal learning processes can be interpreted as processes of participation through negotiation among themselves as well as with institutional actors.

Little research has been carried out on what *participation* means for young people from their biographical point of view, or on how specific issues and forms of participation become relevant and subjectively meaningful for them. This includes a lack of knowledge regarding the meaning of the public, of collectivity and the common good. In fact, youth participation is measured with regard to what adults and institutional actors define as relevant. Research might be carried out on the role the increasing need of visibility plays in young people's choices of activities in the public (e.g. consumerism as participation).

Transitions to work of young people with an ethnic minority or migration background have not yet been researched from a biographical perspective where local circumstances are compared between different European countries. The subjective meaning-making between the local and the global givens of the transition systems would shed light into why some policies are more likely to be taken up by local communities are some are not.

Cross-cutting questions concern how subjective meaning emerges from contextualized experiences of one's own actions, which is always is to be regarded as interaction and (collective) meaning-making. This means, that relationships between goals and means of action, which are rarely analysed in a dialectic way but from either the means or the goal side, have to be analysed regarding the interaction process between them.



Another cross-cutting research strategy stems from the consideration of intersecting lines of social differences and hierarchies (Brah & Phoenix 2004), which represent the complex reality in which young people's agency emerge, is hindered, and partly is facilitated. This also means including in research perspectives the body as both the source of needs, motives and intentions as well as the carrier of action into research perspectives, not only with regard to young parenthood or youth cultures but also with regard to issues such as education, work or political expression.

Comparative research is important for the understanding how different social contexts do frame individual agency differently. We have applied the model of transition regimes which in a heuristic way distinguishes different ideal types of constellations of normality in which socio-economic, cultural and institutional factors interact with individual biographical orientations and decision-making processes. This model highlights general aspects of structure and agency – actually Settersten and Gannon (2005) argue that comparative analysis helps to shed light into the "spaces inbetween" – from context-specific ones. This allows us to not only analyse how structure enables and restricts agency but also how structure is being reproduced and modified differently through agency.

6.4 Implications of 'doing social integration' for youth and transition policies

This report has been mainly concerned with theoretical reflections on the relationship between young people's agency, social integration and social change based on the review of existing empirical research finding. Nevertheless, these reflections have implications for policy and practice concerned with young people. In this report we will concentrate on rather general policy recommendations in terms of principles of policy and practice from an agency perspective. These principles are concretised and related to exemplary practice in the collection of current practices (see the UP2YOUTH website http://www.up2youth.org/content/view/192/60/).

One general insight is that young people depend to a large extent on facilitating structures, such as socio-economic resources and opportunity spaces, in order to negotiate, shape and cope with uncertain transitions to family, work and citizenship, especially where they are structured by precariousness. However, the success of these facilitating measures and structures in turn cannot secure predictable trajectories. They require that young people



perceive them as accessible, relevant and manageable and in consequence accept and use them.

This implies that they need to allow for individual ways of using them according to subjective needs and priorities. UP2YOUTH builds on previous EU-funded research such as Misleading Trajectories (Walther et al. 2002) or Youth Policy and Participation (Walther et al., 2006) in which featured the concept of Integrated Transitions Policies (cf. López-Blasco et al., 2003). Integrated Transition Policies are characterised by coordinating different policies affecting young people's lives starting from their biographical perspective. Especially, analysis of research on young parenthood has revealed that this is not yet the case for many young women and men in terms of a lack of resources and opportunities needed to reconcile work, studies and family.

Pais (2003) has described youth trajectories in late modernity by the metaphor of "maze" with youth policies mostly aiming at helping young people out of the maze. As he argues, however, this metaphor does not only apply to youth but to late modern life in general, and so such policies turn into misleading trajectories. Appropriate policies instead focus on supporting life within the maze. Supporting transitions processes as such, rather than focusing on the potential but increasingly uncertain end point or arriva, whether this is work, family or an adult citizen status implies a balance between security and flexibility. On the one hand young people need income security as well as secure access to forms of social support while at the same time these support systems need to be highly flexible to allow young people individualised use. This flexicurity (Stauber et al., 2003) is closest to the transition systems of the universalistic regime type because there social rights for support are connected to the individual citizenship status which is largely independent on the individual's life situation. The liberal regime shares the reference point of the individual citizen while the concept of citizenship is much more that of a self-responsible entrepreneur than of an autonomous individual embedded in and supported by reciprocal solidarity. In the employment-centred and sub-protective transition in contrast systems of social security and social support are connected largely to family and employment status. While providing rather different levels of support this makes them rather inflexible both with regard to individual cases and to social change in general.

Another aspect of Integrated Transition Policies is the reflexivity of institutional actors in order to realise different needs and effects of support in different biographies. The fact that the positive performance of the universalistic transition regime does not extend to the same



extent to ethnic minority and migrant youth suggests that other (dis-)integrative factors are at play which normally are not taken into consideration. For example migrant and ethnic minority youth receive contradictory messages between inclusive education or welfare and exclusive immigration policies, which may undermine feelings of being recognised as individuals and trust towards the institutions offering support.

The last key principle of Integrated Transition Policies is participation with the right of choice in taking biographical decisions, which needs to be secured through income security and negotiation rights. UP2YOUTH has been concerned with the obvious mismatch between institutional expectations of how young people should participate and young people's actual activities and priorities. According to Zygmunt Bauman this results from a lack of public space where individuals can communicate their needs, interest and aspiration and negotiate it with other concerned co-citizens. This includes the inadequacy of public institutions such as education, family and welfare policy or participation programmes for such dialogic exchange due to their prerequisites in terms of certain specific ways of conduct, lifestyle and aspiration.

Inasmuch as young people do not feel recognised as individuals policies need to be designed in a way allowing for visibility to make sure that one's subjective needs and interest are not neglected; and – what is as important – to realise that young people *are already acting*. Their activities are more or less successful due to unequal access to resources; their activities are more or less in line with dominant norms and models of coping. Discrepancies may partly result from lack of competencies and opportunities. They definitely also reflect that young people make decisions and act under conditions which have dramatically changed and which institutional actors have not yet realised.

6.5 Break-down to the three UP2YOUTH sub-themes

In the following we break down the more general recommendations developed thus far into more specific recommendations and quality standards regarding the three topic transitions; parenthood, transitions into work of migrant and ethnic minority youth and participation.

Transitions to Parenthood

In the field of *transitions into parenthood* a core concern is not to reduce young men's and women's choices to the timing of parenthood (too early or too late). Policies that aim to support young people in the shaping of their transitions into parenthood need to be cognizant



of the young people's needs and interests, and to be aware of the young people's subjective interpretation of concepts such as parenthood, mother and father, and family forms.

Biographical dilemmas resulting from the difficulties in reconciling different transition demands need to be recognised. Policies addressing core problems in transitions to parenthood contribute to;

- The solving the difficulties in reconciling young parenthood with training,
- The reconciling young parenthood with the demands of the workplace and career development, including an influencing enterprises such as implementing family-friendly work cultures so as to encourage active fathering
- The reconciliation of young parenthood with youth life.

This includes

- Temporal policies, such as access to part-time education,
- Access to public childcare facilities and accommodation. This includes innovative ideas around supporting private solutions for childcare to allow for flexible use based upon individual needs and life arrangements;
- Monetary transfers,
- Gender policies.

On this policy level we are returning to the basic idea of *securing spaces for young people to navigate and create their own ways into parenthood.* For example, space for negotiation among partners and between generations regarding issues such as work share or housing always have an underlying crude material basis, which has to be provided for in social policy.

However, in order to make use of space for negotiation, additional programs are needed to support young people in family activities. This includes parental and familial education which is not limited to competency in baby care traditionally provided by medical counselling. It requires support in all those areas which are necessary for shaping a relationship under new circumstances; for developing and defending concepts of partnership in everyday life, and for negotiating with institutions and employers.

Modern parental education needs to therefore include concepts such as gender competence, civic participation, and accessible local facilities for the creation of one's own networks. It should recognize that not all young parents have access to such programs and that this access



is something which has to be actively created and organized. The New Deal for Lone Parents in the United Kingdom is one example how educational elements are included in employment programs for lone parents, empowering them in doing family differently.

A further dimension refers to the policies which support, empower and acknowledge informal network building, e.g. father's networks. These networks are crucial for strengthening young people's ability to actively shape their transitions into parenthood. Additionally, they allow young parents to renounce normalising scripts dictating when the transition into parenthood should take place and how parenthood should be perceived.

Policies addressing specific groups run the risk of stigmatising respective groups. This requires the formulation of policies which acknowledge the development of each person's own imagery of how to be a young parent. The UK Father Figures Project serves as one of the scarce examples of this type of programme.

Two examples of policies which have the potential of bridging the three topics of transitions into parenthood, migration and participation in an exemplary way are (1)'the Brede Schools' in the Netherlands (addressing ethnic minority families and allowing the reconciliation of family and work) and (2) the 'Mothers' project in the city council of Alessandria in Italy (bridging the topic of transitions into parenthood and participation, a feature of all policies which support networking initiatives for young parents).

The collection of current practices which follows in the end of this document represents a set of snapshots. The majority of these practices do not include all the of dimensions or aspects mentioned above but they are relevant steps in the further development of policies appropriate to supporting young people in their transitions to parenthood and as actors of social change.

Quality criteria in transitions to work policies

Policy-making in the area of transitions to work mainly has to deal with the changing demands of the world of labour. Simultaneously, youth and young adulthood have established themselves as a distinct life stage rather than a transitory period en route to adulthood. A significant majority of young people with ethnic minority or migrant backgrounds are affected by these changes in a particular way and policy-making needs to be aware of the particular agency related to these situations.

In most European countries the changes in the working world imply a diversification of education and training pathways. This makes a life-course or life-cycle perspective in policy-making, aimed at the biographical viability of individual education and training careers,



indispensable. Although this is primarily a task of high-level planning in educational and training institutions at systems level, individual support mechanisms need to be established that work on the level of transitions between the different cycles of the education and training system. This can mean strengthening counselling and support mechanisms (such as vocational and career guidance) and qualifying these services to deal with the life situations of young people from an ethnic minority or migration background.

In the same vein, misleading trajectories need to be avoided by making transitions and shifts between and within education and training tracks reintegratable into subjectively rewarding careers. One method of achieving this goal is the modularization of training systems. This could be especially beneficial to young people who have fewer opportunities to enter into these tracks. Self-employment as a wide-spread strategy to secure employment among certain migrant communities should be combined with efforts to recognise informally and nonformally acquired skills; these skills can also acquire compatibility with recognised qualifications.

On the other side of the coin, the de-coupling of education and employment systems implies a self-reflective perspective within these education and training systems. If education and training can no longer guarantee integration by awarding qualifications that open the door to stable employment, then their legitimacy in the eyes of young people is no longer self-evident.

Education and training institutions need to reflect this new reality and they need to be reshaped from 'prescribing' institutions into institutions which are part of young people's real life worlds. For young people with an ethnic minority or migration background this situation needs to be reflected in two ways;

- (1) Institutions such as schools and training institutions have to be aware of the subtler forms of unintended and indirect forms of institutional discrimination that currently exist and build into their standard procedures methods of dealing pro-actively with this phenomenon.
- (2) Education and training are central social arenas wherein social integration and social positioning are negotiated between institutions and young people and also amongst young people themselves.

Therefore school climate and each school's interpretation of a multi-cultural reality are crucial ingredients in discerning how young people perceive themselves and how young people discern the society around them.



In general, institutions need to be open and reflexive regarding their own role in the process of ethnicisation or "racialisation" of societal and social conflicts, and of social constellations. Ideally, they provide a flexible space wherein young people's negotiation of social identities and social positioning are kept open. Gender awareness is a critical point in case and the above principles means that both gender-specific approaches and gender-aware mainstream services are required. This perspective gains yet more importance for girls and young women who come from communities influenced by strong and traditional gender role allocation. For these communities, a perspective of what males can gain or lose from positioning themselves in such constellations can provide a clue to solving the rising problems associated with the educational and societal disintegration of boys and young men.

The degree of institutional flexibility on the issues of belonging and social identities presents a dilemma in the targeting of policies for youth: the narrower the definition of a target group, the more risk of closing the space required for negotiation and the greater the risk of stigmatising effects.

Non-formal education in youth and community work settings in this respect seems to be capable of delivering two benefits: (1) providing migrant or ethnic minority communities with the means to celebrate diversity without losing sight of society as a whole and (2), possessing a set of working methods that allows for coping with the challenges described above. To maximise these strengths all categories of non-formal education need to be recognised as valuable elements in young people's education and need top be closely linked into local, regional and national transition systems.

Ethnic and migratory background young people's relative disadvantages in transitions to the labour force are primarily attributed to disadvantageous social conditions such as low income, housing issues related to socially disadvantageous concentration of problems in disadvantaged neighbourhoods and areas. To combat this state of affairs transition policies have to be embedded into a whole set of policies that attempt narrow the gap between disadvantaged groups and mainstream society. This should not of course neglect general anti-discrimination policies, anti-racist initiatives and intercultural perspectives in mainstream institutions.

Quality criteria in participation policies

An agency-based approach to enhancing young people's participation regarding "decisions which concern them and, in general, the life of their communities" (European Commission, 2001, p.8) implies the following set of quality standards:



- Accepting a diversity of conceptual and actual types of participation and overcoming the dominant dichotomies of what is and what is not participation:
 - Firstly, because not all young people have the same opportunities and competencies;
 - Secondly, because different issues are relevant for different young people;
 - Thirdly, because different types of participation hold the key to understanding the changing meaning of participation including the changing meaning of politics, collectivism and public space in late modernity.
- Implementing participation mechanisms in all ('hard and soft') institutional contexts in which young people's lives and transitions to adulthood are shaped:
 - School: extending pupils and students participation from organising extra-curricular activities to participation on contents, forms, assessment and organisation of learning;
 - Youth policy: broadening the opportunities of young people's involvement beyond youth councils through projects that allow for on-and-off engagement and open youth work;
 - Transitions to work: allowing for both choice and experimentation in counselling, orientation, pre-vocational education, training, work experience and employment schemes through negotiation and/or veto rights for unemployed young people in relation to institutional job and/or training scheme offers and the provision of service user councils in relevant institutions (e.g. job centre);
 - Transitions to parenthood: young parents as well as young people in transition to parenthood need to be consulted in relation to family policy making whilst also being allowed choice and flexibility in other transition policies.
- Providing public spaces in which young people can:
 - Express and negotiate their needs and interests, their experiences and their views,
 - Experiment with life styles in interaction with others (peers groups and the wider community).



- Young people should not be criminalized in occupying and utilizing public space; the
 differing needs and interests of young people and other citizens can be reconciled
 through negotiation between and amongst these groupings.
- Ensuring that alternative solutions meet all of the young people's needs; not just the easiest to satisfy (e.g. providing 'half-pipes' for skaters in the suburban outskirts will not end conflicts in the city centre as skaters strive for visibility).

The decoupling of participation rights from achievements and progress in transitions to work:

Conditions of de-standardised transitions to adulthood have lead to a postponement and partial suspension of the citizenship status of young people, participation in itself must be a right for young people.

Current trends (e.g. the Commission's communication on youth policy 'Investing and Empowering', European Commission, 2009) increasingly connect participation with the generation of human capital. While participation is likely to have multiple learning effects, participation must not be reduced to measurable competence and employability. A number of key points emerge in this regard;

- Learning from participation is non-formal learning; it cannot be designed *per se* but only be designed for. Wenger 1998, p.)
- Young people's labour market integration is not only a problem of employability and education; it also stems from economic flexibilisation and globalisation. Given the relationship between education and social inequality, connecting participation and human capital may increase rather than reduce unequal citizenship rights among young people.

Youth cultures need to be recognised as contextual settings in which young people develop political orientations together with subjectively meaningful life styles. This suggests that policy making has to;

- Accept and support political countercultures rather than criminalise them;
- Recognising leisure-oriented youth cultural activities as young people attempting to balance their identities and shape their lives in public.

Addressing young people's activities in the public realm, or directed to a public audience, as *potentially* participatory implies that any means of dialogue, exchange and understanding



exhibits the young people's underlying needs, interest and aspirations as well as offering the potential for altered meanings of participation.



References

- Alba, Richard; Nee, Victor (2003): Remaking the American mainstream. Assimilation and contemporary immigration. Cambridge (Mass.), London: Harvard University Press.
- Alheit, Peter & Dausien, Bettina (2000): Biographicity. as a basic resource of lifelong learning., Peter Alheit et al. (eds.) Lifelong Learning Inside and Outside of Schools. Roskilde: Roskilde University, pp. 400-422.
- Alheit, Peter (1995): Biographical learning. Theoretical outline, challenges and contradictions of a new approach in adult education. In: Alheit, Peter (ed.): The Biographical Approach in European Adult Education. Wien: Edition Volkshochschule, 55–75.
- Alheit, Peter (1996): Changing Basic Rules of Biographical Construction. Modern Biographies at the End of the 20th Century. In: Weymann, Ansgar; Heinz, Walter R. (eds.): Society and Biography. Interrelationships between Social Structure, Institutions and the Life Course. Weinheim: Deutscher Studienverlag, 111–128.
- Alheit, Peter (2005): Stories and structures: An essay on historical times, narratives and their bidden impact. Studies in the Education of Adults 37(2), 201-212.
- Alheit, Peter & Dausien, Bettina (2000). Die biographische Konstruktion der Wirklichkeit. In E. Hoerning (eds.), Biographische Sozialisation. (pp. 257-283). Stuttgart: Lucius und Lucius.
- Allmendinger, Jutta (1989): Educational systems and labour market outcomes. In: European Sociological Review, 5(3), 231–250.
- Alund, Aleksandra; Schierup, Carl Ulrik (1991): Paradoxes of multiculturalism. Aldershot: Avebury.
- Anderson, Benedict (1991): Imagined Communities. Reflections on the Origin and Spread of Nationalism. London: Verso.
- Andersson, Mette (2003): Immigrant youth and the dynamics of marginalization. In: Young, 11(1), 74–89.
- Antonovsky, Anton (1987): Unravelling the Mystery of Health, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Aparicio, Rosa (2007): The Integration of the Second and 1.5 Generations of Moroccan, Dominican and Peruvian Origin in Madrid and Barcelona. In: Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 33(7), 1169–1193. http://www.informaworld.com/10.1080/13691830701541713 [May 20, 2009].
- Archer, Margaret S. (2000): Homo economicus, homo sociologicus and homo sentiens., in Archer, Margaret S. & Tritter, Jonathan Q. (eds.) Rational Choice Theory . Resisting Colonization, London: Routledge, 36-57.
- Archer, Margaret S. (2003): Structure, Agency and the Internal Conversation. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bäck-Wiglund, Margaret & Plantin, Lars (2007): The Workplace as an Arena for Negotiating the Work-Family Boundary: a case study of two Swedish Social Services Agencies, in: Crompton, Rosemary, Lewis, Suzan & Lyonette, Clare (Eds.) 2007: Women, Men, Work and Family in Europe, Houndsmills et al.: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 171-189.



- Badawia, Tarek (2001): "Der Dritte Stuhl" Eine Grounded Theory-Studie zum kreativen Umgang bildungserfolgreicher Immigrantenjugendlicher mit kultureller Differenz (The Third Chair A Grounded Theory Study on creative coping of educationally successful young immigrants with cultural difference) IKO-Verlag, Frankfurt a.M..
- Badawia, Tarek (2003): "Der dritte Stuhl" Eine Entwicklungsperspektive für Immigrantenjugendliche aus einem Ethnisierungsdilemma. In: Badawia, Tarek; Hamburger, Franz; Hummrich, Merle (eds.): Wider die Ethnisierung einer Generation. Beiträge zur qualitativen Migrationsforschung. Frankfurt a.M.: IKO-Verlag, 131–147.
- Banaji, Shakuntala (2009): CIVICWEB Young People, the Internet and Civic Participation; presentation at the UP2YOUTH policy seminar, 5-6 march 2009, Brussels
- Bandura, Albert (1997): Self-Efficacy: The Exercise of Control. New York: W.H. Freeman.
- Banting, Keith; Kymlicka, Will (2005): Les politiques de multiculturalisme nuisent-elles à l'État-providence? In: Lien social et Politiques(53), 119–127. http://www.erudit.org/revue/lsp/2005/v/n53/011650ar.pdf [19.05.2008].
- Bauman, Zygmunt (1995): Life in fragments. Essays in postmodern morality. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Bauman, Zygmunt (2000): Liquid Modernity. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Bauman, Zygmunt (2001): Modernity and Ambivalence. Ithaca, N.Y.: Cornell University Press.
- Bechmann Jensen, Torben & Mørch-Hejl, Gry (2001): Denmark. National Report. YOYO working paper. Download: ww.iris-egris.de/yoyo.
- Bechmann Jensen, Torben; Mørch, Sven; Hansen, Brian; Stokholm, Marlene (2007): Transitions to work of young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background. Synthesis of National Reports. Discussion paper for the UP2YOUTH project. Herausgegeben von UP2YOUTH. IRIS. Tübingen.
- Beck, Ulrich (1998): Democracy without Enemies. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Beck, Ulrich (1992): Risk Society: Towards a New Modernity. London: Sage.
- Beck, Ulrich; Giddens, Anthony; Lash, Scott (eds.) (1994): Reflexive modernization. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Bendit, René; Stokes, Dermot (2003): 'Disadvantage': transition policies between social construction and the needs of vulnerable youth. In: López Blasco, Andreu; McNeish, Wallace; Walther, Andreas (eds.): Young people and contradictions of inclusion: towards Integrated Transition Policies in Europe. Bristol: Policy Press, 261–283.
- Benjamin, Jessica (1988) The Bonds of Love: Psychoanalysis, Feminism and the Problem of Domination, Pantheon Books.
- Bergnéhr, Disa (2008): Timing Parenthood. Linköping University.
- Bertram, Hans; Rösler, Wiebke & Ehlert, Nancy (2005): Nachhaltige Familienpolitik. Zukunftssicherung durch einen Dreiklang von Zeitpolitik, finanzieller Transferpolitik und Infrastrukturpolitik (Sustainable family policy . a triad of time policy, transfer policy and infrastructural policy). Gutachten für das Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend. Berlin. http://www.bmfsfj.de/Kategorien/Publikationen/Publikationen,did=19166.html



- Biesta, Gert & Tedder, Michael (2007): Agency and Learning in the Lifecourse: Towards an Ecological Perspective, in: Studies in the Education of Adults, Vol. 39, No. 2, 132-149.
- Biesta, Gert; Tedder, Michael (2006): How is agency possible? Towards an ecological understanding of agency-as-achievement. Learning-Lives Working Paper 5. Herausgegeben von University of Exeter. Exeter. http://www.learninglives.org/papers/working_papers/Working_paper_5_Exeter_Feb_0 6.pdf [03.02.2009].
- Biggart, Andy (2005): Families and Transitions in Europe. Final report of the Research project FATE. Coleraine: University of Ulster.
- Biggart, Andy; Walther, Andreas (2006): Coping with Yo-yo Transitions: Young Adults Struggle for Support, between Family and State in Comparative Perspective. In: Leccardi, Carmen; Ruspini, Elisabetta (eds.): A New Youth? Young People, Generations and Familiy Life. Aldershot: Ashgate, 41–62.
- Birzea, Cesar et al. (2004) *The All-European Study on Pupils' Participation School*. Strasbourg: Council of Europe.
- Bloomer, Martin; Hodkinson, Phil (2000): Learning Careers: continuity and change in young people's dispositions to learn. In: British Educational Journal, 26(5), 583–597.
- Blumer, Herbert (1969): Symbolic interactionism. Perspective and method. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice Hall.
- Boeck, Thilo (2007): Young People, Social Capital and the Navigation of Life Transitions. Paper for the DfES Youth Strategy Review. DfES. Leicester. http://www.bl.dmu.ac.uk/Images/5.%20Young%20People%20Social%20Capital%20a nd%20the%20Navigation%20of%20Life%20Transitions%20-%20Thilo%20Boeck_tcm6-11001.pdf [22.05.2009].
- Boeck, Thilo; Fleming, Jennie; Kemshall, Hazel (2006): The Context of Risk Decisions: Does Social Capital Make a Difference? In: Forum Qualitative Social Research, 7(1). http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fgs/article/view/55/113 [22.05.2009].
- Böhler, Dietrich (1985): Rekonstruktive Pragmatik. Von der Bewusstseinsphilosophie zur Kommunikationsreflexion (Reconstructive Pragmatics). Frankfurt a.M.: Suhrkamp.
- Böhnisch, Lothar (1997): Sozialpädagogik der Lebensalter. Eine Einführung (Social Pedagogy of Life Ages. An Introduction), Weinheim and Munich: Juventa.
- Bolognani, Marta (2007): The Myth of Return: Dismissal, Survival or Revival? A Bradford Example of Transnationalism as a Political Instrument. In: Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 33(1), 59–76.
- Bommes, Michael; Morawska, Ewa (2004): International Migration Research. Constructions, Omissions and the Promises of Interdisciplinarity. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Bordes, V. (2006): Être rappeur et devenir acteur de la sociéte ou comment prendre place en s'inscrivant dans une pratique juvenile. Paris.
- du Bois-Reymond, Manuela (1998): 'I don't want to commit myself yet.' Young people's life-concepts. In: Journal of Youth Studies, 1(1), 63–79.
- du Bois-Reymond, Manuela (2004): Youth Learning Europe. Ménage à trois? In: Young, 12(3), 187–204.



- du Bois-Reymond, Manuela (2008): Young parenthood, agency and social change. Thematic report for the research project 'Youth Actor of Social Change' (UP2YOUTH). IRIS. Tübingen. http://www.up2youth.org/downloads/task,doc_download/gid,71/[06.05.2009].
- du Bois-Reymond, Manuela (2009): Young Parenthood in the Netherlands. YOUNG, vol. 17 (3): 265-306)
- du Bois-Reymond, Manuela & López Blasco, Andreu (2003): Yo-yo transitions and misleading trajectories: toward integrated transition policies for young adults in Europe. In: López Blasco, Andreu; McNeish, Wallace; Walther, Andreas (eds.): Young people and contradictions of inclusion: towards Integrated Transition Policies in Europe. Bristol: Policy Press, 19–41.
- Boswell, Christina (2005): Migration in Europe. A paper prepared for the Policy Analysis and Research Programme of the Global Commission on International Migration. Global Commission on International Migration. www.temaasyl.se/upload/Migration%20in%20Europe.pdf [04.04.2007].
- Bourdieu, Pierre (1977): Outline of a Theory of Practice. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bourdieu, Pierre (1990): The Logic of Practice. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Bourdieu, Pierre (1994): Distinction: a social critique of the judgement of taste. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Bradley, Harriet; van Hoof, Jacques (eds.) (2005): Young people in Europe. Labour markets and citizenship. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Brah, Avtar & Poenix, Ann (2004): 'Ain't I A Woman? Revisiting Intersectionality'. *Journal of International Women's Studies Vol* 5 (3), 75-86.
- Brannen, Julia; Lewis, Suzan; Nilsen, Ann, & Smithson, Janet (2002): Young Europeans, Work and Family. Futures in Transition. London: Routledge.
- Brannen, Julia & Nilsen, Ann (2002): Young people's time perspectives: From youth to adulthood. In: Sociology, 36, 513–539.
- Breckner, Roswitha (2007): Case-Oriented Comparative Approaches. The Biographical Perspective as Potential and Challenge in Migration Research. In: Schittenhelm, Karin (ed.): Concepts and Methods in Migration Research. Conference Reader. Siegen: Study Group "Cultural Capital during Migration", 113–152.
- Brooks, Rachel & Everett, Glyn (2008): New European Learners? An analysis of the 'trendsetter' thesis. In: Journal of Youth Studies, 11(4), 377–391.
- Brouwer, Lenie (1992): Binding religion. Moroccan and Turkish runaway girls. In: Shadid, Wasid; van Koningsveld, Sjoerd (eds.): Islam in Dutch Society: Current Developments and Future Prospects. Kampen: Kok Pharos, 75–89.
- Brubaker, Rogers (1992): Citizenship and nationhood in France and Germany. Cambridge (Mass.), London: Harvard University Press.
- Brubaker, Rogers (2001): The return of assimilation? Changing perspectives on immigration and its sequels in France, Germany, and the United States. In: Ethnic and Racial Studies, 24, 531–548.
- Brubaker, Rogers (2005): The 'diaspora' diaspora. In: Ethnic and Racial Studies, 28(1), 1–19.



- Brüderl, Josef; Castiglioni, Laura; Krieger, Ulrich, & Pforr, Klaus (2007): Methodological Report Research Project .Mini-Panel zur Familien- und Beziehungsentwicklung. Mannheim: 2007.
- Brünzel S. (2000) "Reclaim the Streets. Karneval und Konfrontation". In: *derive Zeitschrift für Stadtforschung*. 2: 41-46
- Buchmann, Claudia; Parrado, Emilio A. (2006): Educational Achievement of Immigrant-Origin and Native Students. In: Baker, David; Wiseman, Alexander (eds.): The Impact of Comparative Education Research on Institutional Theory. St. Louis: JAI, 335–366.
- Butler, Judith (2004): Undoing gender. New York: Routledge.
- Castells, Manuel (1996): The rise of the network society. Malden: Blackwell.
- Castles, Stephen; Miller, Mark (2003): The age of migration. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- CIVICWEB (2007) D4 Report: Young People, the Internet and Civic Participation: State of the Art Report, Institute of Education, University of London. CIVICWEB project working paper. Download: http://www.civicweb.eu/images/stories/reports/civicweb%20wp5% 20final.pdf [7.8.2008]
- Clifford, James (1994): Diasporas. In: Cultural Anthropology, 9(3), 302–338.
- Coffield, Frank (2000) The necessity of informal learning. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Cohen, Phil; Ainley, Pat (2000): In the Country of the Blind? Youth Studies and Cultural Studies in Britain. In: Journal of Youth Studies, 3(1), 79–95.
- Coleman, James S. (1990): Foundations of Social Theory. Cambridge: Belknap.
- Cooke B. & Kothari U. (eds.) (2001) Participation, The New Tyranny? London: Zed Books.
- Côté, James (2000): Arrested Adulthood: The Changing Nature of Identity and Maturity in the Late-Modern World. New York: New York University Press.
- Côté, James (2002): The Role of Identity Capital in the Transition to Adulthood: The Individualization Thesis Examined. In: Journal of Youth Studies, 5(2), 117–133.
- Crul, Maurice; Doomernik, Jeroen (2003): The Turkish and Moroccan Second Generation in the Netherlands: Divergent Trends between and Polarization within the Two Groups. In: International Migration Review, 37(4), 1039–1064.
- Crul, Maurice; Schneider, Jens (2009): The Second Generation in Europe. Education and the Transition to the Labour Market. TIES Policy Brief. Herausgegeben von TIES. TIES. Amsterdam. http://www.tiesproject.eu/component/option,com_docman/task,doc_download/gid,410 /Itemid,142/ [20.05.2009].
- Crul, Maurice; Vermeulen, Hans (2003): The Second Generation in Europe. In: International Migration Review, 37(4), 965–986.
- Csikszentmihalyi, Mihaly (1997) Creativity: Flow and the psychology of discovery and invention. New York: Harper Collins.
- Deci, Edward L. & Ryan, Richard M. (1985): Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior. New York: Plenum Press.
- Dewey, John (1916): Democracy and education. New York



- Diepstraten, Isabelle; Du Bois-Reymond, Manuela; Vinken, Henk (2006): Trendsetting Learning Biographies: Concepts of Navigating through Late-modern Life and Learning. In: Journal of Youth Studies, 9(2), 175–193.
- DiMaggio, Paul; Hargittai, Eszter (2001): From the 'Digital Divide' to 'Digital Inequality': Studying Internet Use As Penetration Increases. Princeton University. Princeton, NJ. http://www.webuse.umd.edu/webshop/resources/Dimaggio_Digital_Divide.pdf [12.07.2009].
- Dimitri, Alvaro; Marvakis, Athanasios; Parsanoglou, Dimitris; Petracou, Electra (2008): Precarious Trajectories: Migrant youth regimes in Greece. In: Titley, Gavan; Lentin, Alana (eds.): The Politics of Diversity in Europe. Strasbourg: Council of Europe Publishing.
- Dürr K-H. (2003) *The school: a democratic learning community. The All-European Study on Pupils' Participation School.* Strasbourg: Council of Europe. [www.coe.int/t/dg4/education/edc/Source/Pdf/Documents/2003_23_All-EuropStudyChildrenParticipation_En.PDF]
- EGRIS (European Group for Integrated Social Research) (2001): Misleading Trajectories: Transition Dilemmas of Young Adults in Europe. Journal of Youth Studies, 4(1), 101-118.
- Elchardus, Mark; Smits, Wendy (2006): The Persistence of the Standardized Life Cycle. In: Time & Society, 15(2-3), 303–326.
- Elder, Glen H. (1985): Life Course Dynamics. Trajectories and Transitions, 1968-1980. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- El-Tayeb, Fatima (2003): 'If You Can't Pronounce My Name, You Can Just Call Me Pride': Afro-German Activism, Gender and Hip Hop. In: Gender & History, 15(3), 460–486.
- Emirbayer, Mustafa; Mische, Ann (1998): What is Agency? In: American Journal of Sociology, 103(4), 962–1023.
- Esping-Andersen, Gøsta (1990): The three worlds of welfare capitalism. Princeton, NJ: Princeton Univ. Press.
- Esser, Hartmut (1996): Soziologie. Allgemeine Grundlagen (Sociology. General Foundations). Frankfurt a.M., New York: Campus.
- EU-MISSOC (2008): http://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=2450&langId=en [20.05.2008]
- Eurobarometer (2007) *Young Europeans*. A survey among young people aged between 15-30 in the European Union. Analytical Report, Brussels: Eurostat.
- European commission (2001) White paper. A new impetus for European Youth, Brussels, 21.11, 681 final.
- European Commission (2005) Addressing the concerns of young people in Europe implementing the European Youth Pact and promoting active citizenship.

 Communication from the Commission to the Council. Available at http://europa.eu.int/comm/youth/whitepaper/post-launch/com_206_en.pdf (consulted 19 January 2006).
- European Commission (2007) *Promoting young people's full participation in education, employment and society.* Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the



- Committee of the Regions. COM(2007) 498 final. Download: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/site/en/com/2007/com2007_0498en01.pdf [25.9.2008]
- European Commission (2008): Green Paper: Migration & mobility: challenges and opportunities for EU education systems. Brussels. (COM(2008)423). http://ec.europa.eu/education/school21/com423_en.pdf [21.11.2008].
- European Council (2005): The European Youth Pact. Council Resolution.
- European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions 2007
- European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (EUAFR) (2008): European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights Annual Report. European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights. Vienna. http://fra.europa.eu/fra/material/pub/ar08/ar08_en.pdf [21.11.2008].

Eurostat 2008

- Eurydice (2004): Integrating Immigrant Children into Schools in Europe. Luxemburg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.
- Evans, Karen (2002): Taking Control of their Lives? Agency in Young Adult Transitions in England and the New Germany. In: Journal of Youth Studies, 5(3), 245–270.
- Faas, Daniel (2008): Constructing identities: the ethno-national and nationalistic identities of white and Turkish students in two English secondary schools. In: British Journal of Sociology of Education, 29(1), 37–48.
- Faas, Daniel (2009): Reconsidering identity: the ethnic and political dimensions of hybridity among majority and Turkish youth in Germany and England. In: British Journal of Sociology, 60(2), 299–320.
- Fahmy E. (2006) Young citizens, young people's involvement in politics and decision making, Aldershot, Ashgate.
- Faist, Thomas (1993): From school to work: public policy and underclass formation among young Turks in Germany during the 1980s. In: International Migration Review, 27(2/102), 306–331.
- Fangen, Katrine (2007). Citizenship among young adult Somalis in Norway. Young, 15(4), 413–434.
- Fangen, Katrine (2008): An analytical framework for analysing the inclusion and exclusion of young immigrants The case of young adult Somalis in Norway. Veranstaltung vom 13.06.2008. Lillehammer. Veranstalter: NYRIS.
- Featherstone, Mike (2000): Undoing culture. Globalization, postmodernism and identity. Reprinted. London: Sage.
- Feixa, Carles; Canelles, Noemi; Porzio, Laura; Recio, Carolina; Giliberti, Luca (2008): Latin Kings in Barcelona. In: van Gemert, Frank; Peterson, Dana; Lien, Inger-Lise (eds.): Street Gangs, Migration and Ethnicity. Devon: Willan, 63–78.
- Feixa, Carles; Carmen Costa, Carmen; Pallarés, Joan (2001): From okupas to makineros: citizenship and youth cultures in Spain. In: Furlong, A. & Guidikova, I. (eds.): Transitions of Youth Citizenship in Europe: Culture, Subculture and Identity, Strasbourg, Council of Europe, pp. 305-320.
- Fenstermaker, Sarah; West, Candace (2001): 'Doing Difference' Revisited. In: Heintz, Bettina (ed.): Geschlechtersoziologie. Wiesbaden: Westdeutscher Verlag (Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie, Sonderheft 41), 236–249.



- Ferreira, Vitor Sérgio; Pais, José Machado (2008): Agency, social structures and (re)ethnicized "youth subcultures". In: Mørch, Sven et al.(eds.): Transitions to work of young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background. Thematic report of the UP2YOUTH project. Tübingen: IRIS, 67–82.
- Folbre, Nancy R (1994): Who pays for the kids? Gender and the structures of constraint. London: Routledge.
- Foucault, Michel (1976): Histoire de la sexualité, Vol. 1: La volonté de savoir. Paris : Gallimard.
- France A. (1998) "Why should we care?" Young people, citizenship and questions of social responsibility', *Journal of Youth Studies*, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 97-111.
- Fraser, Nancy (1989): Unruly practices: power, discourse and gender in contemporary social theory. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Fraser, Nancy (1997): Justice Interruptus. London, New York: Routledge.
- Frønes, I.; Brusdal, R. (2000): På sporet af den nye tid. (On the track of the new times). Oslo: Fakbokforlaget.
- Frosh, Stephen; Phoenix, Ann; Pattman, Rob (2002): Young masculinities. Understanding boys in contemporary society. Basingstoke: Palgrave.
- Fthenakis, Wassilios; Kalicki, Bernhard & Peitz, Gabriele (2002): Paare werden Eltern (Couples becoming parents). Opladen: Leske & Budrich.
- Furlong, Andy; Cartmel, Fred (1997): Young people and social change: individualization and risk in late modernity. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Galland, Olivier (1996): Die soziale Integration junger Erwachsener. In: Walther, Andreas (ed.): Junge Erwachsene in Europa jenseits der Normalbiographie? Opladen: Leske+Budrich, 157-167.
- Gallie, Duncan; Paugam, Serge (eds.) (2000): Welfare regimes and the experience of unemployment in Europe. Oxford: Oxford Univ. Press.
- Garfinkel, Harold (1967): Studies in Ethnomethodology. Englewood Cliffs.
- Gauthier, Anne Helene (1996) The State and the Family: a comparative analysis of family policies in industrialized countries. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Gerritsen, Debby; de Graaf, Willibrord; Maier, Robert; van Zenderen, Kaj (2009): Synthesis, based on ethnographic data from the nine research locations. TRESEGY WP5 report. TRESEGY. Genoa. http://www.tresegy.eu/docs/synthesis_WP5_DEL17.doc [22.05.2009].
- Gershuny, Jonathan (2000): Changing Times: Work and leisure in post-industrial society. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Giddens, Anthony (1984): The constitution of society. Towards a theory of structuration. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Giddens, Anthony (1990): The consequences of modernity. Cambridge: Polity.
- Giddens, Anthony (1991): Self-Identity. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Glaser, Barney; Strauss, Anselm (1971): Status Passage: A Formal Theory. Chicago: Aldine-Atherlon.
- Glick Schiller, Nina (2007): Beyond the Nation State and its Units of Analysis: Towards a New Research Agenda for Migration Studies. In: Schittenhelm, Karin (ed.): Concepts



- and Methods in Migration Research. Conference Reader. Siegen: Study Group "Cultural Capital during Migration", 39–72.
- Goffman, Erving (1996): Stigma. Frankfurt a.M.: Suhrkamp.
- Grillo, Ralph (2007): Betwixt and Between: Trajectories and Projects of Transmigration. In: Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 33(2), 199–217.
- Gstrein, Michaela; Mateeva, Liliana & Schuh, Ulrich (2007): Social Quality and the Changing Relations, Working Paper 2 for the WORKCARE-Project, http://www.abdn.ac.uk/socsci/research/nec/workcare/
- Habermas, Jürgen (1986): The Theory of Communicative Action, Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Hammer, Torild (ed.) (2003): Youth unemployment and social exclusion: a comparative study. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Harsløf, Ivar (2005) 'Integrative' or 'Defensive' Youth Activation in Nine European Welfare States. Journal of Youth Studies, 8, 4, S. 461-483.
- Heath, Anthony F.; Cheung, Sin Yi (2007): Unequal chances. Ethnic minorities in Western labour markets. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Heckhausen, Heinz & Heckhausen, Jutta (Hrsg.) (2006): Motivation und Handeln (Motivation and Action). Berlin, New York: Springer.
- Heckmann, Friedrich (2008): Education and Migration. Strategies for integrating migrant children in European schools and societies. Herausgegeben von NESSE. NESSE. Bamberg. http://www.jugendpolitikineuropa.de/downloads/22-177-597/background%20paper%20education-and-migration.pdf [04.08.2008].
- Heckmann, Friedrich; Westin, Charles; Dinkel, Rainer H.; Penn, Roger; Schnapper, Dominique; Penninx, Rinus et al. (2001): Effectiveness of national integration strategies towards Second Generation migrant youth in a comparative European perspective. Final report to the European Commission. EFMS. Bamberg.
- Heide-Jørgensen, V. (ed.) (1995): Allahs Piger. København, Aschehoug
- Heinz, Walter R. (2002): Self-socialisation and Post-traditional Society. in R. Settersten & T.J. Owens (eds.) New Frontiers of Socialisation, Oxford: Elsevier Science, pp. 41-64.
- Heinz, Walter R. (2003): Self-socialisation and Post-traditional Society. In: Settersten, R.; Owens, T.J. (eds.): New Frontiers of Socialisation. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 41–64.
- Henderson, Sheila; Holland, Janet; McGrellis, Shena; Sharpe, Sue & Thomson, Rachel (2007): Inventing Adulthoods: A Biographical Approach to Youth Transitions, London: SAGE.
- Hockey, Jenny (2009): The life course anticipated: gender and chronologisation among young people. In: Journal of Youth Studies, 12(2), 227–241.
- Holland J., Reynolds T. & Weller S. (2007) "Transitions, Networks and Communities: the Significance of Social Capital in the Lives of Children and Young People", *Journal of Youth Studies*, vol10, n°1, pp. 97-116.
- Holzkamp, Klaus (1993): Lernen. Eine subjektwissenschaftliche Grundlegung (Learning. A subjectoriented foundation). Frankfurt a.M., New York: Campus.
- Honneth, Axel (1992): The Struggle for Recognition: Moral Grammar of Social Conflicts. Frankfurt a.Main (English 1996. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).

Hörning/Reiter 2004



- IARD (2001): Study on the state of young people and youth policy in Europe. Milano: IARD.
- Inglehart R. (1977) *The Silent Revolution: Changing Values and Political Styles among Western Publics*, Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Isin E. F. & Wood P. K. (1999): Citizenship and Identity. London: SAGE.
- ISS (Institut für Sozialarbeit und Sozialpädagogik) (2007) The socio-economic scope of youth work. Study commissioned by the youth partnership between Council of Europe and European Commission. Download: http://www.youth-partnership.net.
- Joas, Hans (1992): The creativity of action. Frankfurt a. Main: Suhrkamp (English 1996. Cambridge: Polity Press).
- Jurczyk, Karin/Oechsle, Mechthild (2006): Rethinking Privacy. Erosions, Discourses, Open Questions, http://www.uni-bielefeld.de/ZIF/Publikationen/06-4-Jurczyk_Oechsle.pdf [28 05 2009]
- Kamali, Masoud (2000): The Role of Educational Institutions in the Clientization of Immigrants: The Swedish Case. In: Intercultural Education, 11(2), 179–195.
- Karakayali, Serhat; Tsianos, Vassilis (2005): Mapping the Order of New Migration. Undokumentierte Arbeit und die Autonomie der Migration. In: Peripherie, 25, 35–64. http://www.linksnet.de/artikel.php?id=1749 [04.04.2007].
- Kaufmann, F.-X. (2003): Varianten des Wohlfahrtsstaats. Der deutsche Sozialstaat im internationalen Vergleich. Frankfurt a.M.: Suhrkamp.
- Kaya, Ayhan (2001): 'Sicher in Kreuzberg'. Constructing Diasporas: Turkish Hip-Hop Youth in Berlin. Bielefeld: transscript.
- Kelly, Peter (1999): Wild and Tame Zones: Regulating the Transitions of Youth at Risk, in: Journal of Youth Studies, Vol. 2., No. 2, pp. 193-211.
- Kende, Anna (2007): Success stories? Roma university students overcoming social exclusion in Hungary. In H. Colley, P. Boetzelen, B. Hoskins, & T. Parveva (eds.): Social inclusion for young people: breaking down the barriers. Strasbourg: Council of Europe, 133–143.
- Keupp, Heiner; Ahbe, Thomas; Gmür, Wolfgang; Höfer, Renate; Kraus, Wolfgang; Mitzscherlich, Beate & Straus, Florian (1999): Identitätskonstruktionen: das Patchwork der Identitäten in der Spätmoderne (Identity constructions the patchwork of identities in late modernity). Reinbek: Rowohlt.
- Kieselbach, Thomas (ed.) (2001): Living On The Edge. An Empirical Analysis on Long-Term Youth Unemployment and Social Exclusion in Europe. Opladen: Leske & Budrich.
- Knight, Abigail; Chase, Elaine & Aggleton, Peter (2006): 'Someone of Your Own to Love': Experiences of Being Looked After as Influences on Teenage Pregnancy. In: Children & Society, 20(5), 391–403.
- Kohli, Martin (1985): Die Institutionalisierung des Lebenslaufs (the institutionalisation of the life course), in: Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie, 37(1), 1–29.
- Koopmans, Ruud (2008): Tradeoffs between Equality and Difference. Immigrant Integration, Multiculturalism, and the Welfare State in Cross-National Perspective. Herausgegeben von WZB. Berlin. (WZB Discussion Papers, 2008-701). http://www.wzb.eu/zkd/mit/pdf/dp_sp_iv_2008-701.pdf [04.08.2008].
- Kovacheva, Siyka (2001): Flexibilisation of Youth Transitions in Central and Eastern Europe. In: Young, 9(1), 41–60.



- Kovacheva, Siyka; Pohl, Axel (2007): Disadvantage in youth transitions: constellations and policy dilemmas. In: Colley, Helen; Boetzelen, Philipp; Hoskins, Bryony; Parveva, Teodora (eds.): Social inclusion for young people: breaking down the barriers. Strasbourg: Council of Europe, 31–42.
- Krapp, Andreas (2002): An educational-psychological theory of interest and its relation to self-determination theory, in E. L. Deci & R. M. Ryan (eds.). The handbook of self-determination research. Rochester: University of Rochester Press, pp. 405-427.
- Kronauer, Martin (1998): 'Social exclusion' and 'underclass' new concepts for the analysis of poverty. In H.-J. Andreß (ed.) *Empirical poverty research in a comparative perspective*. Aldershot: Ashgate, pp 51-75.
- Lagrange H. & Oberti M. (eds) (2006) Émeutes urbaines et protestations, une singularité française, Paris: Presses de sciences po.
- Lagrange, Hugues (2006): La structure et l'accident. In: Lagrange, Hugues; Oberti, Marco (eds.): Émeutes urbaines et protestations. Une singularité française. Paris: Presses de la Fondation nationale des sciences politiques (Nouveaux débats, 6), 105–130.
- Lagrange, Hugues; Oberti, Marco (2006): Intégration, ségrégation et justice sociale. In: Lagrange, Hugues; Oberti, Marco (eds.): Émeutes urbaines et protestations. Une singularité française. Paris: Presses de la Fondation nationale des sciences politiques (Nouveaux débats, 6), 11–36.
- Lapeyronnie D. (2006) "Révolte primitive dans les banlieues française, essai sur les émeutes de l'automne 2005 ", *Déviance et société*, n°4, vol 30, pp. 431-448.
- Lash, Scott (1994): Reflexivity and its doubles: structure, aesthetics, community. In: Beck, Ulrich; Giddens, Anthony; Lash, Scott (eds.): Reflexive modernization. Cambridge: Polity Press, 110–173.
- Lasonen, Johanna & Young, Michael (1998) Strategies For Achieving Parity Of Esteem In European Upper Secondary Education. Jyväskylä: Institute for Educational Research.
- Lave, Jean & Wenger, Etienne (1991): Situated learning. Legitimate peripheral participation. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Lazarus, Richard S. & Folkman, Susan (1984) Stress, appraisal and coping, New York: Springer.
- Leccardi, C. et al. (2004): Qualitative report Italy for ther Families and Transitions Project. FATE working paper. Milan: Universitá Milano Bicocca.
- Leccardi, Carmen (2005): Facing uncertainty. Temporality and biographies in the new century, Young, Vol. 2, N. 2, pp. 123-146.
- Leccardi, Carmen (2005b): The new face of responsibility. Paper presented at the 37 World Congress of the International Institute of Sociology, Frontiers of Sociology, 5-9 July 2005, Stockholm.
- Leccardi, Carmen & Rusmini, G. (2004): Life plans. In: Biggart, Andy; Cairns, David (eds.): Families and Transitions in Europe. Comparative Report of Qualitative Interviews. Coleraine: University of Ulster.
- Leccardi, Carmen & Ruspini, Elisabetta (eds.) (2005): A New Youth? Young People, Generations and Familiy Life. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Lépinard, Eléonore; Simon, Patrick (2008): From Integration to Antidiscrimination... to Diversity? Antidiscrimination Politics and Policies in French Workplaces.



- Herausgegeben von EMILIE. INED. Athens. http://emilie.eliamep.gr/wp-content/uploads/2009/02/antidiscrimination-politics-and-policies-in-french-workplaces2.pdf [22.05.2009].
- Lødemel, Ivar & Trickey, Heather (2001) An offer you can't refuse. Workfare in an international perspective. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Loncle Patricia (2008) Pourquoi faire participer les jeunes ? Expériences européennes de participation locale des jeunes, Paris, L'Harmattan.
- Loncle, Patricia (ed) (2007) Les jeunes questions de politique, questions de société, Paris, La Documentation française.
- Loncle, Patricia & Muniglia, Virginie (eds.) (2008): youth participation, agency and social change, UP2YOUTH thematic report. Download: www.up2youth.org/download
- López Blasco, Andreu et al. (2004): Spain. Case study report for the YOYO project. Download: www.iris-egris.de/yoyo.
- López Blasco, Andreu; McNeish, Wallace; Walther, Andreas (eds.) (2003): Young people and contradictions of inclusion: towards Integrated Transition Policies in Europe. Bristol: Policy Press.
- López Blasco, Andreu; Gil Rodriguez, Germán; Moreno Mínguez, Almudena; Aiblinger, Ferran L. (2008): Agency & learning creative, non-formal, and informal learning. In: Mørch, Sven et al. (eds.): Transitions to work of young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background. Thematic report of the UP2YOUTH project. Tübingen: IRIS, 118–124.
- Machacek, L. & Walther, A. (2008): Participation and learning, in: Loncle, P. & Muniglia, V. (eds.) (2008): youth participation, agency and social change, UP2YOUTH thematic report. Download: www.up2youth.org/download, pp. 62-80.
- Machado, Fernando Luis & Matias, Ana Raquel (2006): Jovens descendentes de imigrantes nas sociedades de acolhimento: linhas de identificação sociológica. CIES e-Working Paper, n.º 13/2006, Lisbon: CIES.
- Malmberg-Heimonen, Ira; Julkunen, Ilse (2006): Out of Unemployment? A Comparative Analysis of the Risks and Opportunities Longer-term Unemployed Immigrant Youth Face when Entering the Labour Market. In: Journal of Youth Studies, 9(5), 575–592.
- Mannitz, Sabine (2006): Die verkannte Integration. Eine Langzeitstudie unter Heranwachsenden aus Immigrantenfamilien. Bielefeld: transcript.
- Marazziti, M et al. (2005) Euráfrica: lo que no se dice sobre la inmigracion. Lo que se podría decir sobre Europa. Barcelona, Icaria.
- Marcovici, Octav; Popa, Daniela Claudia; Voica, Ioan (2008): Employability and employment perspectives of young people with migrant/ethnic minority background. In: Mørch, Sven et al. (eds.): Transitions to work of young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background. Thematic report of the UP2YOUTH project. Tübingen: IRIS, 109–117.
- Marques, M. Margarida; Rosa, Maria João Valente; Martins, Joana Lopes (2007): School and Diversity in a Weak State: The Portuguese Case. In: Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 33(7), 1145–1168.
- Marshall T. H. (1950) *Class, citizenship and social development*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.



- Marshall, V.W.; Heinz, W.R.; Krueger, H. & Verma, A. (eds.) (2003) Restructuring Work and the Life Course, Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Maslow, Abraham (1970): Motivation and personality. New York: Harper Row.
- Masschelein J. & Quaghebeur K. (2003) 'Participation as strategy of immunisation?', Ästhetik & Kommunikation. Vol. 34, pp. 73-76.
- Matthews H (2001) Citizenship, Youth Councils and Young People's Participation', *Journal of Youth Studies*, Vol. 4, No. 3, pp. 299-319.
- Maudet, G. (2002) " La démocratie sanitaire : penser et construire l'usager ", *Lien social et politiques*, n° 48, pp. 95-102.
- Mauger, Gérard (2006) *L'émeute de novembre 2005, une révolte protopolitique*, Paris, éd Du Croquant, coll. "Savoir agir ".
- McNeish, Wallace; Loncle, Patricia (2003): State policy and youth unemployment in the EU: rights, responsibilities and lifelong learning. In: López Blasco, Andreu; McNeish, Wallace; Walther, Andreas (eds.): Young people and contradictions of inclusion: towards Integrated Transition Policies in Europe. Bristol: Policy Press, 105–126.
- Mead, George H. (1959): Mind, self and society: from the standpoint of a social behaviorist. Chicago: Chicago University Press.
- Mihçiyazgan, Ursula (1989): Rückkehr als Metapher? Die Bedeutung der Rückkehr in der Lebensplanung und -praxis türkischer Migrantinnen. In: iza Zeitschrift für Migration und soziale Arbeit(4), 39–42.
- Miles, Steven (2000): Youth Lifestyles in a Changing World. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Mills, Melinda & Blossfeld, Hans-Peter (2003): Globalization, Uncertainty and Changes in Early Life Courses. In: Zeitschrift für Erziehungswissenschaft, 6(4), 188–218.
- Moldenhawer, Bolette (2005): Transnational migrant communities and education strategies among Pakistani youngsters in Denmark. In: Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 31(1), 51–78.
- Moldenhawer, Bolette; Miera, Frauke; Kallstenius, Jenny; Messing, Vera; Schiff, Claire (2009): Comparative Report on Education. EDUMIGROM Comparative Papers. Herausgegeben von Center for Policy Studies Central European University. Budapest. http://www.edumigrom.eu/download.php?oid=T82a3c97240625144a01c8b7f91ba118; aid=T82d3f942c09201a4c04578eca0c4a1a;file=;download; [23.05.2009].
- Mørch, Sven (1997): Youth and activity theory. In: Bynner, John; Chisholm, Lynne; Furlong, Andy (eds.): Youth, Citizenship and Social Change in a European Context. Aldershot: Avebury, 245–261.
- Mørch, Sven (1999): Learning, Social contexts and peer education. In: Walther, Andreas; Stauber, Barbara (eds.): Lifelong learning in Europe, Differences and Divisions, Vol. II. Strategies of Social Integration and Invidiual Learning Biographies. Tübingen: Neuling, 145–165.
- Mørch, Sven (2003): Youth and education. In: Young, 11(2), 49–73.
- Mørch, Sven; Andersen, Helle (2005): Individualisation and changing youth life. In: Leccardi, Carmen; Ruspini, Elisabetta (eds.): A New Youth? Young People, Generations and Familiy Life. Aldershot: Ashgate.



- Mørch, Sven; Bechmann Jensen, Torben; Stokholm, Marlene, et al. (eds.) (2008): Transitions to work of young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background. Thematic report of the UP2YOUTH project. Tübingen: IRIS. http://www.up2youth.org/downloads/task,doc_download/gid,72/ [27.11.2008]
- Mørch, Sven; Bechmann Jensen, Torben; Schlimbach, Tabea; Stokholm, Marlene; Hansen, Brian (2008a): Country comparison. In: Mørch, Sven et al. (eds.): Transitions to work of young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background. Thematic report of the UP2YOUTH project. Tübingen: IRIS, 23–38.
- Mørch, Sven; Bechmann Jensen, Torben; Stokholm, Marlene; Hansen, Brian (2008b): Thematic analysis. In: Mørch, Sven; Bechmann Jensen, Torben; Stokholm, Marlene; Hansen, Brian; Pohl, Axel (eds.): Transitions to work of young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background. Thematic report of the UP2YOUTH project. Tübingen: IRIS, 39–60.
- Mørch, Sven; Bechmann Jensen, Torben; Stokholm Marlene; Hansen, Brian (2008c): Social responsibility. In: Mørch, Sven; Bechmann Jensen, Torben; Stokholm, Marlene; Hansen, Brian; Pohl, Axel (eds.): Transitions to work of young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background. Thematic report of the UP2YOUTH project. Tübingen: IRIS, 83–95.
- Morrison, Chester (2007): Youth services and how they work with Black young people. In: Sallah, Momodou; Howson, Carlton (eds.): Working with Black Young People. Lyme Regis: Russell House Publishing, 193–204.
- Mucchielli, L. & Le Goaziou, V. (2006): *Quand les banlieues brûlent. Retour sur les émeutes de novembre 2005.* Paris, pp. 5-155.
- Müller, Walter & Gangl, Markus (eds.) (2003) Transitions from Education to Work in Europe: the Integration of Youth on EU Labour Markets, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Muxel, A. and Riou, C. (2004) Political participation of young people in Europe (EUYOUPART): working paper on qualitative research findings in France. Paris
- Nauck, Bernhard; Steinbach, Anja: Intergeneratives Verhalten und Selbstethnisierung von Zuwanderern. Gutachten für die Unabhängige Kommission "Zuwanderung". Chemnitz.

 <a href="http://www.bmi.bund.de/Internet/Content/Common/Anlagen/Themen/Zuwanderung/DatenundFakten/Nauck_pdf,templateId%3Draw,property%3DpublicationFile.pdf/Nauck_pdf.pdf[30.10.2006]
- Niessen, Jan; Huddleston, Thomas & Citron, Laura (2006): Migrant Integration Policy Index. The Migration Policy Group. http://www.migpolgroup.org/public/docs/8.MIPEX-2006-2007-final_09.07.pdf [15.07.2007].
- Nohl, Arnd-Michael (2000): Migrationslagerung und Differenzerfahrung. Vergleichende Milieurekonstruktionen zu männlichen Jugendlichen aus einheimischen und zugewanderten Familien in Berlin und Ankara. Dissertation. Berlin: FU Berlin.
- OECD (2004): Education at a Glance. Paris: OECD.
- Os, Liv & Mørch, Sven (2001): Denmark. National Report for the Families and Transitions in Europe Project. Working paper. Copenhagen: University of Copenhagen.
- Osterkamp-Holzkamp, Ute (1975): Grundlagen psychologischer Motivationsforschung (Foundations of psychological motivation research). Frankfurt a.M., New York: Campus.



- Otyakmaz, Berrin Özlem (1999): 'Und die denken dann von vornherein, das läuft irgendwie ganz anders ab'. In: Beiträge zur feministischen Theorie und Praxis, 22(51), 79–92.
- Pais, José M. (2003): The Multiple Faces of the Future in the Labyrinth of Life, Journal of Youth Studies, Vol. 6, No. 2, pp. 115-126.
- Pais, José Machado (2000): Transitions and youth cultures: forms and performances. In: International Social Science Journal, LII(2), 219–232.
- Pais, José Machado (2001): Parking Cars for a Living: the Symbolic Production of Marginality. In: Furlong, Andy; Guidikova, Irina (eds.): Transitions of Youth Citizenship in Europe: Culture, Subculture and Identity. Strasbourg: Council of Europe Publising, 117–139.
- Pais, José Machado; Pohl, Axel (2003): Of roofs and knives. The dilemmas of recognising informal learning. In: López Blasco, Andreu; McNeish, Wallace; Walther, Andreas (eds.): Young people and contradictions of inclusion: towards Integrated Transition Policies in Europe. Bristol: Policy Press, 223–241.
- Parella Rubio, Sònia (2008): Desigualdades de género. Jóvenes inmigrantes. Madrid: Instituto de la Juventud.
- Pascall, Gillian & Manning, Nick (2000): Gender and Social Policy: comparing welfare states in Central and Eastern Europe and the Former Soviet Union. *Journal of European Social Policy*, 10(3), 269-296.
- Pfaff, Nicole (2006) Jugendkultur und Politisierung. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag
- Pfaff, Nicole (2007) "Politisierung in jugendkulturellen Kontexten. Ergebnisse einer Studie zur Entwicklung politischer Orientierungen in der Adoleszenz". In: U. Göttlich, R. Müller, S. Rhein, M. Calmbach (eds.): *Arbeit, Politik und Religion in Jugendkulturen. Engagement und Vergnügen.* Weinheim und München: Juventa
- Pfaff, Nicole (2005): Adolescent Ways of Political Learning: Results from East Germany, in: Forbrig, J.; Lauritzen, P.; Schild, H.-J. (eds.): Revisiting Youth Political Participation. Challenges for Research and Democratic Practice in Europe. Brüssel, S. 71-82
- Phoenix, Ann (2004): Neoliberalism and Masculinity: Racialization and the Contradictions of Schooling for 11-to 14-Year-Olds. In: Youth Society, 36(2), 227–246.
- Phoenix, Ann (2005): Remembered racialization: Young people and positioning in differential understanding. In: Murji, Karim; Solomos, John (eds.): Racialization. Studies in theory and practice. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 103–122.
- Phoenix, Ann (2007) Identities and Agency: Young people, difference and social cohesion. Keynote at the UP2YOUTH thematic workshop in Lisbon, 2-3 November 2007.
- PISA (2006): Where Immigrant Students Succeed. A Comparative Review of Performance and Engagement in PISA 2003. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Pohl, Axel & Walther, Andreas (2007): Activating the disadvantaged. Variations in addressing youth transitions across Europe. In: International Journal for Lifelong Education, 26(5), 533-553.
- Pohl, Axel & Stauber, Barbara (2004): Trust, space, time and opportunities. Case study report on participation and non-formal education in the support for young people in transitions to work in West Germany. Research project YOYO. Tübingen: IRIS.
- Pohl, Axel; Stauber, Barbara & Walther, Andreas (2007): Youth Actor of Social Change. Theoretical reflections on young people's agency in comparative perspective. Interim



- discussion paper for the UP2YOUTH project. Herausgegeben von UP2YOUTH. IRIS. Tübingen. http://www.up2youth.org/downloads/task,doc_download/gid,70/[06.08.2008].
- Portegijs, Wilma (2006): Emancipatiemonitor (Emanicpation monitor). Den Haag/Voorburg: SCP/CBS.
- Pries, Ludger (1999): Migration and Transnational Social Spaces. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Putnam, Robert D. (2000): *Bowling Alone. The Collapse and Revival of American Community*. New York: Simon & Schuster
- Ram, Monder; Abbas, Tahir; Sanghera, Balihar; Barlow, Gerald; Jones, Trevor (2001): 'Apprentice Entrepreneurs'? Ethnic Minority Workers in the Independent Restaurant Sector. In: Work Employment Society, 15(2), 353–372.
- Rappaport J. (1981) 'Terms of empowerment exemplars of prevention: toward a theory of community psychology', *American Journal of Community Psychology*, Vol. 15, pp. 121-139.
- Räthzel, Nora (2006): From individual heroism to political resistance: young people challenging everyday racism on the labour market. Journal of Education and Work, 19(3), 219–235.
- Rattansi, Ali and Phoenix, Ann (2005) .Rethinking youth identities: Modernist and postmodernist frameworks.. Identity: An International Journal of Theory and Research, 5(2), 97-123.
- Reutlinger C. (2005) "Unsichtbare Jugend und verdeckte Engagementstrukturen (Invisible youth and hidden structures of engagement)". In: Austrian Institute for Youth Research (ed.): Die Jugend ist die Zukunft Europas, aber bitte noch nicht jetzt! Möglichkeiten der Integration und Partizipation von Jugendlichen in Europe, Vienna: OEIJ, pp. 155-173.
- Rex, John; Singh, Gurharpal (2003): Multiculturalism and Political Integration in Modern Nation-States. In: International Journal on Multicultural Societies, 5(1), 3–19.
- Roberts, Kenneth; Jung, Bohdan (1995): Poland's first post-Communist generation. Aldershot: Avebury.
- Robertson, Roland (1998): Globalization. Social theory and global culture. Reprint. London: Sage Publ.
- Røgilds, F. (1995): Stemmer i et grænseland En bro mellem unge indvandrere og danskere? København. Politisk Revy.
- Rose N. (1999) *The Powers of Freedom. Reframing Political Thought*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Roy, Olivier (2004): Globalised Islam: The search for a new Ummah. London: Hurst.
- Rupp, Marina (2008): Children in Same Sex Living Arrangements (running project . see www.ifb-bamberg.de/glg/).
- Sainsbury, Diane (1999): Gender and welfare state regimes. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Sainsbury, Diane (2006): Immigrants' social rights in comparative perspective: welfare regimes, forms in immigration and immigration policy regimes. In: Journal of European Social Policy, 16(3), 229–244.



- Sala Pala V. (2006) "Novembre 2005: sous les émeutes urbaines, la politique", *Review essay*, *French politics, culture and society*, vol 24, n°3, pp. 111-129.
- Sallah, Momodou (2008): Black Young People in the UK: Charting the Tensions of Relativism and Dogmatism in Praxis. In: Titley, Gavan; Lentin, Alana (eds.): The Politics of Diversity in Europe. Strasbourg: Council of Europe Publishing.

Schatzki et al. 2001

- Schelsky, Helmut (1958): Die skeptische Generation: eine Soziologie der deutschen Jugend: E. Diederich.
- Schiff, Claire; Perroton, Joelle; Fouquet, Barbara; Armagnague, Maitena (2008): Country Report on Education: France. EDUMIGROM Background Papers. Herausgegeben von Center for Policy Studies Central European University. Budapest. http://www.edumigrom.eu/download.php?oid=T12734999a824b338c022b618af41f27; aid=Td2a3590988644358c03480e696a2242;file=;download; [23.05.2009].
- Schittenhelm, Karin (2005b): Primäre und sekundäre Effekte kultureller Praktiken. Der Ausbildungseinstieg junger Migrantinnen im interkulturellen Vergleich. In: Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie, 57(4), 691–713.
- Schneider, B. (2009): ??, in. Schoon, I. & Silbereisen, R. (eds.): Transitions from School to Work: Globalisation, Individualisation and Patterns of Diversity. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (forthcoming).
- Schütze, Fritz (2003): Hülya's Migration to Germany as Self-Sacrifice Undergone and Suffered in Love for Her Parents, and Her Later Biographical Individualisation. Biographical Problems and Biographical Work of Marginalisation and Individualisation of a Young Turkish Woman in Germany. Part I,: Volume 4, No. 3, Art. 23. September 2003, http://www.qualitative-research.net/fqs-texte/3-03/3-03schuetze-e.htm
- Shavit Y. & Müller W. (eds) (1998) From school to work: A comparative study of educational qualifications and occupational outcomes, Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Shildrick T. & MacDonald R. (2006) "In Defence of Subculture: Young People, Leisure and Social Divisions". In: *Journal of Youth Studies*, vol.9, no.2, pp. 125-140
- Siegert, Manuel (2006): Integrationsmonitoring State of the Art in internationaler Perspektive. Studie im Auftrag des Bundesamtes für Migration und Flüchtlinge (BAMF), Nürnberg. Herausgegeben von EFMS. Bamberg. http://www.bamf.de/cln_011/SharedDocs/Anlagen/DE/Migration/Publikationen/Forsc hung/Expertisen/integrationsmonitoring-expertise,templateId=raw,property=publicationFile.pdf/integrationsmonitoring-expertise.pdf [08.04.2008].
- Simon, Patrick (2003): France and the Unknown Second Generation: Preliminary Results on Social Mobility. In: International Migration Review, 37(4), 1091–1119.
- Skrobanek, Jan (2007a): Diskriminierung und (Re)Ethnisierung im Übergang von der Schule in den Beruf . In: Eckert, Thomas (ed.): Übergänge im Bildungswesen . Münster: Waxmann, 163–182.
- Skrobanek, Jan (2007b): Wahrgenommene Diskriminierung und (Re) Ethnisierung bei Jugendlichen mit türkischem Migrationshintergrund und jungen Aussiedlern. In: Zeitschrift für Soziologie der Erziehung und Sozialisation (ZSE), 27(3), 267–287.



- Skrobanek, Jan; Wilhelm, Mariella (2008): (Re)ethnicization and policy. In: Mørch, Sven et al. (eds.): Transitions to work of young people with an ethnic minority or migrant background. Thematic report of the UP2YOUTH project. Tübingen: IRIS, 96–108.
- Smith N., Lister R., Middleton S. & Cox L. (2005) 'Young People as Real Citizens: Towards an Inclusionary Understanding of Citizenship', *Journal of Youth Studies*, Vol. 8, No. 4, pp. 425-445.
- Smyth, Emer; Gangl, Markus; Raffe, David; Hannan, Damian & McCoy, Selina (2001) *A Comparative Analysis of Transitions from Education to Work in Europe (CATEWE)*: Final Report. Dublin: ESRI. http://www.mzes.uni-mannheim.de/projekte/catewe/publ/publ_e.html.
- Spannring R., Ogris G. & Gaiser W. (eds.) (2008) Youth and political participation in Europe. Results of the Comparative Study EUYOUPART. Leverkusen: Barbara Budrich
- Spannring, Reingard (2008): Understanding (non)participation: forms, meanings and reasons, in: Spannring R., Ogris G. & Gaiser W. (eds.) (2008) *Youth and political participation in Europe. Results of the Comparative Study EUYOUPART*. Leverkusen: Barbara Budrich, pp. 55-87.
- Spies, Tina (2009): Discourse, Subject, and Agency. Linking Discourse Analysis and Biographical Research with the Help of the Concept of Articulation. In: Forum Qualitative Social Research, 10(2). http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/1150/2760 [22.05.2009].

Stauber & Walther 2006

- Stauber, Barbara/Kovacheva, Siyka/van Lieshout, Harm 2003: Flexibility and Security. The Supposed Dilemma of Transition Policies, In: Blasco, Andreu López et al. (eds.) 2003: Young People and Contradictions of Inclusion. Towards Integrated Transition Policies in Europe, Bristol: Policy Press, pp. 243-260.
- Stauber, B. (2004) *Junge Frauen und Männer in Jugendkulturen. Selbstinszenierungen und Handlungspotentiale* (Young Women and Men in Youth Cultures. Performing Selves and Agency Potentials), Opladen: Leske and Budrich.
- Stauber, Barbara (2006): Biography and Gender in Youth Transitions. In: Du Bois-Reymond, Manuela; Chisholm, Lynne (eds.): The Modernization of Youth Transitions in Europe. San Fransisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Stauber, Barbara (2007): Motivation in Transition. In: Young, 15(1), 31–47.
- Stauber, Barbara 2009: Youth Cultures as a Way to Tackle Insecure Transitions into Adulthood, in: Leaman, Jeremy & Wörsching, Martha (eds.) Youth in Contemporary Europe, London and New York: Routledge. (in Press).
- Strauss, Anselm (1993): Continual Permutations of Action, New York: W. de Gruyter.
- Szalai, Julia; Carson, Marcus; Kusa, Zuzana; Magyari-Vince, Eniko; Zenta, Viola (2009): Comparative Report on Educational Policies for Inclusion. EDUMIGROM Comparative Papers. Herausgegeben von Center for Policy Studies Central European University.

 Budapest. http://www.edumigrom.eu/download.php?oid=T424349a2d0c262c356d3d951bc134b4;aid=Tc2c3a98240a252b3562f4d91f440b2b;file=;download; [23.05.2009].
- Tertilt, Hermann (1996): Turkish Power Boys. Frankfurt a.M.: Suhrkamp.



- Thiessen, Barbara; Paula-Irene Villa (eds.) (2008): Mütter und Väter. Mediale Thematisierungen und alltägliche Wirklichkeiten (Mothers and Fathers. Thematisations in the Media and Every Day Realities), Münster: Westfälisches Dampfboot.
- Thomson, Mark; Crul, Maurice (2007): The Second Generation in Europe and the United States: How is the Transatlantic Debate Relevant for Further Research on the European Second Generation? In: Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 33(7), 1025–1041.
- Thomson, Rachel; Bell, Robert; Henderson, Sheila; Holland, Janet; McGrellis, Sheena; Sharpe, Sue (2002): Critical moments: Choice, chance and opportunity in young people's narratives of transition to adulthood. In: Sociology, 36(2), 335–354.
- Thornton, Sarah (1997): The Logic of Subcultural Capital, in: Gelder, Ken & Thornton, Sarah (eds.) 1997: The Subcultures Reader, London and New York: Routledge, pp. 200 209.
- Tietze, Nikola (2001): Islamische Identitäten. Formen muslimischer Religiosität junger Männer in Deutschland und Frankreich. 1. Aufl. Hamburg: Hamburger Ed.
- Tietze, Nikola (2006): Ausgrenzung als Erfahrung. Islamisierung des Selbst als Sinnkonstruktion in der Prekarität. In: Das Problem der Exklusion, 147–173.
- Topal, Mustafa Kemal (2007): From where I origin, my future begins. In: Social Kritik no 109.
- TRESEGY (ed.) (2007): Comparative analysis report on six nation level report. Genoa: University of Genoa.
- Tucci, Ingrid (2008): Les descendants des immigrés en France et en Allemagne: des destin contrastés. Participation au marché de travail, formes d'appartenance et modes de mise à distance. Dissertation. Berlin: Humboldt Universität.
- Van Berkel R. & Hornemann Møller I. (eds.) (2002) *Active social policies in the EU: inclusion through participation?* Bristol: Policy Press.
- van de Velde, Cécile (2001) 'Autonomy Construction in a Dependence Situation. Young Unemployed People and Family Relationships in France and Spain', Paper presented at the International Conference on "Family Forms and the Young Generation in Europe", 20-22 September, 2001, University of Milano-Bicocca.
- van Oorschot, Wim (2008): Solidarity towards immigrants in European welfare states. In: International Journal of Social Welfare, 17, 3–14.
- Vassilev, Ivalyo & Wallace, Claire (2007): Social Quality and the Changing Relationship between Work, Care and Welfare in Europe, Working Paper 1 of the WORKCARE project, http://www.abdn.ac.uk/socsci/research/nec/workcare/
- Vermeulen, Hans (2004): Models and modes of immigrant integration... and where does Southern Europe fit? In: Inglessi, C.; Lyberaki, A.; Vermeulen, Hans (eds.): Immigration and integration in Northern versus Southern Europe. Athens: Netherlands Institute at Athens, 27–39.
- Vertovec, Steve (2009): Transnationalism. London: Routledge.
- Vigotskij, Lev S. (1962): Thought and Language. Chicago: Mit Press.
- Wächter et al. 2008
- Wacquant, Loïc (2001): The Penalisation of Poverty and the rise of Neo-Liberalism. In: European Journal on Criminal Policy and Research, 9(4), 401–412.



- Wacquant, Loïc (2008): Urban outcasts. A comparative sociology of advanced marginality. Reprint. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Walther, A. (2008) Unterstützung bei der Bewältigung biographischer Übergänge im europäischen Vergleich (support in coping with biographical transitions across Europe). Unpublished habilitation thesis. Tübingen: University of Tübingen.
- Walther, A. (2009): It was not my choice, you know? Young people's subjective views and decision making processes in biographical transitions, in: Schoon, I. & Silbereisen, R. (Hrsg.): Transitions from School to Work: Globalisation, Individualisation and Patterns of Diversity. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (forthcoming).
- Walther, Andreas (2005): Risks or responsibilities? The individualisation of youth transitions and the ambivalence between participation and activation in Europe. In: Social Work and Society, 2(1). http://www.socwork.de.
- Walther, Andreas (2006): Regimes of Youth Transitions. Choice, flexibility and security in young people's experiences across different European contexts. In: Young, 14(1), 119–141.
- Walther, Andreas (2007): Educated, (un)employed, activated, included "participated"? Contradictions in supporting young people in their transitions to work. In: Colley, Helen; Boetzelen, Philipp; Hoskins, Bryony; Parveva, Teodora (eds.): Social inclusion for young people: breaking down the barriers. Strasbourg: Council of Europe, 101–113.
- Walther, Andreas; Du Bois-Reymond, Manuela; Biggart, Andy (eds.) (2006): Participation in Transition. Motivation of Young Adults in Europe for Learning and Working. Frankfurt a. M.: Peter Lang.
- Walther, Andreas; Pohl, Axel (2005): Thematic Study on Policies for Disadvantaged Youth in Europe. Final report to the European Commission. Tübingen: IRIS. http://ec.europa.eu/employment social/social inclusion/studies en.html.
- Walther, Andreas; Stauber, Barbara & Pohl, Axel (2005): Informal networks in youth transitions in West Germany: biographical resource or reproduction of social inequality? In: Journal of Youth Studies, Vol. 8, No. 2, 221-240.
- Walther, Andreas; Stauber, Barbara; Biggart, Andy; Du Bois-Reymond, Manuela; Furlong, Andy; López Blasco, Andreu et al. (2002): Misleading Trajectories integration policies for young adults in Europe? Opladen: Leske+Budrich.
- Weber, Max (1972): Wirtschaft und Gesellschaft (Economy and Society). Tübingen: Paul Mohr.
- Welniak C. (2002) "Jugend, Jugendkultur und Politik. Jugend, Politik und Modernisierung". In: Jansen, Mechthild/ Welniak, Christian: *Politik am Ende oder am Ende Politik?* Neue Formen politischen Zusammenseins in Jugendkulturen. Polis 34, Schriftenreihe der Hessischen Landeszentrale für politische Bildung
- Wenger E. (1998) Communities of Practice. *Learning, meaning and identity*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- West, Candace & Zimmermann, Don H. (1987): Doing Gender, in: Gender and Society 1 (2), pp. 125-151.
- West, Candace; Fenstermaker, Sarah (1995): Doing Difference. In: Gender and Society, 9(1), 8–37.



- Williamson, Howard (1997): Status zer0 youth and the 'underclass': some considerations. In: MacDonald, Robert (ed.): Youth, the 'Underclass' and Social Exclusion. London: Routledge, 70–82.
- Wimmer, Andreas (2007): How (not) to Think about Ethnicity in Immigrant Societies. In: Schittenhelm, Karin (ed.): Concepts and Methods in Migration Research. Conference Reader. Siegen: Study Group "Cultural Capital during Migration", 7–38.
- Woodman, Dan (2009): The mysterious case of the pervasive choice biography: Ulrich Beck, structure/agency, and the middling state of theory in the sociology of youth. In: Journal of Youth Studies, 12(3), 243–256.
- Wrench, John (2004): Managing diversity, fighting racism or combating discrimination? A critical exploration. In: Titley, Gavan (ed.): Resituating culture. Strasbourg: Council of Europe, 113–123.
- Wyn, Johanna & White, Rob (1997): Rethinking Youth. Sage: London
- Yosso, Tara J. (2005): Whose culture has capital? A critical race theory discussion of community cultural wealth. In: Race, Ethnicity and Education, 8(1), 69–91.
- Zeidner, Moshe & Endler, Norman S. (eds.) (1996) Handbook of Coping. Theory, Research, Applications. New York: John Wiley.



6. Annex: Dissemination and use

Section 1 - Exploitation of knowledge

Overview table

	Exploitable Knowledge (description)	Exploitable product(s) or measure(s)	Sector(s) of application	Timetable for use	Patents or other IPR protection	Owner & Other Partner(s) involved
1.	Knowledge on young people's decision making processes in transitions to adulthood under conditions of social change in Europe.	Final report	 Scientific: youth and transition research Policy: youth, education and social policy Practice: youth work, education, counselling, social services 	2009	Copyright	Participant 1 (coordinator)
2.	Knowledge on transitions of young men and women into parenthood in Europe.	Thematic report	 Scientific: youth and transition research Policy: social and family policy Practice: counselling, social and family services 	2009	Copyright	Participant 2 (overall use) Participants 5, 6, 7, 8, 18 (single chapters)
3.	Knowledge on school- to-work transitions of migrant and ethnic minority youth in Europe.	Thematic report	 Scientific: youth and transition research Policy: Education and labour market policy Practice: education and integration 	2009	Copyright	Participants 4 and 1 (overall use) Participants 12, 14, 15, 16, 17 (single chapters)
4.	Knowledge on participation of young people in Europe	Thematic report	 Scientific: youth and transition research Policy: youth policy Practice: youth work, education 	2009	Copyright	Participant 3 (overall use) Participants 1, 9, 10, 11, 13 (single chapters)

5.	Syllabus for teaching	Higher	1.	Higher education	2009	n.a.	Participants 1, 2 and
	the knowledge (1-4) to	Education		(Education, Political			17
	higher education	Module		Science, Psychology,			
	students			Sociology, Social Work)			
6.	Collection of annotated	Collection of	1.	Policy: Youth, family,	2009	Copyright	All participants
	practice examples	current practices		education, social and			
	addressing young			labour market policy			
	people in transitions to		2.	Practice: youth work,			
	work, parenthood and			family and social services,			
	of youth participation			counselling, education and			
				integration services			
7.	Overview of youth and	Network Plan	1.	Scientific: youth and	2009	n.a.	All participants
	transition researchers			transition research			
	concerned with		2.	Policy:			
	research on young						
	people's agency in						
	social change						

1. Knowledge on young people's decision making processes in transitions to adulthood under conditions of social change in Europe:

The knowledge complied in the final report consists in theoretical reflections on how young people take decisions and act, how their agency is affected by social change and how their agency at the same time contributes to social change. It is based on the comparative re-analysis of empirical findings regarding young parenthood, transitions to work of migrant and ethnic minority youth and on youth participantion. It also includes a developed version of the transition regime model applied to three themes.

This analysis has been carried out and written down in the final report by Axel Pohl, Barbara Stauber and Andreas Walther (Participant 1, IRIS Tübingen).

The final report will be used as a basis for future publications. The respective knowledge contributes to differentiating scientific debate as well as policy making and practice.

The report indicates further research needed with regard to understanding young people's agency as well as young parenthood, ethnic minority and migrant youth and youth participation.

The copyright regarding further publication lies with the authors. No further commercial and technical aspects apply.

2. Knowledge on transitions of young men and women into parenthood in Europe:

The knowledge complied in the thematic report consists in a re-analysis of empirical reserach how young people take decisions and act with regard to transitions to parenthood. It contributes to differentiating one-dimensional problematisation of early pregnancy as well as postponed parenthood. It explains how decisions develop in interaction within social contexts rather than resulting from only assessing costs and returns. It also documents variations across countries.

This analysis has been carried out and written down in the thematic report by Manuela du Bois-Reymonds (University of Leiden, Participant 2) assisted by Participants 5, 6, 7, 8, 18 (single chapters).

The final thematic report is used basis for a book publication. The respective knowledge contributes to differentiating scientific debate as well as policy making and practice, especially with regard to social and family policies.

The report indicates further research needed with regard to understanding young people's transitions to young parenthood.

It can be downloaded from the UP2YOUTH website (www.up2youth.org/download). The copyright regarding further publication lies with the authors. No further commercial and technical aspects apply.

3. Knowledge on school-to-work transitions of migrant and ethnic minority youth in Europe:

The knowledge complied in the thematic report consists in a re-analysis of empirical reserach how young people with a migrant or ethnic minority background take decisions and act with regard to transitions to work. It contributes to differentiating one-dimensional problematisation of early school leaving or youth unemployment. It contributes to a wider concept of integration than mere assimilation of minorities. It also documents variations across countries.

This analysis has been carried out and written down in the thematic report by Sven Moerch, Torben Bechmann Jensen, Brian Jensen and Marlene Stokholm (University of Copenhagen, Participant 4) and Axel Pohl (IRIS Tübingen, Participant 1) assisted by Participants 12, 14, 15, 16 and 17 (single chapters).

The knowledge contributes to differentiating scientific debate as well as policy making and practice, especially with regard to education, labour market and integration policies.

The report indicates further research needed with regard to understanding ethnic minority and migrant youth's transitions to the labour market.

It can be downloaded from the UP2YOUTH website (www.up2youth.org/download). The copyright regarding further publication lies with the authors. No further commercial and technical aspects apply.

4. Knowledge on youth participation in Europe:

The knowledge complied in the thematic report consists in a re-analysis of empirical research of changes in young people's social, political and civic participation. It contributes to differentiating a view of young people as politically apathetic and unengaged but sheds light into new ways of engagement such as in youth cultures. It also reflects on the contradictory relationship between learning and participation, especially in school. It also documents variations across countries.

This analysis has been carried out and written down in the thematic report by Patricia Loncle and Virginie Muniglia (EHESP Rennes, Participant 3) assisted by Participants 1, 9, 10, 11 and 13 (single chapters).

The knowledge contributes to differentiating scientific debate as well as policy making and practice, especially with regard to youth policy and youth work.

The report indicates further research needed with regard to understanding young people's engagement and participation.

5. Syllabus for teaching the knowledge (1-4) to higher education students

The Higher Education Model has been developed as a proposal for using the knowledge generated in UP2YOUTH in teaching in higher education, especially in disciplines concerned with youth and transition issues such as Education, Sociology, Political Science, Psychology and Social Work. It includes a list of recommended reading, it advises how to use UP2YOUTH reports and makes suggestions with regard to didactic teaching methods.

The Module has been developed by Participants 2 (University of Leiden) and 17 (University of Helsinki).

The module has been developed oin a way which allows adapting it to different disciplines, levels, courses and other teaching contexts.

It can be downloaded from the UP2YOUTH website (www.up2youth.org/download) and modified with regard to own needs. The copyright regarding further publication lies with the authors. No further commercial and technical aspects apply.

6. Collection of annotated practice examples addressing young people in transitions to work, parenthood and of youth participation

The collection of current practice provides an overview over ways and measures addressing young people in transition to parenthood and work as well as enhancing young people's participation. It is not a list of ,good practice' but has been annotated by UP2YOUTH researchers from an agency perspective. It is introduced by quality criteria of youth policies.

It helps to inform policy makers and practicioners on implications and preconditions in empowering young peoplee's agency in transitions to parenthod, work and citizenship.

The collection has been coordinated by Participant 1 (IRIS Tübingen) while all other participants contributed annotated practice examples.

The collection is accessible through a database on the UP2YOUTH website www.up2youth.org.

The copyright regarding further publication lies with the authors. No further commercial and technical aspects apply.

7. Overview of youth and transition researchers concerned with research on young people's agency in social change

The network plan provides an overview over researchers across Europe concerned with youth and agency, young parenthood, migrant and ethnic minority youth and youth participation. It represents a selection by the UP2YOUTH consortium according to their research in the thematic working process.

The network has been coordinated by Participant 1 and all participants have contributed.

The network plan is accessible on the UP2YOUTH website www.up2youth.org. The copyright regarding further publication lies with the authors. No further commercial and technical aspects apply.

Section 2 – Dissemination of knowledge

Overview table

Planned/actual Dates	Туре	Relevant detail	Type of audience	Countries addressed	Size of audience	Partner responsible /involved
Events						
5 - 6 March 2009	Event	UP2YOUTH Policy Seminar held in Brussels	policy- makers, practitioners and researchers	all	66	Part. 1
1- 4 November 2007	Event	UP2YOUTH Thematic workshop in Lisbon	European researchers	all	63	Part. 1
19-22 October 2006	Event	UP2YOUTH Thematic workshop in Valencia	policy makers and practitioners	all	58	Part. 1
Online						
	Online	Project web-site: http://www.up2youth.org/	General public	all	300 unique visitors per day 15.000 page views per month	Part. 1
	Online	The project's Online Glossary on Youth Research at http://www.up2youth.org/content/category/7/23/40/ has bee	n			

Planned/actual Dates	Туре	Relevant detail	Type of audience	Countries addressed	Size of audience	Partner responsible /involved
		adopted by the European Commission's joint Youth Partnership with the Council of Europe for its European Knowledge Center on Youth Policy's website as one of three online references: http://www.youth-partnership.net/youth-partnership/glossaries_others				
4 March 2009	Online	UP2YOUTH Press release	General public	all	unknown	Part. 1
Newslette	ers	Newsletter dowload: http://www.up2youth.org/downloads/task,cat_view/gid,44/				
November 2006	Newslett er	"Young People and Social Change: a double agency perspective"	policy- makers, practitioner s, researchers	all	150	Part. 1
June 2007	Newslett er	"Family – Citizenship – Work: Young people's answers to societal challenges: heard or neglected?"	policy- makers, practitioner s, researchers	all	150	Part. 1
February 2008	Newslett er	"Doing it differently: agency in transitions to parenthood, employment and citizenship"	policy- makers, practitioner s, researchers	all	150	Part. 1
September 2008	Newslett er	"Young adults doing family"	policy- makers, practitioner s,	all	150	Part. 1

Planned/actual Dates	Туре	Relevant detail	Type of audience	Countries addressed	Size of audience	Partner responsible /involved
			researchers			
February 2009	Newslett er	"Young people's transitions to work in migration societies"	policy- makers, practitioner s, researchers	all	150	Part. 1
March 2009	Newslett er	"Young people's partticipation as agency in social change"	policy- makers, practitioner s, researchers	all	150	Part. 1
Teachin	g					
June 2009	Teaching	The Intensive Study Programme for higher education students in education, sociology, psychology and political science on 'Youth – actor of social change' organised jointly by five European Universities and submitted to the ERASMUS-programme has been approved and held in Tuebingen during two weeks in June 2009.	Higher education	all	23	Part. 1, Part. 3, Part. 8, Part. 9
Oct 2008- Feb 2009	Teaching	University course on 'research on transitions into parenthood in an international perspective' (for Master and Diploma Educational Science), University of Tuebingen and Technical University of Dresden.	Higher education	D	30	Part. 1, Part. 7
Oct 2008- Feb 2009	Teaching	University course for students in social pedagogy was held on 'young parenthood and youth transitions' at the University of Plovdiv and at the University of Innsbruck.	Higher education	BG A	20 25	Part. 6, Part.10
Sep-Dec 2008	Teaching	University course for students in political sciences was held on 'youth participation and state youth policy' at the University of St. Cyril and Method in Trnava.	Higher education	SK	15	Part. 11
Jan-Mar 2009	Teaching	University course on 'youth unemployment and transition	Higher	FI	30	Part. 17

Planned/actual Dates	Туре	Relevant detail	Type of audience	Countries addressed	Size of audience	Partner responsible /involved
		processes'. Internation seminar on social work, evaluation and good practices. The Institute for Welfare and Health at the University of Helsinki, 2009.	education			
Mar-May 2009	Teaching	University course on 'youth unemployment and marginalisation'. International course on welfare and disadvantages at University of Helsinki, 2009.	Higher education	FI	20	Part. 17
Mar 2009	Teaching	Invited seminar: 'being young and becoming parent'. Held by Sveva Magaraggia in the course on "Youth Culture", prof. I. Camozzi, University of Milan-Bicocca, dept. Of Sociology and Social Research, 2009.	Higher education	I	40	Part. 5
Feb-Apr 2009	Teaching	Lecture on 'youth work' at the National School for Public Health, Rennes, 2008.	Higher education	F	50	Part. 3
Presentations						
Feb 2008	Presentation	Three members of UP2YOUTH have been invited to a hearing of the federal Youth Curatorship, an advisory board of the German Federal government 'Towards a coherent youth policy: present tasks and future Challenges' Berlin, February 2008: - Bendit, René: 'Growing up in public responsibility: Youth Policies in Europe and European Youth Policy' - Stauber, Barbara: 'Transitions to parenthood under a gender-perspective: (inter-)national findings and consequences for German youth policy' - Skrobanek, Jan: 'Problem Youth or potential? Life situations and educational processes of young 'disadvantaged' people in their transitions from school to work'	Policy makers	D	45	Part. 1, Part. 14,
June 2007	Presentat ion	Contribution to the National Research Seminar of Romania organized by ANSIT, held 2007 in Sibiu/Romania. Results	Researchers	ROM	100	Part. 16

Planned/actual Dates	Туре	Relevant detail	Type of audience	Countries addressed	Size of audience	Partner responsible /involved
		edited as Mitulescu, Sorin (coord), "Studii in domeniul tineretului" ("Youth Studies"), Editura Didactica si Pedagogica. Bucharest, 2007.				
Sep 2008	Presentat ion	Cuconato, Morena & Lenzi, Gabriele: What kind of participation for what kind of youth? Seminar of the Zancan foundation. Malosco, September 2008.	Practitioners, policy makers, researchers	I	250	Part. 13
Mar 09	Presentat ion	Cuconato, Morena & Walther, Andreas: Young people as citizens in the making: ambivalences and ambiguities of participation.	Researchers	Inter- national	250	Part. 13, Part. 1
		Ferreira, Vitor & Pohl, Axel: Agency and innovative spaces in transitions to work among young people with an "ethnic" minority or migrant background.				Part. 12 Pat. 5
		Magaraggia, Sveva: "Essere giovani e diventare genitori. Mutamenti nella transizione all'età adulta e 'nuova genitorialità" (Being Young and Becoming Parent. Changes in the Transition to Adulthood and 'New Parenthood').				
		Forlí, March 2009. 4th International Conference Young People & Societies in Europe and around the Mediterranean. Paper download: http://www.giovaniesocieta.unibo.it/paper/9b/cuconato.pdf				
Apr 2007	Presentat ion	Du Bois-Reymond, Manuela; Moerch, Sven & Walther, Andreas represented the project at the international conference 'transitions from school to work' organised by the Jacobs Foundation at Marbach Castle, April 2007.	Researchers	Internatio nal	100	Part. 2, Part. 4, Part. 1
Sep 2008	Presentat ion	Feixa, Carles & Leccardi, Carmen: On generations. Paper presented at the First ISA Forum of Sociology, Sociological Research and Public Debate. Barcelona, September 2008.	researcher	Internatio nal	200	Part. 5
June 2008	Presentat	Jobst, Solvejg & Skrobanek, Jan: Devaluation of Cultural	researcher	CZ	40	Part. 14

Planned/actual Dates	Туре	Relevant detail	Type of audience	Countries addressed	Size of audience	Partner responsible /involved
	ion	Capital. A Comparison between Pierre Bourdieu and Paul Willis. University of Prague, June 2008.				
Nov 2008	Presentat ion	Julkunen, Ilse: Youth transition from school to work, Seminar arranged by the Nordic Council of Ministers. Lund, November 2008.	Researchers, Policy makers	DK, FI, NO, S	50	Part. 17
Mar 2009	Presentat ion	Julkunen, Ilse: Youth unemployment and transition processes. International seminar on social work, evaluation and good practices. Seminar arranged by the Institute for Welfare and Health. Helsinki, March 2009.	Practitioners	FI	30	Part. 17
Feb 2008	Presentat ion	Kovacheva, Siyka & Manolova, Polina: 'The Problematic Transition to Parenthood of Young People in Bulgaria', paper for the Conference on Balkan Youth. Ljublana, February 2008.	researchers	BG	100	Part. 6
Sep 2008	Presentat ion	Kuhar, Metka: Exploring cultures of postponement - the transformation of young motherhood and the re-generation of gender in post-communism. Paper presented at the First ISA Forum of Sociology, Sociological Research and Public Debate. Barcelona, September 2008.	researchers	Internatio nal	120	Part. 8
Nov 2008	Presentat ion	Leahy, Pat: Presentation of research findings and implications for practice made to the staff of Youth Work Ireland. Cork, November 2008.	Practitioners	IE	40	Part. 9
Sep 2008	Presentat	Leccardi, Carmen: "Widersprüchliche Zeiten: Beschleunigung und Verlangsamung in Biographien junger Frauen und Männer" (Contradictory times: acceleration and deceleration in biographies of young men and women). Presentation at the seminar "Zeitgewinn und Zeitverlust. Folgen und Grenzen der Beschleunigung in der spaeten Moderne". University of Hamburg, September 2008.	researchers	D	60	Part. 5
Apr 2009	Presentat	Leccardi, Carmen: "Les jeunes face au temps social" (Young	researchers	F	80	Part. 5

Planned/actual Dates	Туре	Relevant detail	Type of audience	Countries addressed	Size of audience	Partner responsible /involved
	ion	People Facing Social Time), Laboratoire d'Economie ed de Sociologie du Travail LEST, CNR. University of Aix en Provence, April 2009.				
Nov 2008	Presentat ion	Loncle, Patricia presented the project objectives and interim outcomes at a French seminar on European projects in Rennes.	researchers	F	35	Part. 3
Nov 2008	Presentat ion	Machacek, Ladislav: Political Participation of Youth in Europe and Slovakia. Conference on Youth as actor of social changes. Congress centre of Slovak Academy of Science in Smolenice, November 2008.	Practitioners, policy makers, researchers	SK	70	Part. 11
Jan 2009	Presentat ion	Machacek, Ladislav: Changes in the Relation between Politics and Research on Youth in Slovakia. The 2nd Midterm Conference of the Research Network "Youth & Generation" (RN 30) of ESA in co-operation with Estonian Youth Institute. Youth and Youth Sociology in Europe. Estonia, January 2009.	researchers	Internatio nal	60	Part. 11
Sep 2007	Presentat ion	Machacek, Ladislav: Participation of young people on school's self-government. 8th conference of ESA .Glasgow, September 2007.	researchers	Internatio nal	55	Part. 11
July 2009	Presentation	Magaraggia, Sveva: "Essere giovani e diventare genitori. Mutamenti nella transizione all'età adulta e 'nuova genitorialità" (Being Young and Becoming Parent. Changes in the Transition to Adulthood and 'New Parenthood'). Forlí, March 2009. 4th International Conference Young People & Societies in Europe and around the Mediterranean. Paper download: http://www.giovaniesocieta.unibo.it/paper/10b/magaraggia.pdf	researchers	UK	60	Part. 5
July 2009	Presentat ion	Magaraggia, Sveva & Cuzzocrea, Valentina: Blurred Transitions: Revisiting the Significance of Work and Parenthood for Young Adults in Italy. 1st Global Conference "Times of our Lives: Growing Up, Growing Old". Mansfield College, Oxford (UK),	researchers	Internatio nal	60	Part. 5

Planned/actual Dates	Туре	Relevant detail	Type of audience	Countries addressed	Size of audience	Partner responsible /involved
		July 2009.				
Nov 2008	Presentat ion	Manolova, Polina: Forms of Political Participation of Young People in Bulgaria. Paper presented at the conference of the Union of Bulgarian Scientists. Plovdiv, November 2008.	researchers	BG	80	Part. 6
Oct 2008	Presentat ion	Mørch, Sven & Andersen, Helle: Ethnic youth in front. Ethnic minority youth as agents between family and individualisation. Paper for the Generations in Flux Conference. Helsinki, October 2008.	researchers	DK	120	Part. 4
June 2008	Presentat ion	Mørch, Sven; Bechmann Jensen, Torben; Stokholm, Marlene & Hansen, Brian: European ethnic minority youth. Or the development of bonds and communities in the life of 'the new youth' in Europe. Paper presented at the Nyris10 conference. Lillehammer, June 2008.	researchers	Internatio nal	250	Part. 4
Sep 2008	Presentat ion	Skrobanek, Jan: Germany on Migration. Pathways, Situation and New Trends. Institute of Socio-Political Research of Russian Academy of Sciences. Moscow, September 2008.	researchers	RU	90	Part. 14
Nov 2008	Presentat ion	Stauber, Barbara: Transition to Adulthood in Europe. Presentation at the International Research Group 'Transitions to Adulthood for Young People Leaving Public Care'. University of Hildesheim, November 2008.	researchers	Internatio nal	30	Part. 1
Dec 2006	Presentat ion	José Machado Pais: Young People, Citizenship and Leisure. Presentation at the International Youth Researcher Meeting, organized by the Federal Ministry of Social Security, Generations and Consumer Protection. Vienna, December 2006.	researchers	D	150	Part. 12
Sep 2007	Presentat ion	José Machado Pais: "Sociologia da juventude: questões teórico- metodológicas e desafios sosbre as pesquisas empíricas com jovens". Faculty of Public Health, University of S. Paulo	researchers	Internatio nal	40	Part. 12

Planned/actual Dates	Туре	Relevant detail	Type of audience	Countries addressed	Size of audience	Partner responsible /involved
		(Brazil), September 2007.				
Feb 2009	Presentat ion	Ule, Mirjana: The youth in the area of former Yugoslavia inbetween two modernizations. Paper for the Conference on Balkan Youth. Ljublana, February 2009.	researchers	SI, HR, SR, KO, BS, MZ	80	Part. 8
June 2008	Presentat ion	Waechter, Natalia & Blum, Johanna: Educational and occupational decisions of migrant youth: The impact of social capital. Paper presented at NYRIS 10, Nordic Youth Research Conference. Lillehammer University College, June 2008.	researchers	Internatio nal	250	Part. 10
June 2008	Presentat ion	Waechter, Natalia: Der Einstieg in die Arbeitswelt und das Berufsleben von jugendlichen MigrantInnen (Transition into the labor market and the occupational life of young people with migration background). Presentation at the Symposium "Soziale und politische Partizipation von Jugendlichen". Vienna, VHS Ottakring, June 2008.	Practitioners, policy makers, researchers	A	60	Part. 10
May 2008	Presentat	Waechter, Natalia: Jugendliche Migrantinnen – im Bildungssystem und am Arbeitsmarkt (Girls with migration background – in the education system and the labor market). Presentation at the Symposium "Mittendrin und trotzdem draußen – Frauen: Migration und Arbeitsmarkt. Analyse, Lösungsansätze, Best Practice". Linz, Wissensturm der Stadt Linz, May 2008.	Practitioners, policy makers	A	40	Part. 10
Oct 2008	Presentat ion	Walther, Andreas: De-standardisation of youth transitions: challenges for youth work. Reflections from a biographical and comparative perspective. Vortrag beim 4. Estonian Youth Work Forum, Tallinn, 2122. October 2008.	Practitioners	EE	120	Part. 1
Publication						
2008	Publicatio	Bendit, R., 'Integrationsstrategien für jugendliche MigrantInnen	General	D		Part. 14

Planned/actual Dates	Туре	Relevant detail	Type of audience	Countries addressed	Size of audience	Partner responsible /involved
	n	und Angehörige ethnischer Minderheiten in den EU- Mitgliedstaaten' in Bingel/Nordmann/Münchmeier (ed.), Die Gesellschaft und ihre Jugend. Strukturbedingungen jugendlicher Lebenslagen, Barbara Budrich, Opladen & Farmington Hills, 2008.	public			
2008	Publicatio n	Bendit, R., Hahn-Bleibtreu, M., Youth and the future. Youth transitions. Processes of social inclusion and patterns of vulnerability in a globalised world, Barbara Budrich, Opladen, 2008.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 14
2008	Publicatio n	Bendit, R., Rink, B., 'Youth Policy in Eu countries. What does politics do for young people in Europe?' in DJI (ed.), DJI-Bulletin, Youth in Europe. Special English edition 2008, 2008, pp. 18-23.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 14
2008	Publicatio n	Braun, F., Reißig B.; Skrobanek, J., 'Jugendarbeitslosigkeit und Benachteiligtenförderung' in Tippelt/Schmidt (ed.), Handbuch Übergangsforschung, VS-Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften, Wiesbaden, 2008.	General public	D		Part. 14
2009	Publicatio n	Burgess, P., Leahy, P., 'Youth – Actor of Social Change. Civic participation as the challenge of becoming an active citizen', College Research Journal 2009.	General public	IE		Part. 9
2009	Publicatio n	du Bois-Reymond, M., 'Models of Navigation and Life Management' in Furlong (ed.), Handbook on Youth and Young Adulthood, Routledge Tayler & Francis Group, 2009, pp. 31-38.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 2
2009	Publicatio n	du Bois-Reymond, M., 'Integrated Transition Policies for European Young Adults. Contradictions and Solutions' in Silbereisen/Schoon (ed.), Transition from School to Work, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2009, pp. (in press).	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 2
2009	Publicatio n	du Bois-Reymond, M., 'Young Parenthood in Six European countries' in Kovacheva (ed.), Sociological Problems. Special	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 2

Planned/actual Dates	Туре	Relevant detail	Type of audience	Countries addressed	Size of audience	Partner responsible /involved
		Issue Work-Life Dilemmas: Changes in Work and Family Life in the Enlarged Europe, Institute of Sociology, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Sofia, 2009, pp. 158-173.				
2009	Publicatio n	du Bois-Reymond, M., 'Young Parenthood in the Netherlands', YOUNG vol. 3 or 4, 2009, pp. (in press).	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 2
2009	Publicatio n	Jobst, S., Skrobanek, J., 'Devaluation of cultural capital. A comparison between Pierre Bourdieu und Paul Willis', <i>Orbis Scholae</i> vol. 3, 2009.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 14
2008	Publicatio n	Pais, J.M., 'Jóvenes, cludadanía y ócio' in Bendit/Hahn/Miranda (ed.), Los Jóvenes y el Futuro. Procesos de inclusión social y patrones de vulnerabilidad en un mundo globalizado, Prometeo Libros, Buenos Aires, 2008, pp. 275-298.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 12
2008	Publicatio n	Pais, J.M., 'Young people, citizenship and leisure' in Bendit/Hahn-Bleibtreu (ed.), Youth Transitions. Processes of social inclusion and patterns of vulnerability in a globalised world, Barbara Budrich, Leverkusen, 2008, pp. 227-243.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 12
2008	Publicatio n	Julkunen, I., 'A report on Transition from school to work in Finland (Övergång från skola till arbetsliv i Finland - utveckling och trender) in a Nordic report on Young people's paths from school to work. (Ungdomars väg från skola till arbetsliv)', Tema Nord vol. 584, 2008.	General public	FI		Part. 17
2009	Publicatio n	Julkunen, I., 'Youth unemployment and marginalisation' in Furlong (ed.), Handbook of Youth and Young Adulthood, Routledge International Handbooks, 2009.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 17
2008	Publicatio n	Kovacheva, S., Kabaivanov, S. & Manolova, P., 'Satisfaction with work-family balance' in Vasilev (ed.), Yearbook of the Union of Bulgarian Scientists, 2008, pp. 289-296.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 6
2008	Publicatio n	Kuhar, M., 'Vpliv vrednotnih orientacij mladih žensk na odlašanje z materinstvom v Sloveniji (The influence of value	General public	SI		Part. 8

Planned/actual Dates	Туре	Relevant detail	Type of audience	Countries addressed	Size of audience	Partner responsible /involved
		orientations of young women on child-bearing postponement in Slovenia)',V: Družba in vrednote: povzetki referatov (Society and Values-Paper Abstracts) 2008.				
2009	Publicatio n	Leahy, P., 'Youth Work; the European Dimension' in Burgess/Hermann (ed.), <i>Youth and Community Work. A Course Reader</i> , Rozenberg Press, 2009.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 9
2008	Publicatio n	Leccardi, C., 'Les ambivalences de la mise en couple en Italie. Nouvelles tendences et échos du passé (Ambivalences in the construction of Italian couple. New tendencies and echoes from the past)' in Cavalli/Cicchelli/Galland (ed.), <i>Deux pays, deux jeunesses? La condition Juvénile en France et en Italie (Two countries, two youths? Being young in France and Italy)</i> , Presses Universitaires de Rennes, Rennes, 2008, pp. 69-76.	General public	F		Part. 5
2008	Publicatio n	Leccardi, C., 'New biographies in the risk society? About future and planning', <i>Twenty-First Century Society: Journal of the Academy of Social Sciences</i> vol. 3, Issue 2, 2008, pp. 119-129.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 5
2006	Publicatio n	Leccardi, C., Ruspini, E., A new Youth? Young People, Generations and Family Life, Ashgate, Aldershot, 2006.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 5
2008	Publicatio n	Loncle, P., Pourquoi faire participer les jeunes? expériences locales en Europe, L'Harmattan, Paris, 2008.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 3
2008	Publicatio n	Macháček, L., 'Student school councils: an Impulse for non-formal education for Democracy in Slovakia', <i>Kultura i Edukacja</i> vol. 4, 2006, pp. 36-45.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 11
2008	Publicatio n	Macháček, L., 'Student school councils: an Impulse for non- formal education for Democracy in Slovakia', <i>Kultura i Edukacja</i> vol. 4, 2006, pp. 36-45.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 11
2008	Publicatio n	Macháček, L., Ako sa.učíme. demokracii na škole?, Iuventa, Bratislava, 2008.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 11
2008	Publicatio	Macháček, L., Občiansky deficit mládeže, Iuventa, Bratislava,	General	Internatio		Part. 11

Planned/actual Dates	Type	Relevant detail	Type of audience	Countries addressed	Size of audience	Partner responsible /involved
	n	2008.	public	nal		
	Publicatio	Macháček, L., 'Political Polarisation of Students in	General	Internatio		Part. 11
	n	Slovakia', Forum 21, European Journal on Child and Youth Research vol. 1, 2008.	public	nal		
2008	Publicatio	Macháček, L., Úvod do politickej sociológie mládeže	General	Internatio		Part. 11
	n	(Introduction to political youth sociology), UCM, Trnava, 2008.	public	nal		
2008	Publicatio	Monolova, P., 'Youth Political Participation in Bulgaria', Plovdiv	General	Internatio		Part. 6
	n	University Newsletter vol. 9, 2008, pp. 16-17.	public	nal		
2007	Publicatio n	Mørch, S., Bechmann Jensen, T., Stokholm, M. & Hansen, B., 'Integrationskoefficienten. Om komparativ metode, krav og udfordringer i inter-europaesik forskning', <i>Nordiske Udkast</i> vol. 1, 2007.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 4
2008	Publicatio n	Mørch, S., Bechmann Jensen, T., Stokholm, M. & Hansen, B., 'New Youth and Ethnic minorities in Europe', <i>European Journal on Child and Youth Research</i> 2008.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 4
2008	Publicatio n	Pais, J.M., 'Young people, citizenship and leisure' in Bendit/Hahn-Bleibtreu (ed.), <i>Youth Transitions. Processes of social inclusion and patterns of vulnerability in a globalised world</i> , Barbara Budrich, Leverkusen, 2008, pp. 227-243.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 12
2008	Publicatio n	Pohl, A., Walther, A., 'Activating the disadvantaged. Variations in addressing youth transitions across Europe', <i>International Journal for Lifelong Education</i> vol. 6, No. 3, 2007, pp. 533-553. Rener, T., Švab A., Humer; Žakelj; Vezovnik, <i>Novo očetovstvo v Sloveniji (New Fatherhood in Slovenia)</i> , Faculty for Social Sciences, Ljubljana, 2008.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 1
2008	Publicatio n	Rener, T., Švab A., Humer; Žakelj; Vezovnik, <i>Novo očetovstvo v Sloveniji (New Fatherhood in Slovenia)</i> , Faculty for Social Sciences, Ljubljana, 2008.	General public	SI		Part. 1

Planned/actual Dates	Туре	Relevant detail	Type of audience	Countries addressed	Size of audience	Partner responsible /involved
2007	Publicatio n	Siurala, L., 'A European framework for youth policy: What is necessary and what has already been done?', <i>Diskurs Kindheits</i> -	General public	Internatio nal		Advisory board
2008	Publicatio n	Jugendforschung vol. 2, No. 4, 2007, pp. 377-391. Skrobanek, J., 'Junge Migrantinnen und Migranten auf dem Weg in die Ausbildung. Ungleiche Platzierung durch Diskriminierung?', Soziale Probleme vol. 18, 2008, pp. 113-138.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 14
2009	Publicatio n	Skrobanek, J., 'Perceived Discrimination, Ethnic Identity and the (Re)Ethnicisation', <i>Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies</i> 2009.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 14
2009	Publicatio n	Skrobanek, J., Jobst, S., <i>Ethnic Differentiation or Self- Exclusion: On young Turks' and Repatriates Dealing with Experiences of Discrimination</i> , Current Sociology, 2009.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 14
2008	Publicatio n	Skrobanek, J., Reißig, B. & Gaupp, N., 'New Risks and New Opportunities in School-to-Work Transition: The Transformation of the German Apprenticeship System' in Hindman (ed.), <i>Child Labour Atlas: a reference encyclopedia</i> , M.E. Sharp, 2008.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 14
2008	Publicatio n	Spannring, R., Ogris, G. & Gaiser, W., Youth and Political Participation in Europe. Results of the Comparative Study EUYOUPART, Barbara Budrich, Opladen, 2008.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 10
2007	Publicatio n	Stauber, B., 'Motivation in transition', <i>Young</i> vol. 15, 2007, pp. 31-47.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 1
2007	Publicatio n	Ule, M., 'Mladi in družbene spremembe. (Young People and social changes)', <i>IB revija</i> vol. 41/2, 2007, pp. 62-69.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 8
2008	Publicatio n	Ule, M., Za vedno mladi? Socialna psihologija odraš č anja. (Forever Young? Social Psychology of growing up), FDV publisher, Ljubljana, 2008.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 8
2008	Publicatio n	Ule, M., Kuhar, M., 'Orientations of young adults in Slovenia toward the family formation', <i>Young</i> vol. 16, 2008, pp. 153-183.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 8

Planned/actual Dates	Туре	Relevant detail	Type of audience	Countries addressed	Size of audience	Partner responsible /involved
2008	Publicatio n	Ule, M., Kuhar, M., 'Orientations of young adults in Slovenia toward the family formation', <i>Young</i> vol. 16, No. 2, 2008, pp. 153-183.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 8
2008	Publicatio n	Waechter, N., 'Aktuelle Jugendkulturen in Theorie und Praxis. Squatter, Blogger, Gabbas, Boarder, Lookalikes ("Current youth cultures in theory and practice. Squatters, Bloggers, Gabbas, Boarders, Lookalikes.")' in Bogner/Stipsits (ed.), <i>Jugend im Fokus. Pädagogische Beiträge zur Vergewisserung einer Generation</i> , Löcker, Wien, 2008, pp. 83-105.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 10
2008	Publicatio n	Waechter, N., 'Jugend und Politik? Politische Partizipation in jugendkulturellen Szenen Europas. ("Youth and Politics? Political participation in youth cultural scenes in Europe")' in Poier/Konschegg/Spannring (ed.), <i>Jugend und soziale Gerechtigkeit. Schriftenreihe des DrKarl-Kummer-Instituts Band 5</i> , Leykam, Graz, 2008, pp. 47-52.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 10
2006	Publicatio n	Waechter, N., 'Man kann auch etwas im Kleinen bewegen" Jugendliches Engagement in Gesellschaft und Politik. ("You can also move things on a small scale". Engagement of youth in society and politics)' in Aschauer-Smolik/Neunherz (ed.), Dagegenhalten. Zivilcourage und widerständisches Verhalten, StudienVerlag, Innsbruck, Wien, Bozen, 2006, pp. 141-168.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 10
2006	Publicatio n	Waechter, N., 'Wunderbare Jahre? Jugendkultur in Wien. Geschichte und Gegenwart. (Wonder Years? Youth culture in Vienna. History and Presence)' in Ehalt (ed.), <i>Enzyklopädie des Wiener Wissens, Band IV</i> , Bibliothek der Provinz, Weitra, 2006.	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 10
2007	Publicatio n	Waechter, N., Blum, J. & Scheibelhofer, P., 'Jugendliche MigrantInnen: Die Rolle von Sozialkapital bei Bildungs- und Berufsentscheidungen. (Young people with migration background. The role of social capital in educational and	General public	Internatio nal		Part. 10

Planned/actual Dates	Туре	Relevant detail	Type of audience	Countries addressed	Size of audience	Partner responsible /involved
		occupational decision making)' in Fassmann (ed.), 2.				
		Österreichischer Migrations- und Integrationsbericht. 2001 –				
		2006, Drava, Wien, 2007, pp. 420-426.				
2009	Publicatio	Waechter, N., Blum, J. & Scheibelhofer, P., 'Social capital as	General	Internatio		Part. 10
	n	key for successful school-work transitions? Analyzing migrant	public	nal		
		youths' trajectories and social networks' in Brooks (ed.),				
		Transitions from Education to Work: New Perspectives from				
		Europe and Beyond, Palgrave, Basingstoke, 2009, pp. (in press).				
2006	Publicatio	Walther, A., du Bois-Reymond, M. & Biggart, A., Participation	General	Internatio		Part. 1, Part.
	n	in Transition? Motivation of young adults in Europe for working	public	nal		2, Part. 18
		and learning, Peter Lang, Frankfurt am Main, 2006.				

Section 3 - further publishable results (planned publications):

- Pohl, A.; Stauber, B.; Walther, A. (eds.) (2010): Jugendliche als Akteure sozialen Wandels (youth actors of social change). Weinheim, München: Juventa
- Du Bois-Reymond, M.; Leccardi, M.; Stauber, B. (eds.) (2010): Transitions into young parenthood. Publisher: not decided yet.
- Loncle, P.; Spannring, R.; Walther, A. (eds.) (2010): Beyond the discourses. The implementation of youth participation in Europe. Publisher: to be decided."

Further it is planned to publish an edited volume on the basis oft he Euroopean policy seminar held 2009 in Brussels. No concrete decisions and steps have been taken in this regard yet.